

Distribution (7000 6



Digitized by Google

Digitized by Google

THREE LETTERS

www.libtool.com.cn

M. Hoxenis, -1

OF PHILOXENUS

BISHOP OF MABBOGH (485-519):

BEING THE LETTER TO THE MONKS,
THE FIRST LETTER TO THE MONKS OF BETH-GAUGAL,
AND THE LETTER TO EMPEROR ZENO;

EDITED

FROM SYRIAC MANUSCRIPTS IN THE VATICAN LIBRARY, WITH AN ENGLISH TRANSLATION, AN INTRODUCTION TO THE LIFE, WORKS, AND DOCTRINES OF PHILOXENUS, A THEOLOGICAL GLOSSARY, AND AN APPENDIX OF BIBLE QUOTATIONS;

BY

ARTHUR ADOLPHE VASCHALDE.

Member of the Society of the Priests of St. Basil, Licentiate of Theology.

A DISSERTATION PRESENTED TO THE FACULTY OF PHILOSOPHY

OF THE CATHOLIC UNIVERSITY OF AMERICA

FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY.

ROMA

TIPOGRAFIA DELLA R. ACCADEMIA DEI LINCEI PROPRIETA DEL CAV. V. SALVIUCCI

v 2

1902

11

TO THE VERY REVEREND

NOEL DVRAND

SIXTH SVPERIOR GENERAL

OF THE SOCIETY OF THE PRIESTS

OF SAINT BASIL

BIOGRAPHY

The author of this dissertation, ARTHUR ADOLPHE VASCHALDE was born March 10, 1871, at Saint-Pons, department of Ardèche, France. After a preparatory training in the public school of his native town, he followed the academic courses at St. Barbe's College, Annonay, in the same department. Coming to Canada in 1888, he took up the study of Theology at Assumption College, Sandwich. There in 1892 he entered the Society of the Priests of Saint Basil. In the fall of 1893 he matriculated at the Catholic University of America, where he pursued the courses of Holy Scripture under Prof. C. P. Grannan, and of Semitic Languages under Prof. H. Hyvernat, and he received the degree of Licentiate of Theology in 1895. After teaching Mental Philosophy at Sandwich for five years, he returned to the University in 1900, to continue the study of Semitic Languages under Prof. H. Hyvernat and of Philosophy under Prof. E. A. Pace.

PREFACE

With the heresy known as Jacobite Monophysitism are associated some of the greatest names in Syriac history and literature, such as Philoxenus (Aksenāvā) of Mabbôgh (+ 523), Severus of Antioch (+ 537), John of Tella (+ 538), Jacob of Serugh (+ 521), Jacob Baradaeus (+ 578), and many others. Although this heresy was named after Jacob Baradaeus, the founder of the Jacobite Church, its origin can be traced to the reaction which, in the latter half of the fifth century, set in against the errors of Nestorius and Eutyches, and against the definition of the Council of Chalcedon respecting the existence of the two natures in Christ. Philoxenus was one of the foremost leaders in that great movement and, beyond question, the ablest champion of the new faith. The extracts from his works in the Bibliotheca Orientalis of Assemani and the recent publications of Guidi, Frothingham and Budge, leave no doubt on this point. Yet, outside of Budge's chapter on the creed of Philoxenus, but little has been written on the doctrines of the famous bishop of Mabbôgh, and, in our manuals of Church history and of dogmatic Theology, all the information which we possess about the life and teachings of Philoxenus is derived almost exclusively from Greek writers of the Byzantine period.

Such information, however, ought to be supplemented by a comparison with the Syriac sources; for it is but fair to let the original documents speak for themselves. Hence, as a small contribution to the literature of this interesting subject, we give here for the first time the Syriac text and the English translation of three important letters of Philoxenus: the Letter to the Monks, the first Letter to the Monks of Beth-Gaugal, and the Letter to Emperor Zeno. It has been thought that these documents, if published and translated in their entirety and taken in connection with what has already been done, would throw more light on the doctrines of Philoxenus than could be obtained heretofore. To emphasize this method, an appendix has been added giving a concordance of the principal theological terms and expressions used by the author; this, we trust, will be useful to such as may wish to pursue the same course with regard to Syrian Monophysitism. In another appendix the Bible quotations, occurring in the text, have been compared with the Peshitta, following in this the laudable example of Budge in his beautiful edition of the Discourses of Philoxenus. we have added a list of the few words borrowed from the Greek, which occur in these three letters.

If circumstances permit, this work will be followed by the publication of other texts of the same author; in the meantime, this modest effort will be amply repaid, if it directs the attention of others to the necessity of studying Jacobite Monophysitism in the writings of those who are best qualified to speak for it, namely, the Syriac Monophysite writers of the fifth and sixth centuries.

It is now my pleasing duty to thank Prof. Hyvernat for the care with which he directed my Oriental studies, not only during the four years I spent in his Department, but also during the five years I was absent from the University. I am besides under obligation to him for placing at my disposal the Syriac text of these three letters which he copied himself from the Vatican Manuscripts.

I may not close without expressing my gratitude to Prof. Guidi, of Rome, and to Professors Grannan, Shahan and Pace, of this University who kindly consented to examine this dissertation before it was printed and offered many valuable suggestions.

To Prof. Guidi I am also indebted for a description of Syr. Mss. 135, 136, and 138 of the Vatican library, and also for the anonymous notice on Philoxenus which he transcribed for me from Syr. Ms. 155 of the Vatican. He had also the kindness to read the proof-sheets of this dissertation and took the trouble to correct the Syriac text on the original Manuscripts in the Vatican Library, thus ensuring, even in the apparently most trifling details of punctuation, an accuracy too often wanted in similar publications.

The Catholic University of America,

February, 1902.

A. A. VASCHALDE.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abbeloos (J. B.). De vita et scriptis Sancti Jacobi Sarugensis, Louvain (Vanlinthout), 1867.
- Abbeloos et Lamy. Gregorii Barhebraei chronicon ecclesiasticum, 3 vol., Louvain (Peeters), 1872.
- Assemani (J. S.). Bibliotheca Orientalis clementino-vaticana, t. I-III, Rome, 1719-1728.
- BARONIUS. Annales ecclesiastici, 37 vol., Bar-le-Duc, 1864-1883.
- CANGE (Du). Glossarium ad Scriptores mediae et infimae graecitatis 2 vol., Lyons, 1688.
- The Catholic University Bulletin. Washington, 1895 sqq.
- Chabot (J. B.). De S. Isaaci Ninivitae vita, scriptis et doctrina, Paris (E. Leroux), 1892.
- Denzinger (H.). Ritus Orientalium, Coptorum, Syrorum et Armenorum in administrandis sacramentis, 2 vol., Würzburg, 1863.
- Duval (R.). Histoire politique, religieuse et littéraire d'Edesse jusqu'à la première croisade, Paris (Imprimerie nationale), 1892.
- La littérature syriaque (no. 2 des anciennes littératures chrétiennes),
 2° éd., Paris (Lecoffre), 1900.
- FROTHINGHAM (A. L.). Stephen Bar Sudaili, the Syrian Mystic and the book of Hierotheos, Leyden (Brill), 1886.
- Gibbon (E.). The history of the decline and fall of the Roman Empire, Milman ed., 8 vol., Paris (Beaudry), 1840.
- GRAFFIN (R.). Patrologia Syriaca, vol. I, Paris (F. Didot), 1894.
- Guidi (Ignazio). La lettera di Filosseno ai monaci di Tell'Addá (Teleda), Reale accademia dei Lincei (1884-85), Rome, 1886.
- HALLIER. Untersuchungen über die Edessenische Chronik, Leipzig Hinrichs, 1892.
- HARDUIN. Acta Conciliorum, 11 vol., Paris, 1715.
- HEFELE. Conciliengeschichte nach den Quellen bearbeitet, 2d. ed., Freiburg im Breisgau (Herder), 9 vol, 1875-1890.
- HERGENRÖTHER. Histoire de l'Église, traduction de P. Bélet, 8 vol., Paris (V. Palmé), 1880.

- Journal Asiatique, Paris (E. Leroux), 9th series, t. XIV, XV, XVI.
- KRÜGER (G.). Monophysitische Streitigkeiten im Zusammenhange mit Wder Reichspolitik, Iena (Pohle), 1884.
- LABBE-MANSI. Sacrorum Conciliorum nova et amplissima collectio, 30 vol., Florence, 1759-1792.
- MARIN (Abbé). Les Moines de Constantinople depuis la fondation de la ville jusqu'à la mort de Photius, Paris (V. Lecoffre), 1897.
- MARTIN (P.). Syro-Chaldaicae Institutiones, Paris (Maisonneuve), 1873.
- MIGNE. Patrologia Graeca, vol. 67, 77, 86, 86 bis, 94, 108, 121.
- Patrologia Latina, vol. 1, 2, 41, 48, 54, 58, 68, 78.
- Neale. A History of the holy eastern Church; the patriarchate of Alexandria, 2 vol., London (J. Masters), 1847.
- Petavius. Dogmata theologica, ed. J. B. Fournials, 8 vol., Paris (L. Vivès), 1865-1867.
- LE QUIEN. Oriens Christianus, 3 vol., Paris, 1740.
- Renaudot. Historia patriarcharum alexandrinorum jacobitarum, Paris (Fournier), 1713.
- Liturgiarum Orientalium collectio, 2a ed., 2 vol., Frankfurt on the Main (J. Baer), 1847.
- La Revue Catholique de Louvain, Louvain, 1843 sqq.
- RITTER. Erdkunde im Verhältniss zur Natur und zur Geschichte des Menschen, 2d ed., 19 vol., Berlin (Reimer), 1822-1859.
- ROTHSTEIN. Die Dynastie der Lahmiden von al-Hira, Berlin Reuther n. Reichard, 1899.
- SMITH and WACE. A Dictionary of Christian Biography, 4 vol., Boston (Little, Brown & C°), 1877-1887.
- TILLEMONT. Mémoires pour servir à l'histoire ecclésiastique des six premiers siècles, 16 vol., Venise (F. Pitteri), 1732.
- Histoire des Empereurs et des autres princes remarquables qui ont régné durant les six premiers siècles de l'Église, Venise (F. Pitteri) 1732.
- VACANT. Dictionnaire de théologie catholique, Paris (Letouzey et Ané), 1901.
- WALLIS-BUDGE. -- The Discourses of Philoxenus, bishop of Mabbogh, A. D. 485-519, edited from Syriac Manuscripts of the sixth and seventh centuries in the British Museum, with an English translation. Vol. I, Syriac text; vol. II, Introduction, translation, etc. London (Asher & Co), 1894.
- WRIGHT (W. J.). Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum acquired since the year 1838, t. I-III, London, 1870-1872
- Article Syriac Literature in the Encyclopedia Britannica, 9th ed. (2d edit., a short History of Syriac Literature, London, A. Ch. Black, 1894). The Chronicle of Joshua the Stylite, Cambridge, 1882.
- Zeitschrift der Deutschen Morgenländischen Gesellschaft, Leipzig, vol. 30, 35, 53.
- ZOTENBERG (H.). Catalogue des Manuscrits Syriaques et Sabéens de la Bibliothèque Nationale, Paris (Imprimerie nationale), 1874.

CONTENTS

PART FIRST

INTRODUCTION

CHAPTER I. — THE LIFE OF PHILOXENUS.

1.	Sources	1
	Early Life of Philoxenus	3
3.	Philoxenus at Edessa	6
	His Struggle with Calandion	9
	His Appointment to Mabbogh	13
6.	His Struggle with Flavian	15
	His Exile and Death	19
	Various Judgments on Philoxenus	20
9.	CHAPTER II. — THE PUBLISHED WORKS OF PHILOXENUS. The Discourses and other Texts	25
	The Letter to Abu-Nafir	29
	The Letter concerning Stephen Bar Sudaili	33
	The Letter to the Monks of Teleda	34
	CHAPTER III. — THE DOCTRINES OF PHILOXENUS.	91
•	A) His Doctrine on the Incarnation.	
13.	General Considerations	38
	Philoxenus and Nestorius	40

15.	Heresy of Nestorius	. 41
16.	The Word Θεοτόχος	42
	Communicatio Idiomatum	44
	Union of the Natures	46
19.	Consequences of Nestorius' Theory	47
	Philoxenus and Eutyches	50
	Heresy of Eutyches	51
	Manner of Union	58
	Monotheletism	56
24.	Reality of the Body of Christ	57
	Other Consequences of the Eutychian Theory	61
	Theory of Philoxenus on the Sufferings of Christ "	66
	Summing up of the Doctrine of Philoxenus	68
	Philoxenus and Original Sin	69
	Philoxenus and the Blessed Virgin	70
	and the property of the second	
	B) His Doctrine on the Trinity.	
	•	
30.	Three Persons and one Nature	. 71
31.	Equality and Consubstantiality of the Persons	72
32.	Eternal Generation of the Son	78
33.	Procession of the Holy Ghost	74
	C) His Doctrine on the Real Presence.	
24	[Our Lord really present in the Holy Eucharist] "	76
04.	[Our nord reality present in the nory nuclearist] "	,,
	PART SECOND	
		
	CHAPTER I.	
25	Description of the Manuscripts	a. 81
00.	Description of the manuscripts	u. 01
	CITA DINDD. II	
	CHAPTER II. — INTRODUCTION TO THE THREE LETTERS.	
	А.	
96	mb. T. AA A. Ab. Manka . midle 3.4lasia	06
30.	The Letter to the Monks: Title, date, analysis	88
	В.	
97	The first Letter to the Monks of Beth-Gaugal: Title, date,	
01.	• •	87
	analysis	e i
	C.	
38	The Letter to Zeno: Title, date, analysis	90

CHAPTER III. — ENGLISH TRANSLATION. WWW.liblool.com.cn

	A.	•	
T h e	Letter to the Monks	PAG.	93
	В.		
The	first Letter to the Monks of Beth-Gaugal	n	105
	С.		
T h e	Letter to Zeno	n	118
	PART THIRD		
	SYRIAC TEXT.		
	A.		
T h e	Letter to the Monks	PAG.	127
	В.		
The	first Letter to the Monks of Beth-Gaugal .	n	146
	с.		
The	Letter to Zeno	n	163
	APPENDICES.		
I.	An anonymous Notice on Philoxenus	PAG.	175
II.	Theological Glossary	n	177
III.	Bible Quotations compared with the Peshitta and the Codex Sinaiticus.	,,	183
	Greek words occurring in the three letters	"	190



PART FIRST

INTRODUCTION.

CHAPTER I.

THE LIFE OF PHILOXENUS.

Sources.

1. The material available for a biography of Philoxenus is not very abundant. Little is known, especially of his early life. Yet he was a prominent leader in the great movement which took place in Syria in the fifth and sixth centuries against the doctrines of Nestorius and Eutyches, and against the decrees of the Council of Chalcedon, a movement which resulted in the peculiar heresy known by the name of Monophysitism in specie (1) or Jacobite Monophysitism (2).

The few facts which we possess regarding Philoxenus' career are derived from sources which may be divided into two classes: Syriac and non-Syriac. The principal non-Syriac sources consist of short passages in the works of Theodore the Reader (3),

^(*) MIGNE, Patrologia Graeca (P. G.), vol. 86, p. 216.



⁽¹⁾ HEFELE, Conciliengeschichte, vol. II, p. 564.

⁽²⁾ This heresy is still professed not only by the Jacobites of Syria, but also by the dissident Copts, Armenians, and Abyssinians (cf. Adolphe d'Avril, Documents relatifs aux Eglises d'Orient, ch. III).

Victor Tununensis (1), Evagrius (2), Theophanes (3), and Cedrenus (4). IThese writers, however, do not always present independent testimony, for some of them often merely copied their predecessors (5).

The Syriac sources are also very fragmentary. The Vatican Syriac Ms. 155 (Codex Syr. noster XVI of Assemani) contains a biographical notice on Philoxenus by an unknown author. is the document from which Assemani took the four extracts he gives in his sketch of Philoxenus' life (B. O., II, pp. 10, 13, 17, 20) (6). We publish it in extenso in Appendix I, and shall refer to it as the Anonymous Notice. It does not add much to what we already know. Scattered bits of information about Philoxenus are found here and there in Syriac authors, especially in the Letter of Simon of Beth-Arscham concerning Barsauma, bishop of Nisibis (7), in the Edessene Chronicle (8), in the so-called Chronicle of Joshua the Stylite (9), in the writings of Jacob of Edessa (10), and in the Ecclesiastical History of Bar-Hebraeus (11). The published writings of Philoxenus and the three letters which, for the first time, are given in this dissertation, supply us with a few important data, and it is probable that much valuable information might be gathered from his other works, but, unfortunately, they still remain unedited.

⁽¹⁾ MIGNE, Patrologia Latina (P. L.), vol. 68, p. 949.

⁽²⁾ MIGNE, P. G., vol. 86 bis, pp. 2657 sqq.

⁽⁸⁾ MIGNE, P. G., vol. 108, pp. 325 sqq.

⁽⁴⁾ MIGNE, P. G., vol. 121, pp. 676 sqq.

^(*) Cf. Krüger, Monophysitische Streitigkeiten im Zusammenhange mit der Reichspolitik, p. 4.

⁽e) Assemani quotes those extracts from Codex Syr. nost. XIII. This is evidently an error (cf. B. O., I, 614).

⁽¹⁾ Bibliotheca Orientalis clementino-vaticana (B. O.), I, pp. 346-358.

⁽⁸⁾ B. O., I, pp. 387-429.

^(*) Ed. W. WRIGHT, Cambridge, 1882. The name of the author of this Chronicle is unknown (cf. Duval, La Littérature Syriaque, 2d. ed., p. 188).

⁽¹⁰⁾ B. O., I, p. 475.

⁽¹¹⁾ Ed. ABBELOOS and LAMY, vol. I, pp. 183, 195.

It is not within the scope of the present chapter to discuss all the different sources which have been enumerated; but it is sufficient to show that the information which we obtain from Syriac documents and from the writings of Philoxenus himself, sometimes confirms or supplements, and sometimes corrects or contradicts the testimony derived from non-Syriac sources.

Early Life of Philoxenus.

2. We are entirely ignorant of the year of the birth of Philoxenus; but as he studied at Edessa in the time of Ibas (1), bishop of that city from 435 to 457 (2), and was still living in 522 (3), it is safe to assume that he was born in the second quarter of the fifth century.

Theodore the Reader, Evagrius, and after them, Theophanes and Cedrenus, inform us that Philoxenus was of Persian origin (4). Their testimony is confirmed by Simon of Beth-Arscham and by the writer of the anonymous notice. They give the additional information that Philoxenus was born at Tahal, a village in the province of Bēth-Garmai (5). The anonymous notice says: "Philoxenus, bishop of Mabbôgh, wise in God and illustrious by his science, is the same as Mār Aksenāyā who is famous for his writings. He was born in the village of Tahal, in the country of the Persians "(6). Nothing is known of his

⁽¹⁾ B. O., I, p. 352.

⁽²⁾ Duval, Histoire politique, religieuse et littéraire d'Edesse jusqu'à la première croisade, p. 168.

⁽³⁾ Philoxenus wrote his Letter to the Monks of Senun in 522. Cf. B. O., II, p. 20.

⁽⁴⁾ Although Philoxenus was born a subject of Persia, he may not have been of Persian blood. The Syrian Christians living in the colonies of the Persian empire were generally called Persians.

⁽⁵⁾ The country between the Tigris and the mountains of Kurdistan, south of the Lesser Zab and north of the Digials (cf. Duval, Lit. Syr., Map.).

⁽⁶⁾ See Appendix I.

parents; he had a brother named Addai who studied with him at Edessa (b).col.com.cn

In a fragment of Theodore the Reader (2), it is related that some bishops from Persia visited Philoxenus after he had been appointed to the see of Mabbôgh, and recognized in him a slave who had run away from his master and had never been baptized. This they told to Peter the Fuller who had consecrated him bishop; but Peter, caring little what ought to be done, replied that the episcopal consecration was sufficient to take the place of baptism. This accusation is also made by Theophanes (3) and Cedrenus (4), and, in modern times, is repeated by the judicious Tillemont (5) and the learned Le Quien (6).

We have no means of determining whether Philoxenus was born a slave or a free man; but there is abundant proof that he was baptized. The testimony of Theophanes and Cedrenus, and the opinion of Tillemont and Le Quien, need not be considered here, for they evidently rest on the authority of Theodore. Now Theodore gives his information on mere hearsay, and does not confirm it by any written or public document. He says: "Concerning him (Philoxenus), I shall relate in part many things which I learned from different men through diligent inquiry "(7). Evagrius does not say that Philoxenus was unbaptized, and his silence is very eloquent here, for he had received his information concerning Philoxenus from old men who had seen with their own eyes, and remembered well everything that happened in Antioch in the days of Flavian, with whom Philoxenus

⁽¹⁾ B. O., I, 353.

^(*) MIGNE, P. G., vol. 86, p. 216.

^(*) MIGNE, P. G., vol. 108, p. 328.

⁽⁴⁾ MIGNE, P. G., vol. 121, p. 676.

⁽⁵⁾ TILLEMONT, Mémoires pour servir à l'histoire ecclésiastique des six premiers siècles, vol. XVI, p. 677.

⁽⁶⁾ LE QUIEN, Oriens Christianus, vol. II. p. 928.

^{(1) «} Περὶ τούτου, ἃ πολλὰ παρὰ διαφόρων ἦχρίβωσα, ἀπὸ μέρους λέξω ». Μίσηε, P. G., vol. 86, p. 216.

was continually at war (1). Again, the monks of Palestine, in their famous letter to Alcison, bishop of Nicopolis in Hlyria, accuse Philoxenus of various crimes, but they make no allusion to the question of his baptism (2).

But, besides this negative evidence, it can be shown from Philoxenus' own writings that he had received the sacrament of baptism. In his Letter to Zeno, he says: "I was baptized, therefore, in the name of Him Who died, and I confess that He in Whose name I was baptized, died for me, and I believe that I have put on in baptism Him in Whose name and in Whose death I was baptized, according to the words of Paul. have put on spiritually in the waters (of baptism) the Spiritual Being Who became corporal, and I confess that He Who, living, experienced death in the flesh, is He Who raises (the dead) and gives life "(3). And again, in the same letter, he writes: In saying anathema to these doctrines (of Nestorius and Eutyches), I act according to the Holy Books, and adhere to the tradition of the Fathers from whom I have received the true and apostolic faith, that faith by which I have been found worthy, with all the baptized, of life, of freedom, and of adoption "(4). We have no reason then to doubt the fact of Philoxenus' baptism. Assemani is probably right when he says that the assertion of Theodore the Reader is a calumny invented by the orthodox, a ab orthodoxis in odium flagitiosissimi hominis adjectum fuisse "(5); and, as this last sentence shows, Assemani cannot be suspected of partiality towards Philoxenus.

⁽¹⁾ 1 1 1 1 Κατειλήφαμεν γαρ ένίους ἐσχατογέροντας, τοὺς, ὅσα συμβεβηχεν ἐπὶ Φλαβιανοῦ τῷ μνήμη διασώζοντας 1 1 Migne, 1 1 1 1 Migne, 1

^(*) MIGNE, ibid., p. 2657.

⁽³⁾ P. 125.

⁽⁴⁾ P. 126.

⁽⁵⁾ B. O., II, p. 12.

www.libtool.com.cn
Philoxenus at Edessa.

3. At a comparatively early age Philoxenus, accompanied by his brother Addai (1), came to the Persian school of Edessa which was then, and had been from the time of its foundation in 363, the most prominent center of intellectual and literary activity among the Syrians (2). St. Ephrem taught ten years there (363-373) (3), and in its halls were trained some of the greatest masters of Syriac literature (4). As may be inferred from the many Syriac translations from the Greek which have come down to us, the writings of the Greek Fathers (5) and the teachings of Aristotle (6) were held in high esteem by that famous school, and the influence of both on Philoxenus is plainly noticeable (7).

⁽¹⁾ B. O., I, p. 353.

⁽²⁾ Cf. Duval, Histoire d'Edesse, p. 145.

⁽⁸⁾ DUVAL, Littérature Syriaque, p. 334.

⁽⁴⁾ Isaac of Antioch, Narses, and others.

⁽⁵⁾ Duval, Littérature Syriaque, p. 308.

⁽⁶⁾ DUVAL, ibid., p. 254.

⁽⁷⁾ The influence of Aristotelian philosophy among the Syrians dates from the beginning of the fifth century, when the spread of Nestorian doctrines had made a knowledge of Greek absolutely necessary. According to Ebed-Jesu, three professors of the Persian school of Edessa, Ibas, Koumi, and Probus, translated into Syriac the works of the Interpreter (Theodore of Mopsuestia) and the writings of Aristotle (B. O., III, pars I, p. 85). It is not believed that all the works of Aristotle were translated by them. Probus translated and commented the Περὶ έρμηνείας (Duval, Lit. Syr., p. 254). He also wrote a treatise on the Prior Analytics (edited and translated by A. VAN HOONACKER, Journal Asiatique, 9th series, t. XVI, pp. 70-166). After the destruction of the Persian school of Edessa by order of Zeno in 489, the study of the philosophy of Aristotle was cultivated by both the Jacobites and the Nestorians. Among the Jacobites, we may notice Sergius of Rēš'ainā († 536), Severus Sebokht (VII c.), Jacob of Edessa († 708), and George, bishop of the Arabs († 724); among the Nestorians, Henanišo' I († 701), Mar-Abba II († 751), and especially the numerous scholars and physicians who lived at the court of the Abbassides in Baghdad during the ninth and tenth centuries. The Nestorians initiated the Arabs

It is there that he became acquainted with the patristic lore of the age, and especially with the works of Cyril of Alexandria for whom he always professed the greatest admiration. knowledge of the Fathers must have been considerable, for in his treatise - How One Person of the Holy Trinity became incarnate and suffered for us ", he quotes passages not only from SS. Ephrem and Cyril, but also from St. John Chrysostom, Eusebius of Emesa, Alexander and Theophilus of Alexandria, St. Athanasius, St. Basil, St. Gregory of Nazianzen and Atticus of Constantinople (1). It is partly from the works of those great masters that Philoxenus derived the wealth of theological terms and expressions for which his writings are remarkable. terms and expressions do not imply a servile imitation of Greek literature, for his style and vocabulary are distinctly Syriac (2); they rather account for his deep knowledge of the principal religious works of the times, and his wonderful power and skill as a controversialist.

Philosenus was influenced also by the philosophy of Aristotle. As the examination of his doctrines will show, his theological opinions reflect the tendencies of the school of Antioch, in which the teachings of the Stagyrite held sway, no less than those of the school of Alexandria which recognized Plato as its master. This is particularly true of his views on the Incarnation. Like the Alexandrian Monophysites, he admits only one nature in Christ after the union and dwells on the mysterious union of the two natures and on the necessity of faith in all

to the philosophy of Aristotle, and translated it for them from Syriac into Arabic. The Arabs proved very apt pupils. Indeed, they soon surpassed their teachers themselves, and, after having made Aristotelian philosophy their own, they introduced it to the scholars of the middle ages. Cf. Duval, Lit. Syr., pp. 253-263.

⁽¹⁾ WRIGHT, Catalogue of the Syriac Mss. in the British Museum, part II, p. 528.

⁽²⁾ I have noted the few Greek words occurring in the three letters.

questions relating to the Incarnation of the Son of God; but, with the followers of the school of Antioch, he insists on the reality of Christ's humanity and its consubstantiality with ours, rejects the Gnostic and Eutychian theories on the origin of the body of the Lord, and teaches explicitly that Christ suffered in the flesh, that is, only in so far as He became man. Indeed, he hurled anathemas against Eutyches as freely as he did against the Nestorians and against the Catholics who received the decrees of the Council of Chalcedon.

But the school of Edessa was more than a home of science and literature; it had become the center of the religious polemics of the times. Naturally enough, it could not remain indifferent to the great christological questions which occupied the minds of both the clergy and the people, and which were discussed with as much ardor in the imperial palace at Constantinople as in churches and monasteries. Nestorian opinions were being spread broadcast and found their way into this famous school. St. Rabbula, who was bishop of Edessa from 412 to 435 (1), after having, according to some, looked with favor upon the new doctrines (2), fought with energy against them as soon as he understood that they were subversive of Catholic faith. was one of the strongest supporters of Cyril of Alexandria at the Council of Ephesus (431) (3), and he translated into Syriac (4) Cyril's De recta fide in Dominum Nostrum J. C., which he distributed on all sides in the hope of checking the progress of But the seeds of the new heresy had taken deep root. Rabbula's successor, Ibas (435-457), was openly favorable to Nestorius. In collaboration with Koumi, Probus, and Mane, all disciples of the Persian school, he had, in his youth, translated

⁽¹⁾ DUVAL, Histoire d'Edesse, p. 168.

⁽²⁾ Duval, ibid., p. 171.

⁽³⁾ Duval, Histoire d'Edesse, p. 172.

⁽⁴⁾ DUVAL, Littérature Syriaque, p. 342.

the works of Theodore of Mopsuestia and of Diodorus of Tarsus (1); and when Philoxenus came to Edessa, the great school had become a hotbed of Nestorianism and remained such up to the time of its destruction by order of Emperor Zeno in 489 (2).

However, not all the students shared the opinions of Ibas. Among those who disagreed with him, Simon of Beth-Arscham mentions Philoxenus of Mabbôg, and his testimony is well borne out by Philoxenus' subsequent career, for, during more than sixty years, he waged an incessant war against the doctrines of Nestorius. Under the name of Nestorians he also included Catholics and all those who maintained two natures in Christ; for, confounding the notions of nature and person, he did not admit a middle course between the Nestorian heresy and the Catholic doctrine. This explains why, in the same breath, he anathematizes not only Nestorius and Ibas, but also Pope Leo I, Leo's dogmatic epistle to Flavian of Constantinople, and the definition of the Council of Chalcedon (3). He refers to Catholics as the Nestorian heretics (4), for not admitting two persons as well as two natures in Christ.

His Struggle with Calandion.

4. But Philoxenus, as he tells us in his Letter to the Monks (5), did not keep his faith to himself. It is probable that,

⁽¹⁾ DUVAL, Hist. d'Edesse, p. 174.

⁽²⁾ Cf. the first letter of Jacob of Serugh to the Monks of Mar-Bassus, published by Abbé Martin in the Z. D. M. G., vol. 30, p. 221: "Now there was in the city (Edessa) a school of Persians, which adhered very strongly to the doctrine of the foolish Diodorus. That school has corrupted the whole East, although it has since been destroyed by the care of the Blessed Mar Cyrus, of holy memory, bishop of Edessa, and by order of the faithful Emperor Zeno ".

^(*) Cf. his confession of faith against the Council of Chalcedon, in Budge, The Discourses of Philoxenus, vol. II, p. xcviii.

⁽⁴⁾ B. O., II, p. 15.

⁽⁵⁾ P. 94.

after his departure from the Persian school, he travelled through Northern Mesopotamia and the Osrhoene province, spreading his Monophysite doctrines and enlisting the sympathy and help of those who agreed with him. The fact that he wrote letters to the Monks of Amid (1), of Arzūn (2), and of Senūn (3), would confirm this view, and such is also the inference which may be drawn from his first Letter to the Monks of Beth-Gaugal, one of the many monasteries in the neighborhood of Amid (4). This important letter, as will be shown later on, was written in the year 485. It proves beyond all doubt that Philoxenus was well known by the monks there. The tone of the letter, the nature of its contents, the praises which he bestows upon their labors on behalf of truth, and the bitterness with which he speaks of his enemies, show not only that the Monks of Beth-Gaugal agreed with him on matters of doctrine, but that he had in them willing and powerful allies ready to help his cause and to further his plans. However the labors of Philoxenus were not confined to the territory around Edessa and Amid. He must have come west of the Euphrates into Syria Prima before the year 485; for, according to Theodore the Reader, Evagrius, Theophanes, and Cedrenus, he was expelled from Antioch by the patriarch Calandion

⁽¹⁾ The modern Diarbekir. An extract from the letter to the Monks of Amid is extant in Syr. Ms. Add. 17193 of the B. M., (Wright DCCCLXI), fol. 69b. Another fragment is found in Syr. Ms. 126 of the Vatican (Cod. Syr. nost. VI). Cf. B. O., II, p. 37.

⁽²⁾ A little east of Amid. A fragment of the letter to the Monks of Arzūn is found in Syr. Ms. 135 of the Vatican (Cod. Syr. nost. XI), fol. 89. Cf. B. O., II, p. 45.

⁽³⁾ The letter to the Monks of Senūn was not written till the year 522 (B. O., II, p. 20), but Philoxenus' acquaintance with these monks must go back to a much earlier date. The letter is extant in Syr. Ms. 136 of the Vatican, fol. 58v-end of Ms., and in Syr Ms. Add. 14597 of the B. M. (Wright DCCXXX), fol. 35b-9la. The monastery of Senūn was situated near Edessa (B. O., II, p. 38).

⁽⁴⁾ Cf. Sozomen in Migne, P. G., vol. 67, p. 1077.

(482-485), for corrupting the doctrines of the Church and disturbing the villages near the great city (1).

We have here a manifest allusion to his proselytizing work on behalf of Monophysitism and to the crusade he had already undertaken against the Nestorians and against the adherents of the Council of Chalcedon. The times were indeed favorable to his schemes. Zeno and Acacius, patriarch of Constantinople, were at war with the Holy See. The famous Henoticon of 482, which was to restore unity to the divided churches, had become a decree of discord (2). It offended the Catholics, because it spoke in equivocal terms of the faith of the Fathers of Chalcedon; and it did not satisfy the extreme Eutychians, because it did not condemn explicitly the doctrine of the two natures. The proud Acacius acted as if the pretensions of the 28th canon of Chalcedon, which made Constantinople the second see of the catholic world (3), had been recognized by Rome. He persuaded Zeno to depose John Talaia from the see of Alexandria and to appoint Peter Mongus in his stead (4). Contrary to the discipline of the Church, he appointed the heretic bishop, John Codonatus, to the diocese of Tyre, thereby usurping the rights of the patriarch of Antioch (5). Moreover, he endeavored to induce all the bishops of the East to sign the Henoticon and to communicate with Mongus (6). Deaf to the remonstrances of the Holy See, he was excommunicated by Felix III (7), and his excommunication marked the beginning of the Eastern schism (484-519) during which Constantinople was cut off from the communion of Rome.

⁽¹⁾ Locis citatis.

⁽²⁾ Cf. MARIN, Les Moines de Constantinople, p. 270.

⁽a) On this canon of the Council of Chalcedon cf. Hefele, Conciliengeschichte, vol. II, p. 527.

⁽⁴⁾ TILLEMONT, Mémoires, vol. XVI, p. 330.

⁽⁵⁾ TILLEMONT, ibid., p. 335.

⁽⁶⁾ THEOPHANES in MIGNE, P. G., vol. 108, p. 324.

⁽⁷⁾ HEFELE, op. cit., vol. II, p. 607 sqq.

Such a deplorable condition of affairs helped Philoxenus' designs. Besides, he had grievances of his own against Calan-This holy patriarch was a zealous defender of the decrees of the Council of Chalcedon; he persistently refused to sign the Henoticon of Zeno (1); he would not separate himself from the communion of Rome nor acknowledge the usurper Mongus as the lawful patriarch of Alexandria (2); he had inserted the words " Christ King " into the Trisagion of Peter the Fuller, so as to refer the crucifixion explicitly to Christ alone (3); in a word, Calandion was then one of the standard bearers of the Catholic faith in Syria, and a staunch opponent of Monophysitism. loxenus, who had already espoused the cause of the Monophysites, became his bitter enemy. Nor was he alone in the struggle. It is indeed very probable that he was assisted by the monks of Teleda (4), and of Mar Bassus (5), two famous monasteries in the neighborhood of Antioch. We know from his letters to the Monks of Teleda and of Senun, that he had been in the monasteries of Mar Bassus and of Teleda, where the monks shared his opinions. It is possible that he was making an active propaganda among them. At any rate, Calandion, discerning in him an enemy of the faith and a disturber of the peace of the Church, expelled him from his diocese (6). But this triumph was not of long duration; for, under pretext of having favored Leontius in his revolt against Zeno, but in reality for refusing to sign the Henoticon (7) and to communicate with Mongus (8), Calandion

(p 16

⁽¹⁾ Cf. Theophanes in Migne, P. G., vol. 108, p. 325.

⁽²⁾ TILLEMONT, Mémoires, vol. XVI, p. 366.

⁽³⁾ TILLEMONT, ibid., p. 319.

⁽⁴⁾ The modern Telladi about half way between Antioch and Aleppo. Cf. Guidi, La Lettera di Filosseno ai monaci di Tell'Addá. p. 111.

⁽¹⁾ L'cd, (5) Near Apamea. See Duval, Lit. Syr., Map.

⁽⁶⁾ THEODORE the READER, in MIGNE, P. G., vol. 86, p. 216.

⁽⁷⁾ THEOPHANES in MIGNE, P. G., vol. 108, p. 325.

⁽⁸⁾ TILLEMONT, Mémoires, vol. XVI, p. 366.

was banished to Egypt and the see of Antioch passed for the third time into the hands of Peter the Fuller (1).

After this, it would be natural to suppose that Philoxenus was connected in some way with the deposition of Calandion. His first Letter to the Monks of Bēth-Gaugal seems to warrant this supposition. He says: * And the same friend of Christ (the Emperor) has openly declared that he gained the victory over his enemies with (the help of) your prayers, and he is ready to give us ample reward for the work which we have undertaken for the peace of the churches, and to drive away from them the enemies of the Cross * (2).

His Appointment to Mabbôg.

5. The nature of the reward to which Philoxenus alludes here can only be a matter of conjecture. It is worthy of notice, however, that in the year 485, shortly after the exile of Calandion and the intrusion of Peter the Fuller into the see of Antioch, Philoxenus was, by the latter, consecrated bishop and appointed to the diocese of Hierapolis or Mabbôgh (3) in the

⁽¹⁾ Cf. Baronius, Annales, anno 485, t. VIII, p. 460.

⁽a) P. 115.

⁽³⁾ The modern Manbidj, northeast of Antioch and almost due south of Carchemish. Hierapolis was a metropolitan see and, according to Le Quien (Oriens Christianus, vol. II, pp. 926-952), had jurisdiction over the following thirteen dioceses or churches: Cyrrhus (Huru Peigamber), Samosata (Samsat), Doliche (Dulluk), Germanicia (Maraš), Zeugma (Biredjik), Europus (Djerabis), Barbalissus (Kalaat Balis?), Perrha, Urima, Sura, Neocesarea, Sergiopolis and Mariamopolis. See Kiepert's Maps (Provinces Asiatiques de l'Empire Ottoman), and his map of Prof. Haussknecht's Reisen im Orient, 1865-1869, I-II. For a history and description of Hierapolis, see Ritter's Erdkunde im Verhältniss zur Natur and zur Geschichte des Menschen, 2d ed., vol. 10 (West-Asien, Band IV), pp. 1041-1061. Cf. also Pococke, A description of the East, London (1745), vol. II, part I, p. 166 sqq., and the Archives des Missions scientifiques et littéraires, Paris (1866), 2° série, t. III, p. 347 sqq.

patriarchate of Antioch. It was on this occasion that his name was changed from Aksenaya to Philoxenus (1).

The anonymous notice (2) places Philoxenus' consecration in the year 800 of the Greeks (A. D. 488), but this is certainly an error. Church historians (3) agree in saying that Philoxenus came to Mabbôgh in 485, and their testimony is confirmed by a passage in Philoxenus' Letter to the Monks of Senun written in the year 522 from Philippopolis in Thrace, where he had been exiled by Justin. Speaking of Alexander, his successor in the see of Mabbôgh, he says: " The clergy and the monks of our city have been ordered by him who rules over them to accept his (Alexander's) faith. As to our faith, which is that of Peter and of the Apostles, and which during thirty-four years I have preached to them in all ecclesiastical assemblies, they are commanded by him to look upon it as the heresy of the Manicheans " (4). From the Edessene Chronicle (5) we know that Philoxenus was exiled in the second year of Justin (519). we subtract thirty-four from this latter date, we get 485 as the year of his appointment to Mabbogh. It was probably in the same year that he accepted the Henoticon which, under the reigns of Zeno and Anastasius, had to be signed by all the bishops of the East under penalty of exile (6), and which was then, as Tillemont remarks, the only door to the episcopate (7).

Very little is known concerning the next thirteen years of Philoxenus' life. There is no doubt that he continued his opposition to the doctrines of Nestorius and Eutyches and propagated his religious views in his vast province. It is also pos-

⁽¹⁾ THEOPHANES in MIGNE, P. G., vol. 108, p. 328.

⁽²⁾ See Appendix I.

⁽⁸⁾ BARONIUS, anno 485, Annales, vol. VIII, p. 456.

⁽⁴⁾ B. O., II, p. 12.

⁽⁵⁾ B. O., I, p. 408. Cf. Hallier, Untersuch. ü. d. Edess. Chr. 125.

^(°) Gibbon, The history of the decline and fall of the Roman Empire, ed. Milman (1840), vol. VI, p. 29.

⁽¹⁾ Mémoires, vol. XVI, p. 664.

sible, as Budge observes, that during this time "he wrote parts or all of many of the works which have made his name so famous among Monophysite writers " (1). The Letter to Zeno was written probably in 485 when he signed the Henoticon. The Discourses on Christian life and character were composed, according to Budge (2), between 485 and 500. We may also place within the same period the beginning of his translation of the Bible which was published at Mabbôgh in 508 (3). His discourses show that in the midst of turmoil and strife he found time for meditation and study; they contain no allusion whatever to the disputes and controversies in which he was engaged for the greater part of his life.

According to the so-called Chronicle of Joshua the Stylite (4), Philozenus was in Edessa in May 498. The Saturnalia were being celebrated there for the second time. During seven days the citizens gave themselves up to all kinds of games and pleasures with the consequence that prayer and divine service were neglected. The pious author of the Chronicle remarks that Philoxenus preached only one day against the scandal, though he especially should have taken upon himself the duty of instructing the people.

His Struggle with Flavian.

6. In the year 498 Palladius, the Monophysite patriarch of Antioch, died and was succeeded by Flavian II. The latter passed for being an opponent of the Council of Chalcedon (5), and this is probably the reason why he was appointed by Ana-

⁽¹⁾ The Discourses of Philoxenus, vol. II, p. xxI.

⁽²⁾ Ibid., p. LXXIII.

⁽⁸⁾ BUDGE, ibid., p. XXIX.

⁽⁴⁾ Edition Wright, p. 25.

^{(5) «} Φασὶ δὲ Φλαβιανὸν τοῖς ἐν Χαλκηδόνι δόγμασιν ἀντικεῖσθαι ». ΤΗΒΟΡΗΑΝΕS in Migne, P. G., vol. 108, p. 341.

stasius to that important see. After his accession, however, he declared himself in favor of the Council, renounced the communion of the patriarch of Alexandria (1), and united himself with Macedonius of Constantinople and with Elias of Jerusalem. This change of policy drew upon him the opposition of Philozenus, and thus began between the two a struggle which, with some interruptions, lasted for nearly fourteen years (499-513).

It was probably in the interest of his party and to protest to Anastasius against Flavian's appointment that Philoxenus went twice to Constantinople, as we learn from his Letter to the Monks of Senūn, in which he complains of the persecutions he suffered at the hands of his enemies: "What I have suffered from Flavian and Macedonius, who were archbishops of Antioch and of the capital, and before them from Calandion, is known and spoken of everywhere. I keep silence concerning what was plotted against me in the time of the Persian war among the nobles by the care of him who is called Flavian the heretic, and what happened to me in Edessa, and in the country of the Apameans, and in that of the Antiochians when I was in the monastery of the blessed Mar Bassus, and also in Antioch; and again, when I went up to the capital on two occasions, the like things were done unto me by the Nestorian heretics (2) ".

The first of these visits to the capital is believed to have taken place in 499 (3). Victor Tununensis relates that a council was held at Constantinople in that year under the presidency of Flavian and Philoxenus. At the demand of Anastasius, the council anathematized Diodorus of Tarsus, Theodore of Mopsuestia, Theodoret of Cyrus, Ibas of Edessa, Andrew of Samosata, Eleutherius of Tyana, Cyrus of Hierapolis, John of Cyrrhus, and all those who admitted two natures in Christ and did not con-

⁽¹⁾ Cf. LIBERATUS, MIGNE, P. L., vol. 68, p. 1030.

⁽a) B. O., II, p. 15.

^(*) DUVAL, Lit. Syr., p. 357; B. O., II, p. 15.

fess that one of the Trinity was crucified, also Leo of Rome and his dogmatic epistle, and the Council of Chalcedon (1). It is probable that Victor anticipates here the course of events, and places in the year 499 what, according to Theophanes and Evagrius, took place later on. It is hardly reasonable to suppose that a council could be held from which Macedonius, the patriarch of Constantinople (496-511), would have been excluded; still less, that Flavian would have consented to preside over a council in company with his enemy. Doubtless Victor refers here to another council (2) which was held at Constantinople in 498, to bring about a reconciliation between some monasteries of the city and the principal church from which they had separated themselves on account of Acacius and of the Henoticon.

Whatever may have happened during Philoxenus' first visit to the capital, it is certain that his differences with Flavian were not settled. The Persian war (502-505), which caused untold misery and destruction in Syria and Mesopotamia, and in Philoxenus' own province, interrupted for a while the struggle between them. But it was renewed in 507 (3) with more bitterness than ever. From the passage quoted above it would appear that Flavian had sought to influence the nobles, probably the Roman officials of the country, against Philoxenus. is that the latter began to accuse Flavian of Nestorianism. Flavian had anathematized Nestorius and his doctrine. Philoxenus insisted that he should also anathematize Diodorus of Tarsus, Theodore of Mopsuestia, Theodoret of Cyrus, Ibas of Edessa, Cyrus of Hierapolis, Eleutherius of Tyana, and John of Cyrrhus, and told him that he would continue to regard him as a Nestorian, unless he condemned all these men together with their

⁽¹⁾ MIGNE, P. L., vol 68, p. 949.

^(*) THEOPHANES in MIGNE, P. G., vol. 108, p. 340. Cf. also ASSEMANI, B. O., II, p. 15.

⁽⁸⁾ Cf. TILLEMONT, Mémoires, vol. XVI, p. 677.

doctrines (1). To bring greater pressure to bear upon him, Philoxenus enlisted the help of the Acephali of Egypt, and of Eleusins of Sasima and Nicias of Laodicea, all of whom shared his opposition to Flavian (2). Coming again to Constantinople, Philoxenus sought the help of the Emperor with the result that in 509 Anastasius tried to force Flavian to sign the Henoticon a second time (3) and to condemn all the bishops whom Philoxenus had mentioned. Flavian convoked a provincial synod, and sent to the Emperor a letter in which, for the sake of peace, he confirmed the first three Councils and anathematized the persons named by Philoxenus, but did not speak of the Council of Chal-With this procedure, however, Philozenus was not satisfied, and he demanded that Flavian and Elias of Jerusalem, Flavian's friend, should condemn the Council of Chalcedon and all those who admitted two natures in Christ (4). He then joined hands with Soterichus of Cappadocia and appealed again to Anastasius, who gave orders for a council to meet at Sidon, 511-512 (5). Flavian and Elias were both present, and Philoxenus and Soterichus presided. We do not know exactly what took place there (6). Through the efforts of Flavian and Elias the Council of Chalcedon was not anathematized, and the council of Sidon was dismissed without anything being done against them. Thereupon, Philoxenus wrote to the Emperor accusing the two bishops of having acted hypocritically (7). Seeing that his efforts to dispossess Flavian of the see of Antioch had failed, he bribed the monks of Cynegica and those of Syria Prima to rush into the city and to make Flavian anathematize the Council of Chalcedon (8).

⁽¹⁾ EVAGRIUS in MIGNE, P. G., vol. 86 bis, p. 2661.

⁽²⁾ EVAGRIUS, ibid.

⁽⁸⁾ TILLEMONT, Mémoires, vol. XVI, p. 679.

⁽⁴⁾ TILLEMONT. ibid., p. 681.

⁽⁵⁾ HEFELE, Conciliengeschichte, vol. II, p. 666.

⁽e) TILLEMONT, ibid., p. 703.

⁽⁷⁾ THEOPHANES in MIGNE, P. G., vol. 108, p. 361.

^(*) EVAGRIUS in MIGNE, P. G., vol. 86 bis, p. 2665.

But the inhabitants, who were devoted to Flavian, rose up in arms against the monks slew many of them, and cast their bodies into the Orontes. In a moment of weakness, and perhaps to avoid further bloodshed, Flavian pronounced anathema against the Council of Chalcedon, and the four bishops, Diodorus, Theodore, Ibas, and Theodoret (1). But Philozenus accused him again of insincerity, and Flavian was banished to Petra in Palestine (Palaestina IIIa) (2), and the Monophysite monk Severus was appointed patriarch in his stead (3).

His Exile and Death.

7. Philoxenus did not long enjoy the fruits of victory. The Emperor Anastasius, his protector and friend, died in 518 and was succeeded by the orthodox Justin I. One of the first acts of the new ruler was to unite his efforts with those of Pope Hormisdas in bringing about a reconciliation between the East and the West. Communion with Rome was solemnly reestablished on Easter Sunday, March 24, 519 (4), and thus ended the schism which for thirty-five years had been a menace to the Church and to the Empire. The orthodox bishops who had been deposed under Zeno and Anastasius were restored to their sees, and the recalcitrant Monophysites sent into exile. Among the latter Theophanes mentions Philoxenus and his neighbor Peter of Apamea (5).

Philoxenus was first banished to Philippopolis in Thrace. It is from there that he wrote his Letter to the Monks of Senun, and probably also his Letter to the Monks of Teleda,

⁽¹⁾ THEOPHANES, ibid.

⁽²⁾ EVAGRIUS, ibid.

⁽⁸⁾ Evagrius, ibid., p. 2668.

^(*) HERGENRÖTHER, Histoire de l'Eglise, traduction Bélet, vol. II, n.º 163, p. 274.

^(*) MIGNE, P. G., vol. 108, p. 384.

two of the most important of his dogmatic works. In both of them he condemns the errors of Nestorius and Eutyches, and shows clearly that the sufferings and privations of his exile did not change the opinions for which he had been fighting since he left Edessa over half a century before. From Philippopolis he was brought to Gangra (1) in Paphlagonia, where he was murdered, probably in 523.

The anonymous notice (*) gives the following account of his death: And when he (Philoxenus) had filled the Church with divine teachings and had interpreted the Books, and refuted the faith of the Nestorians by his writings against them, they cast him into exile in the city of Gangra and suffocated him with smoke. They shut him up in an upper chamber, and made smoke in the room below, and locked the doors. And thus he received the crown of martyrdom, being suffocated by them in the true confession.

Various Judgments on Philoxenus.

8. Such was the death of Philoxenus. Very different judgments have been passed on this remarkable man. The Jacobites honor him as a martyr and saint. They celebrate his memory on the tenth of December, the eighteenth of February and the first of April (3), and, in the profession of faith exacted in the Jacobite Church from candidates to ordination, he is ranked among the holy Doctors and Fathers who preserved the faith of the first three Councils (4). The historians of the Byzantine period re-

⁽¹⁾ Barhebraei Chronicon Ecclesiasticum, ed. Abbrloos and Lamy, vol. I, p. 197.

⁽a) See Appendix I. According to a note at the bottom of the page containing the anonymous notice, Philoxenus was put to death on account of his opposition to the Council of Chalcedon.

⁽³⁾ B. O., II, p. 20.

⁽⁴⁾ DENZINGER, Ritus Orientalium, vol. II, p. 104.

gard him as the vilest of men, a slave of Satan (1), and a stranger to God (2). They accuse him of never having been baptized, and see in him a Manichean and the author of the heresy of the Iconoclasts. There is evidently a great deal of exaggeration on both sides and, as Budge remarks, "it is probable that we must make some allowance for the hostility of those to whose lot it has fallen to describe his life "(3).

It is certain that Philoxenus was baptized, if the evidence derived from his works is worth anything. His doctrine on the Incarnation does not bear out the charge of Manicheism; moreover, in some of his writings (4), he explicitly rejects the teachings of Mani and of Marcion. That he was an Iconoclast is not proved, and the passage adduced by Assemani (5) to confirm the testimony of Theophanes is far from conclusive. It is beyond question, however, that Philoxenus was always a bitter enemy not only of the doctrines of Nestorius and Eutyches, but also of the definition of the Council of Chalcedon which he regarded as confirming the heresy of Nestorius. It is also certain that he resorted to violent means to deprive Flavian of the episcopal throne of Antioch. Yet he seems to have been sincere in his opposition. From the Letter of the Monks of Palestine to Alcison, bishop of Nicopolis, it would appear that, according to some, Philoxenus was moved to attack Flavian by what seemed to him the interests of the faith (6). In his Letter to the Monks of Beth-Gaugal, Philoxenus thus rebukes his adversaries: " I fight for the common faith, and thou settest thyself against me with

⁽¹⁾ CEDRENUS in MIGNE, P. G., vol. 121, p. 676.

⁽²⁾ EVAGRIUS in MIGNE, P. G., vol. 86 bis, p. 2660.

⁽³⁾ Op. cit., vol. II, p. xxIV.

⁽⁴⁾ BUDGE, op. cit., vol. II. p. cxxxvi.

⁽⁵⁾ B. O., II, p. 21.

^(*) Evagrius in Migne, P. G., vol. 86 bis. p. 2660: α θὖα οἴδαμεν τί σαοπῶν ἢ ποίαν ἔχθραν πρὸς Φλαβιανὸν ἐκδικῶν, προς άσει δὲ τῆς πίστεως, ώς οἱ πολλοὶ διηγοῦνται, κινεῖν μὲν πρὸς αὐτὸν καὶ διαβάλλειν ἄρχεται ώς Νεστοριανόν ».

the heretics. I toil and work day and night that the truth which was delivered to the Church may not be changed, and I direct the weapons of argument against those who deny the Cross, and thou insultest me (saying), " Hold thy tongue, let them do what they wish ". They want me to be silent lest I should expose their doctrines, and thou, with them, wantest me to remain silent. I hasten to root out division and to end the schism which they have caused in the faith, and thou declarest publicly that I am the cause of the division. began a tumult, introduced a novelty, and disturbed the peace of all the churches, and thou considerest me as the author of the disturbance " (1). In his Letter to the Monks of Teleda, written during his exile, he says that he expects eternal life on account of the persecution to which he is being subjected: death should come to me on account of this truth, I believe that I shall receive life from it. And not only (the words) seducer and corruptor and other opprobrious names am I ready to hear for this doctrine, but I am also ready to suffer fire and beasts, and different kinds of torments, and persecutions without number " (2). And notwithstanding all this, he asks the prayers of the monks that his own enemies may be converted and see the truth: " Let us pray for them that they may repent, and may be found by the truth which seeks to find them; that their eyes may be opened so that they will see what they are doing and whom they persecute * (3).

But if historians and scholars differ in their judgment of the character of Philoxenus, they all agree in regarding him as one of the brightest stars of Syriac literature. Jacob of Edessa (4), whom the Syrians call *The Interpreter*, ranks him among the

⁽¹⁾ P. 117.

⁽²⁾ Guidi, La lettera di Filosseno ai monaci di Tell'Addd, fol. 29a, col. 1, lines 11-24.

^(*) Guidi, ibid., col. 2, lines 12-18.

⁽⁴⁾ B. O., I, p., 475.

four great Syriac Doctors, putting him on an equal footing with St. Ephrem, Jacob of Serugh, and Isaac of Antioch. Bar-Hebraeus calls him a most eloquent man and wonderful doctor who attacked mightily the party of the Dyophysites, and set forth healthy doctrines concerning the holy way of monastic life * (1).

The moderns are no less lavish in their praise and admiration. Assemani, who pronounces a very severe judgment on Philoxenus' character, calling him "a most corrupt man " (2), « a most pernicious heretic » (3), who would have devastated the Church of God like a wild boar (4), confesses that he wrote Syriac most elegantly: "Scripsit Syriace, si quis alius, elegantissime " (5). The late Prof. Wright of Cambridge, who won for himself universal fame as a Syriac scholar, says that Philoxenus was not only a man of strife and action, but an elegant writer as well (6). Prof. Guidi, of Rome, in his beautiful edition of the Letter of Philoxenus to the Monks of Teleda, also contributes his share of praise to the purity, eloquence and force of the style of Philozenus: " Il suo valore letterario è incontrastato; ed in lui la squisita purità della lingua non è inferiore all'eloquenza ed alla forza dello stile » (7). And it is gratifying to add that the three letters, which are published in this volume, fully confirm the universal judgment of scholars as to the literary merits of Philoxenus, and give us, besides, a new proof of the dialectical skill and theological learning of that famous Monophysite.

⁽¹⁾ Chronicon eccl., vol. I, p. 183.

⁽a) B. O., II, p. 12.

^(*) Ibid., p. 11.

⁽⁴⁾ Ibid., p. 18.

⁽⁴⁾ Ibid., p. 20.

⁽⁶⁾ Art. Syriac Literature in Ency. Brit., 9th ed., p. 872.

⁽⁷⁾ Op. cit., p. 111.

www.libtool.com.cn

CHAPTER II.

THE PUBLISHED WORKS OF PHILOXENUS.

Philoxenus was one of the most prolific writers of his age. When we think of the troubled condition of his life, and of the constant struggle that he waged against the doctrines of Nestorius and Eutyches, and against the definition of the Council of Chalcedon, it is indeed marvelous that he should have found time to write so large a number of works. They are preserved mostly in the libraries of the British Museum, of Oxford, Rome, and Paris (1). They deal with a great variety of topics, and may be classified under four principal heads: Scripture, liturgy, asceticism and dogma. Outside of a hymn on the Nativity of Our Lord (the authenticity of which is doubtful for it has also been attributed to Severus of Antioch and to John bar Aphthon) (2), they are all written in prose, and, as ancients and moderns agree, they are among the best specimens of the golden age of Syriac literature. Unfortunately, the majority of them are still unpublished. Until the year 1873, in which Martin edited in his Syro-Chal-

⁽¹⁾ For a complete catalogue of the writings ascribed to Philoxenus, see Budge, op. cit., vol. II, pp. xlviii-lxvi. After Assemani (B. O., II, p. 37), Budge (ibid., p. lviii, n°. xlv) speaks of two letters of Philoxenus to the Monks of Teleda. As Guidi remarks (Z. D. M. G., vol. 35, p. 143), we know of one only. The supposed second letter to the Monks of Teleda, which is the first of the three letters published in this dissertation, is to be identified with the Letter to the Monks which Philoxenus inserted in his treatise showing that One of the Trinity was incarnate and suffered for us. This treatise is found in Syr. Ms. Add. 12164 of the British Museum (Wright's Catal., n°. DCLXXVI), and in Syr. Ms. 138 of the Vatican.

⁽a) B. O., II, p. 46.

daicae Institutiones (1) the text of the Letter to Abu-Nafir, nothing was known of the writings of Philozenus, except a Latin translation of two of Kis Anaphoras by Renaudot (2), and the brief extracts given of several of his works in the *Bibliotheca Orientalis* of Assemani (3). We give here a review of all the published works of Philozenus, as we had to make use of some of them in the exposition of his doctrines.

I.

The Discourses and other Texts.

9. The Discourses of Philozenus on Christian life and character, the most important of his ascetical works, were published (Syriac text and English translation) in 1894 by Budge from Syriac Mss. of the sixth and seventh centuries in the British Museum (4).

The text is based on Add. 14598 (Wright DCCLXIV), which is called A. Variant readings are given from Add. 14595 (Wright DCLXXVIII), Add. 12163 (Wright DCLXXVIII), Add. 17153 (Wright DCLXXIX), Add. 14596 (Wright DCLXXX), Add. 14625 (Wright DCLXXXI), Add. 14601 (Wright DCCXCV), and Add. 14621 (Wright DCCLXXIX). These seven Mss. are referred to as B, C, D, E, F, G, and H respectively. From the fact that the Scriptural quotations in the discourses are taken from the Peshitta, Budge concludes that these discourses were

⁽¹⁾ Syro-Chaldaicae Institutiones, pp. 71-78.

⁽²⁾ Liturgiarum Orientalium collectio, vol. II, pp. 300, 309.

⁽³⁾ B. O., II, Xenaias Mabugensis, pp. 10-46.

⁽⁴⁾ These discourses are found in 19 Mss. of the British Museum, either in whole or in part (Budge, op. cit., vol. II, pp. lii, xciv). They are extant also in Syr. Ms. 201 (XIIIth century) of the Bibliotheque Nationale of Paris (See Zotenberg, Catalogue des Manuscrits Syriaques et Sabeens de la Bibliothèque Nationale, p. 149). Extracts of them in Karšūnī exist in Ms. 239 of the same library (Zotenberg, ibid., p. 194).

written before 508, the year in which Philoxenus published his translation of the Bible at Mabbôgh, and he places the time of their composition between 485 and the end of the fifth century (1).

These discourses are thirteen in number. The first is a prologue to the others; the second, third, and fourth treat of faith as a virtue; the fifth treats of simplicity; the sixth and seventh, of the fear of God; the eighth and ninth, of poverty; the tenth, of gluttony; the eleventh, of abstinence; and the twelfth and thirteenth, of fornication. They are written in exquisitely pure Syriac, and in them especially we notice those qualities of style for which Jacob of Edessa admired and praised the writings of Philoxenus (2).

Besides the above discourses, Budge has also published, in the second volume of his work, seven other short treatises of Philoxenus, which are very important from a dogmatic standpoint. Though less interesting than his larger dogmatic writings, they contain, in a few pages, the principles underlying his theological opinions, and make us partly acquainted with the objections which he urged against the Nestorians and against the adherents of the Council of Chalcedon. We give here a review of these different texts.

a) An explanation (3) of the heresies of Mani, Marcion, and others, from. Add. 14529 (7th or 8th century) (Wright DCCCLVI) of the British Museum, (fol. 65b-66b). The title is: also sook that a sook with the continuous sections are sook to be a sook of the British Museum, (fol. 65b-66b). The title is: also sook that are sook of the British Museum, and a sook of the British Museum, (fol. 65b-66b). The title is: also sook of the British Museum, (fol. 65b-66b). The title is: also sook of the British Museum, and the british Museum, (fol. 65b-66b). The title is: also sook of the British Museum, and the british Museum, (fol. 65b-66b). The title is: also sook of the British Museum, and the british Mus

In this document, Philoxenus explains and rejects the heresies of the Gnostics, the Nestorians, and the Eutychians on the Incarnation, and gives us a short statement of his own doctrine.

⁽¹⁾ Budge, op. cit., vol. II, p. LEXIII.

⁽²⁾ DUVAL, Littérature Syriaque, p. 230.

⁽a) Vol. II; Text, p. cxxxvi; Translation, p. xl.v.

It contains seven chapters or paragraphs of which a summary is given (p. xxxvII). Philoxenus anathematizes Nestorius, Diodorus of Tarsus, and Theodoret of Cyrrhus, accepts the twelve chapters of Cyril of Alexandria against Nestorius, receives the Henoticon of Zeno, and pronounces anathema upon every one who would divide Christ into two natures.

In ten short paragraphs Philoxenus anathematizes the Council of Chalcedon for composing, as he says, a faith at variance with that of the Council of Nice, for excommunicating Nestorius while agreeing with him in doctrine, for distinguishing two natures in Christ and receiving Ibas of Edessa, Theodoret of Cyrrhus, and Leo (the Great) of Rome.

d) How one must reply when questioned as to his belief (3). From the same Ms. (fol. 69b-71a). אבשבה בוא בשבא בוא בשבא בא בשבא בוא בשבא בא בשבא בא בשבא אנה.

In this document, Philoxenus gives us a concise statement of his belief in the Blessed Trinity and in the Incarnation.

e) Twelve chapters against those who maintain two natures in Christ and one person (4). This treatise is found in

⁽¹⁾ Vol. II, Text, p. cxx.

^(*) Ibid., Text, p. xcviii; Translation, p. xxxiii.

^(*) Ibid., Text, p. xcvi; Translation, p. xxxi.

⁽⁴⁾ Ibid., Text, p. civ.

Here Philoxenus argues that if we admit two natures in Christ, we must also admit two persons, and he does not distinguish between the Nestorian heresy and the Catholic doctrine.

f) Twenty chapters against Nestorius (1). From the same Ms. (fol. 98b-105b). مده جمعتا ماه علام معاني معاني معاني معاني المعدل بعانية ماه معانية معانية

In this treatise Philoxenus formulates twenty objections against the doctrines of Nestorius. Most of these objections rest on the confusion of the notions of nature and person, his chief point being this, that since the Word became incarnate in His person, He also became incarnate in His nature, and since there is only one nature before the Incarnation, there can be but one after the Incarnation. Thus in the third chapter he says: "If God the Word became man in His person, and is not called two persons, but one person who became man, He also became man in His nature, and His nature who became man is one, and is not called two natures ".

g) Ten chapters against those who divide Our Lord after the indivisible union (²). From the same Ms. (fol. 105b-107b). : المعدد المعادد المعا

These ten chapters are directed against the Nestorians for admitting two persons in Christ, and against the followers of the Council of Chalcedon for acknowledging two natures after the union. Both, according to Philoxenus, divide Our Lord

⁽¹⁾ Ibid., Text, p. cxxIII; Summary, p. xxxIX.

⁽a) Ibid., Text, p. c; Summary, p. xxxvi.

by admitting two persons or two natures in Him. Here again he misunderstands the Catholic doctrine. Thus, in the third chapter, speaking of the adoration of the Magi, he says: " If two natures be admitted in Christ, which of the two did the Magi worship? If the divine nature, they could have done so when they were in their own country; if the human nature, they are worthy of blame, not of praise. Now the Book testifies concerning them that their action is worthy of praise. Therefore, when they worshipped Christ, they worshipped the Incarnate God " (1). In the premises of this argument, he evidently supposes that Catholics adore the natures separately.

II.

The Letter to Abu-Nafir.

The synodical letter which Mar Aksenāyā, bishop of Mabbôgh, wrote to Abu-Nafir, stratelates (5) of Hira (6) of Beth-Naaman.

⁽¹⁾ **Ibid.**, p. c.

⁽²⁾ Syro-Chaldaicae Institutiones, pp. 71-78.

⁽³⁾ WRIGHT, Cat. Syr. Mss., p. 998.

⁽⁴⁾ WRIGHT, ibid., p. 338.

^(*) The magister militum of the Romans (Cf. Du Cange, Glossarium ad Scriptores mediae et infimae graecitatis, vol. II, p. 1459).

⁽e) A little south-east of Meshed 'Alf, (Cf. ROTHSTEIN, Die Dynastie der Lahmiten in al-Hira, 12, f.). At an early date, the rulers of Hira became simple lieutenants of the Persian Kings.

Date. The list (1) of the rulers of Hira does not contain the name of Abu-Nafir. It mentions, however, Abu-Yafar who ruled from 498 to 503, simply as a vassal or lieutenant of the Persian King. If we assume his identity with Abu-Nafir, the date of composition of this letter would fall between 498 and 503. This document is very unlike the published writings of Philozenus. The obvious differences of style and the glaring anachronisms which it contains regarding prominent events in the lives of Nestorius and of Theodore of Mopsuestia, raise serious doubts as to its authenticity (2). Philoxenus should have been well acquainted with the history of Nestorius and of Theodore, for he spent a few years in Edessa and in Antioch, cities which were for a time the strongholds of Nestorianism in the East. As no translation of this letter has been published, a detailed analysis of its contents will not be out of place here.

The letter gives: a) the genealogy of Nestorius and of Theodore; b) their elevation to the sees of Constantinople and of Mopsuestia; c) their heresy; d) the condemnation of Nestorius by the Council of Ephesus; e) the heresy of Eutyches and his condemnation at Chalcedon; f) the return of Timothy Aelurus to Alexandria; g) and the origin of the sect called Esaianists.

a) Addi married a woman named Amlaka who bore him two sons: Barbeelšemin and Abašoum. Barbeelšemin was the father of Nestorius, Abašoum of Theodore (3). Nestorius and

⁽¹⁾ The kingdom of Hira was founded, it is related, about 195 by Malik ben Fahm, but see Rothstein, op. c. 37 f.

⁽²⁾ These doubts are again increased by the strong probability that, at the time the letter is supposed to have been written, the kings of Hira were still heathens. Cf. the article of Guidi, Mundhir III, und die beiden monophysitischen Bischöfe in the Z. D. M. G., vol. 35, p. 142, where he shows that Mundhir III, who reigned in Hira from 505 to 513, was very probably a heathen.

^(*) This genealogy makes Nestorius and Theodore first cousins. There is no evidence of their having been related.

Theodore were born (1) at Maraš where the sons of Addi had settled. After they had mastered the Greek language, they were sent to Athens (2), where they studied philosophy.

- b) In Athens, they became acquainted with some free men from Constantinople who praised them before Honorius, with the result that Honorius (3) commanded that they should both be made bishops, Nestorius, of Constantinople, and Theodore, of Mopsuestia.
- c) Once in possession of their sees, they began to corrupt the true faith in private commentaries which they sent to each other (4), distinguishing the Only Son of God into two natures, attributing miracles to the one, and humiliations to the other.
- d) Hearing of this, Theodosius the Younger convoked the Council of Ephesus against the Nestorian doctrines. Then Nestorius wrote to Theodore, and told him not to be afraid, but to go the Council (5), and to anathematize him (Nestorius), not indeed with the anathema which cuts one off from the kingdom of heaven, but only in the sense in which St. Paul desired to be anathema for the salvation of his brethren, the sons of Israel.

⁽¹⁾ Theodore was born at Antioch, about 350 (MIGNE, P. G., vol. 66, p. 11), and Nestorius was born in Germanicia (Maraš) (Smith, Dictionary of Christian Biography, art. Nestorianism).

⁽a) According to all accounts, they both studied at Antioch.

^(*) This is at variance with well established dates. Honorius ruled in the West from 395 to 423. The emperors of the East, during that period, were Arcadius (395-408), and Theodosius II (408-450). Nestorius was consecrated bishop of Constantinople, April 10, 428, five years after Honorius' death (Cf. Smith, loc. cit.), whilst Theodore became bishop of Mopsuestia at the end of the year 392 or the beginning of 393 (Cf. Goyau, Chronologie de l'Empire Romain, p. 610).

⁽⁴⁾ There is no evidence of any correspondence between Theodore and Nestorius, especially after the elevation of the latter to the see of Constantinople, for Theodore died in 428 (MIGNE, P. G., vol. 66, p. 12). Nor is it certain that Nestorius was ever a disciple of Theodore at Antioch, as some have maintained. All we know is that Nestorius and his followers held the writings of Theodore in great esteem-(Cf. TILLEMONT, Memoires, vol. XII, p. 441).

⁽⁵⁾ Theodore died in 428, and the Council of Ephesus was held in 431.

- e) In the days of Marcian, Eutyches rose against the Church, and taught that the Son of God brought His body down from heaven (1). And, because he would not recede from the position he had taken, he was excommunicated by the Council of Chalcedon. After the Fathers had assembled, Leo (2) wrote to them to receive the doctrines of Nestorius (3), and his own tomos (4). On threat of deposition made by Marcian, they yielded, because they loved their office. But Dioscorus, patriarch of Alexandria, did not yield; he was exiled, and his secretary (5) became patriarch in his stead. The Alexandrians received the new patriarch; but some priests, deacons, and laymen who would not agree with the Council of Chalcedon, did not communicate with him; they fled into Ethiopia with Timothy (6), a disciple of Dioscorus.
- f) After a while, the Alexandrians became sorry for having received the secretary of Dioscorus; they stoned him (7), and cast his body into the sea. After the death of Marcian, Timothy returned to Alexandria, took possession of the see, and forgave the Alexandrians. However, the priests, deacons, and laymen, who had returned with him, would not communicate with the Alexandrians, for they said: "Whoever has taken part in the Council of Chalcedon in any way, has not the priesthood."
- g) Then four priests from among them took the Gospel, placed it on the head of Esaias, and made him bishop. From

⁽¹⁾ In his Letter to the Monks (p. 97), Philozenus accuses Eutyches of teaching that the body of Christ was made from nothing.

^(*) Pope Leo the Great (440-461).

^(*) As Monophysites did not distinguish between nature and person, they identified the followers of the Council of Chalcedon with the Nestorians.

⁽⁴⁾ The dogmatic epistle to Flavian of Constantinople; Migne, P. L., vol. 54, p. 755.

⁽⁵⁾ Proterius. He was patriarch of Alexandria from 454 to 457.

⁽⁶⁾ Timothy Aelurus.

⁽⁷⁾ Proterius was not stoned by his own people, but was stabbed to death together with six of his priests in the baptistry of his cathedral on Good Friday 457 by the followers of Timothy himself. Cf. Neale, The patriarchate of Alexandria, vol. II, p. 12.

that time on they were called Esaianistae-Acephali (1). Concerning the belief of the Acephali, that those who had taken part in the Council of Chalcedon in any way had not the true priesthood, the letter goes on to explain that heretics confer baptism and priesthood validly, provided they have not preached their heresy openly. Consequently, the baptism and the orders conferred by the Fathers of Chalcedon after their dispersion were valid, because they did not preach their heresy (the definition of the two natures in Christ), so that the case of those who received those sacraments from them was parallel to the case of those who were baptized or ordained by Judas Iscariot. As his heresy was only in his heart, the sacraments which he conferred were valid.

III.

The Letter concerning Stephen Bar Sudaili.

11. This letter, addressed to Abraham and Orestes priests of Edessa, was published (Syriac text and English translation) by Frothingham in 1886, in his work Stephen Bar Sudaili, the Syrian Mystic, and the book of Hierotheos, Leyden (Brill). It is extant only in Syr. Ms. 107 of the Vatican (fol. 60r-63v), which is of the eighth century. The close of the letter is wanting. The title is: position and language, in the control of the letter is wanting.

Digitized by Google

⁽¹⁾ The origin of the Acephali, and of the Esaianists, who were only a branch of that sect, does not date from the time of Timothy, but from the time of Peter Mongus, for the Acephali separated themselves from the latter, because he accepted the Henoticon, and would not anathematize the Council of Chalcedon. (Cf. Leontius Byz., De Sectis, Act. V, n.º 2, in Migne, P. G., vol. 86, p. 1229). Their origin is posterior to 482, the year in which the Henoticon was promulgated. As to the origin of the Esaianists, some say that the hand of a certain bishop Eusebius, when dead, had been laid on the head of Esaias. Cf. Neale, ibid., p. 22.

Date. This letter was evidently written before the year 513, for Philoxenus refers to the impossibility of communicating, on account of differences in the faith, with the bishop of Jerusalem, Elias (494-513). Frothingham places the date of its composition between 509 and 512, when the contest between the Orthodox and Monophysite parties was at its height (1).

Bar Sudaili was a Monophysite monk of Edessa, who had become imbued with pantheistic doctrines, probably in Egypt. From Jerusalem where he had retired, he had sent followers of his to Abraham and Orestes, priests of Edessa, with books containing his impious teachings. Hearing of this, Philoxenus wrote to these priests, warning them against Bar Sudaili's errors. According to Philoxenus, he taught that everything was consubstantial with God, that the good and the wicked would receive the same measure of retribution in the next world, that, on the day of the consummation, all things would return into the divinity from which they came. In his letter Philoxenus refutes at some length Bar Sudaili's pantheism and his doctrine on salvation.

IV.

The Letter to the Monks of Teleda.

12. The Syriac text of this letter, together with an introduction and an analysis of the contents, was published in 1886 by Guidi (2). His splendid edition corresponds page for page, column for column, and line for line, with the original which is extant only in Syr. Ms. 136 of the Vatican (fol. 3a-29a). Folios 1, 2, and 6, are wanting, hence the letter shows no title. A Syriac Ms. of the

⁽¹⁾ Stephen Bar Sudaili, p. 58.

⁽²⁾ La lettera di Filosseno ai monaci di Tell'Addå (Teleda), Memoria del Socio Ignazio Guidi. Reale Accademia dei Lincei (anno CCLXXXII, 1884-85), Roma, 1886.

The Ms. having been injured, the reading of the letter was a most difficult and laborious task. Guidi confesses that the decipherment of it cost him much patience and fatigue, and he certainly deserves the gratitude of all Syriac scholars for placing within their reach this letter of Philoxenus, which is one of the best specimens of the controversial literature of that period.

Date. From the last sentence of fol. 3 a, col. 2, Assemani (2) concludes that Philoxenus wrote this letter during his exile (519-523): Pray also for me, not that I may be delivered from this persecution, but that I may derive profit from it, that it may become unto me a cause of eternal life .. In fol. 14b, col. 1, Philoxenus attacks especially one enemy, who. as Guidi remarks (3), may be Paul II, the successor of Severus on the episcopal throne of Antioch. On account of his zeal for the decrees of Chalcedon (he had placed the names of the six hundred and thirty Fathers of the Council in the diptychs) (4), Paul was accused of Nestorianism, and was called "the Jew" by the Monophysites (5). It is probably to him that Philoxenus refers in the following passage: " If any one calls thee by the name of Jew or heathen, thou art angry, and thou art not angry with thyself for voluntarily placing thy portion with them, and contending with us in their own words (6) ".

⁽¹⁾ Published by Guidi, ibid., p. vi.

⁽²⁾ B. O., II, p. 37.

⁽³⁾ Op. cit., p. v, note 1.

⁽⁴⁾ LE QUIEN, Oriens christianus, vol. II, p. 732.

⁽⁵⁾ ABBELOOS and LAMY, Barhebraei Chronicon, vol. I, p. 195. Cf. also the chronological Canon of James of Edessa, edited by Brooks in the Z. D. M. G., vol. 53, p. 318.

⁽⁶⁾ Guidi, op. cit., fol. 14 b, col. 1, lines 14-21.

If the identity of Paul of Antioch with the adversary attacked by Philoxenus be granted, the letter would certainly be posterior to 519, the year in which Severus was exiled by Justin. And it may have been written before the year 521, in which Paul resigned the see of Antioch (1).

This letter was addressed to the Monks of Teleda, according to Guidi (2), the modern Telladi, about half way between Antioch and Aleppo. That these monks shared the opinions of Philoxenus, is evident from Philoxenus' own words: " Therefore, what that faith is for which it is necessary for us to die, in a few words we will show; not as teaching, but because we agree with your truth and your faith, and to show that we are one with you on the question of the divine Economy. And if we have been a seducer and corruptor, as the adversaries say, then so are you also with us. But if we have been sincere and orthodox, and this is the truth, it is a common victory and joy for the holy body of the Church " (3).

The letter to the Monks of Teleda is one of the most important of Philoxenus' works from the standpoint of doctrine and style. It is dogmatic in character and argumentative in form. As we shall have occasion to quote from it frequently when treating of Philoxenus' doctrine on the Incarnation and the Trinity, a brief analysis will suffice here.

After recommending himself to the prayers of the monks that he may derive profit from his sufferings, Philoxenus declares his belief in the Trinity and in the Incarnation of the Son of God. He shows afterwards that the same Christ is both a ante omnes, and a the Firstborn from the dead, because He is God, and the Firstborn from the dead, because He became man. Concerning the death of Christ on the

⁽¹⁾ LE QUIEN, ibid., p. 732.

⁽²⁾ Op. cit., p. 111, note 4.

⁽⁸⁾ Guidi, op. cit., fol. 4a, col. 2, lines 2-21.

Cross, Philoxenus defends against the Nestorians the proposition a The Immortal died is the Angle shows how he understands it. First of all, he postulates faith as a necessary condition to believe that Christ died, because faith is not needed to believe that God is immortal, and that man is mortal. Then he takes up in order his adversaries' objections. These were contained in a letter or treatise ('eggartha), which seems to have had considerable influence on the religious polemics of the times (1). The following are the principal objections with which he deals:

- a) How can God be at the same time mortal and immortal?
- b) Since angels do not die, how can God, Who made them immortal, die?
 - c) If Life died, who gave it life again?
- d) Who ruled the universe, the three days that God was in the grave?

In answer to those different objections, Philoxenus shows that the Word of God suffered only in so far as He became man; that He was not a sufferer by nature, but by His will; that, when He was lying dead in the grave, He was living the life of His divinity, for the life which He commended on the Cross into the hands of His Father, was not His divine life, but the life which He had taken from us.

Towards the end of the letter, Philoxenus rejects the words a Christ King , which Calandion had inserted into the Trisagion of Peter the Fuller. He condemns the addition as bringing in Christ after the three divine persons, or as introducing a fourth person into the Trinity.

Philoxenus closes his letter with an anathema against Nestorius and Theodore of Mopsuestia, and with the declaration that he is ready to die for his faith.

⁽¹⁾ Guidi, op. cit., p. v.

www.libtool.com.cn

CHAPTER III.

THE DOCTRINES OF PHILOXENUS.

A) HIS DOCTRINE ON THE INCARNATION.

General Considerations.

13. The dogma of the Incarnation was the principal theme of religious controversy in the fifth century of the Church. disputes with the Gnostics, the Arians, and the Apollinarists had given rise to many discussions on the person of Christ. opposition to all heresies, the Church always invoked the authority and voice of tradition affirming clearly the unity of the person of the God-man and the existence of two natures in Him. But the manner of union of the two natures had not been explained (1). The Fathers illustrated it by means of figures and comparisons, but did not always speak of it with strict philosophical accuracy. Any explanation that did not preserve the unity of person and the existence and distinction of the two natures in Christ was bound to end in error (2). And such, indeed, was the case. Here we see two different schools at work: the school of Antioch and the school of Alexandria. By applying their own theories to christological questions which, first of all, demanded faith as a necessary condition for their acceptance, they caused the two great heresies of Nestorianism and Eutychianism.

⁽¹⁾ HERGENRÖTHER, Histoire de l'Eglise, traduction de P. Bélet, vol. II, n. 126, p. 201.

⁽²⁾ HERGENRÖTHER, ibid.

The school of Antioch insisted specially on the human element in Christ and on the permanent distinction of the natures after the union (1). Some, however, confounding the notions of nature and person, went so far as to acknowledge not only two natures but two persons also (2). They did not admit that the human nature could exist complete and perfect in Christ without its connatural subsistence or personality, and, instead of uniting the human nature with the divine person, they united a human person with the person of the Word.

Different was the course pursued by the theologians of the school of Alexandria. They dwelt willingly on the divine element in Christ and on the mysterious union of the natures (3). Some applied the trichotomy of Plato to the dogma of the Incarnation, and, believing that man was made up of three factors, body, soul $(\psi v \chi \dot{\eta})$, and spirit $(vo\tilde{v}_5)$, taught that Christ consisted of the body, the soul, and the Logos (4). According to them, the Son of God was incarnate without the rational soul $(vo\tilde{v}_5)$, whose place was taken and filled by the Logos Himself. Others held the absorption of the human nature by and into the divine (5). Others again taught that the body of Christ was consubstantial with His divine nature, and that, on the day of the consummation, all things would become of one nature with the divinity (6).

Still another class combined, so to speak, the tendencies of the two schools; and, although they held that the humanity of Christ was real, nay, consubstantial with ours, they refused to it the name of nature, and spoke, not of two natures in

⁽¹⁾ Cf. Hergenröther, op. cit., vol. II, n. 98, p. 134; also Vacant, Dictionnaire de théologie catholique, art. Antioche, p. 1435.

⁽²⁾ Nestorians.

⁽²⁾ Cf. VACANT, op. cit., art. Alexandrie, p. 805.

⁽⁴⁾ HEFELE, Conciliengeschichte, vol. II, p. 142.

⁽⁵⁾ Strict Eutychians.

⁽⁶⁾ The Syrian Stephen Bar Sudaili.

Christ, but of a twofold or composite nature, consisting of the divinity and the humanity, united after the manner of the soul and the body in man. This heresy is known by the name of Monophysitism in specie (1) or Jacobite Monophysitism, in contradistinction from Eutychianism proper. Philoxenus and Severus of Antioch were the principal champions of this doctrine in the end of the fifth century and the beginning of the sixth, and it may be said that they reduced it to a theological system. loxenus devoted his life to its propagation. Most of his dogmatic works were written in its defence. It is touched upon in many of his writings, particularly in the three letters the text of which is given here for the first time. The Letter to the Monks deals with the errors of Nestorius and Eutyches; the first Letter to the Monks of Beth-Gaugal was written to confirm those monks in the Monophysite doctrines which they shared with him, and the Letter to Zeno may be regarded as Philoxenus' own profession of faith in the mystery of the Incarnation.

In the light of these three documents and of his other published works, we shall consider how Philoxenus opposes Nestorius and Eutyches, and thus we shall be able to form an accurate notion of his views on the Incarnation, and on other points of belief of which he speaks in connection with the main subject.

Philoxenus and Nestorius.

14. There is no doubt that Philoxenus was well acquainted with the tenets of Nestorianism, for he had studied in the Persian school of Edessa, which was at the time openly favorable to that heresy. Ibas had translated into Syriac the works of Theodore of Mopsuestia and Diodorus of Tarsus, and two of his

⁽¹⁾ HEFELE, Conciliengeschichte, vol. II, p. 564.

disciples, Mari of Bēth-Ardašir and Mārūn Elithā, spread the Nestorian doctrines in the East (1). Philozenus was one of those who opposed Ibas (2). This opposition which he began when only a student, he continued all his life, and to his efforts and those of his friends is principally due the fact that Nestorianism became confined to the Syrians of the Persian empire.

Heresy of Nestorius.

15. Nestorius, confounding the notions of nature and person, could not think of the human nature in Christ without its connatural subsistence. Hence, he understood the union of the natures in this way, that a man, integral and complete, was first formed in the Virgin Mary and united afterwards with the Word « Scire autem convenit etiam de dispensatione quam pro nostra salute in Domino Christo Dominus Deus implevit, quod Deus Verbum hominem perfectum adsumpsit ex semine Abraham, et ex David juxta praedicationem Sanctarum Scripturarum, ejus naturae cujus et illi fuerunt ex quorum semine erat, hominem natura perfectum, ex anima rationali et humana carne compositum " (3). We find the same teaching in a homily (4) of the famous Nestorian poet Narses (+ 507), a contemporary of Philoxenus. Speaking of Diodorus, Theodore of Mopsuestia, and Nestorius, he says: "The just have interpreted one essence which is three, and have joined to it a man through the union * (5).

⁽¹⁾ DUVAL, Histoire d'Edesse, p. 177.

⁽a) B. O., I, p. 352.

^(*) Labbe-Mansi, Sacrorum Conciliorum nova et amplissima collectio, vol. V, p. 696.

⁽⁴⁾ Homélie de Narsès sur les trois docteurs Nestoriens, par l'Abbé F. MARTIN, in the Journal Asiatique; Introduction and Syriac text, 9th series, tome XIV, pp. 446-492; French translation, 9th series, tome XV, pp. 469-525.

^(*) Ibid, tome XIV, p. 453, lines 18-19.

Against this doctrine, Philoxenus holds that the Word was not united to a man first created in the womb of the Virgin, but that He became man of the Virgin without ceasing to be God. Thus, in the Letter to Zeno, he says: "But I see, with the eye of faith, a Spiritual Being, Who, without change, became corporal, and Mary brought forth, not a double (Son), as Nestorius said, but the Only-Begotten embodied, Who is not indeed half God and half man, but wholly God because He is from the Father, and wholly man because He became (man) of the Virgin " (1). According to him, the body of the Lord was His own, and not of another, as he says in the Letter to the Monks: "But it is not at all in the sense that a man or a body distinct from God died, that death is spoken of God, as it is not in the sense that a man or the body of another person distinct from God was born that birth is spoken of God; for, it was not a body that was born, but it was God, Who became a body and remained in His nature God; and it was not a body that was crucified, but it was God, Who became man, and in His death did not lose His life " (2).

The Word Θεοτόχος.

16. From Nestorius' theory on the union of the natures, it follows necessarily that Mary cannot be called Θεοτόκος, Mother of God. And this title, in the sense in which Catholics understand it, he always refused to her. Thus, in his first sermon on the Incarnation, he says: " Habet matrem Deus? Ergo excusabilis gentilitas matres diis subintroducens. Paulus ergo mendax, de Christi deitate dicens, ἀπάτωρ, ἀμήτωρ, ἄνευ γενεαλογίας (Heb. vii, 3), id est, sine patre, sine matre, sine generationis

⁽¹⁾ P. 120.

⁽²⁾ P. 99.

narratione " (1). The Word, he argues, merely passed through the Virgin, but was not born of her: "Transisse Deum per Virginem χριστοιόχου, a Scriptura perdoctus sum; natum, non edoctus sum " (2).

Philoxenus teaches clearly that Mary is Mother of God, and that the Word was born of her. In the Letter to the Monks, he says: " For the Virgin was not indeed a channel (through which) God (passed), but His true Mother, because He became man of her * (3). In the Letter to Zeno, speaking of Mary, he uses the words "yaldath 'alaha", which are the exact Syriac equivalent of the Greek Θεοτόχος: " We confess, therefore, that the Virgin is Θεοτόχος (valdath 'alaha), and we believe that the embodied Word, after being born of her corporally, was wrapped in swaddling clothes, sucked milk, received circumcision, was held on (His Mother's) knees, grew in stature and was subject to His parents, all this just as He was born "(4). Furthermore, Philoxenus argues that, by denying to Mary the title of Mother of God, we necessarily deny the divinity of Christ. Thus, in the eighteenth of his Twenty Chapters against Nestorius, he writes: " If the Virgin is Mother of God, He Who was born (of her) is God. But the one, who was born of the Virgin, who is he? Jesus Christ. Now, if Jesus Christ was born of the Virgin, and if the Virgin is Mother of God, then Jesus Christ is God and not a man in whom God dwelt "(5). And he defends this peerless prerogative of Mary not only against the Nestorians, but also against the Eutychians who, by holding that the body of Christ was not consubstantial with ours, were obliged to say that the Word became incarnate in, but not of the Virgin: "We do not say, like the erring disciples of Eutyches,

⁽¹⁾ In Marius Mercator, Migne, P. L., vol. 48, p. 760.

⁽²⁾ Sermon V, n. 8; MIGNE, P. L., ibid., p. 787.

⁽⁸⁾ P. 97.

⁽⁴⁾ P. 122.

⁽⁵⁾ BUDGE, op. cit., vol. II, p. cxxxv.

that He (the Word) was embodied in the Virgin, but not of her; but we believe (that He was embodied) in her and of her, and not in any other way He might have pleased, as those liars claim " (1).

Communicatio Idiomatum.

17. The communicatio idiomatum, by which we predicate the same properties of the two natures, not indeed in the abstract (Godhead and manhood), but in the concrete (God and man), is impossible in the system of Nestorius, because he regards the human nature as existing in its own subsistence, in other words, as a person. Thus he says that we cannot in any way attribute death to God: "Quid Dei nomen deputas morti, quod a divina Scriptura nusquam in mortis commemorationem profertur? Quid, Paulo clamante, cum audias: in viro, in quo definivit Deus, fidem praestans omnibus, suscitans eum a mortuis (Act., xvII, 31), tu natam et mortuam inani imaginatione judicas Deitatem? "(2). And more generally in his fourth counter-anathema against Cyril: " If any one assigns the expressions of the Gospels and Apostolic letters, which refer to the two natures in Christ, to one only of these natures, and attributes even suffering to the Divine Logos, both in the flesh and in the Godhead, let him be anathema "(3). Similar is the teaching of Narses: "To the human nature belong the humiliations of the human nature, and not to the nature raised and exalted above sufferings; to the man belongs all that was written of the Son of man: conception, birth, growth, suffering, and death "(4).

⁽¹⁾ P. 102.

⁽²⁾ Sermon VII, n.º 45: MIGNE, ibid., p. 800.

⁽⁸⁾ HEFELE, Conciliengeschichte, vol. II, p. 174.

⁽⁴⁾ Journal Asiatique, op. cit., tome XIV, p. 476, line 25, and p. 477, lines 1-3.

Thus we see that the Nestorians deny the communicatio idiomatum because they consider the human nature as existing in Christ with its own personality; Philoxenus rejects the communicatio idiomatum by the mere fact that he acknowledges only one nature after the union. He does not admit that we can attribute to the divine person what we deny of the divine nature. Thus, in the ninth of his Twenty Chapters against Nestorius, he writes: " If thou sayest that Christ is two natures, a divine nature and a human nature, and one person, and if thou givest to the divine person the properties of the divine nature and the properties of the human nature, why dost thou give to the divine person humiliation and glory and yet put them away from the divine nature? Is His divine person inferior to His divine nature? What His person is, is not that also His nature? " (1) And, arguing against those who admit two natures and one person in Christ after the union, Philoxenus contends that their doctrine involves us in hopeless confusion. In the sixteenth chapter of the same tract, he says: " How is there no confusion, when thou confessest two natures and one person? For, when thou sayest, two natures which run with their attributes, their properties, and their operations, and when thou attributest the divine things to the divine nature, and the human things to the human nature, how can confusion be avoided? Thou answerest (that thou avoidest confusion) by attributing to one person the properties of the divine nature and the properties of the human nature. But tell me: To which nature does this one person belong? To the divine nature, or to the human? If (it belongs) to the divine nature, behold, the properties of the human nature do not belong to the divine person; and if (it belongs) to the human nature, behold, the properties of the divine nature do not belong to the human person. Is there a greater confusion than

⁽¹⁾ BUDGE, op. cit., vol. II, p. cxxix.

that which admits two natures working in one person? Tell me: Does this one person belong to both natures, or to one only? If it belongs to both, then each nature constitutes the half of the person; if it belongs to one nature only, then, either the divine nature or the human nature is without a person. If, on the contrary, this one person is both divine and human, then there is only one nature which is both divine and human. If there is not one nature, there is not one person of Christ not only to one person, but also to one nature which is both divine and human, as he says in the Letter to the Monks of Beth-Gaugal: "He who does not confess that glory and humiliation are of one Son, Who is one person and one nature who was embodied, such a one is an embodied devil of (3).

Union of the Natures.

18. Regarding the human nature of Christ as a person, Nestorius unites it with the Godhead only externally, and for him the Incarnation means simply the inhabitation of the Son of God in a man bern of the Virgin: "Verbum ergo Deus non est natus ex Maria, sed in illo, qui ex ea natus est, mansit " (3). According to him, there was only an adhesion of a man to the person of the Word, and the Word dwelt in him as in a temple: "Aliud quidem Deus Verbum est, qui erat in templo, quod operatus est Spiritus, et aliud templum praeter habitantem Deum " (4).

Philoxenus rejects the theory of a mere adhesion of a body to the person of the Word in the Letter to the Monks of Beth-Gaugal: "He who imagines that there was only a mere adhe-

⁽¹⁾ Budge, ibid., p. cxxxIII.

⁽²⁾ P. 113.

⁽³⁾ MIGNE, P. L., vol. 48, p. 769.

⁽⁴⁾ MIGNE, ibid., p. 784.

sion (of a body) to the person of Christ, and not a real embodiment in the acknowledgment of one person, such a one has no relationship with Christ, (1). And again in the Letter to Zeno, he says: " I confess, therefore, one (only) person of the Word, and I believe that this same (person) is also man, that is, God Who became man; not that He dwelt in a man, not that He built to Himself a temple in which He dwelt " (2). According to Nestorius, this inhabitation of the Word in the man born of the Virgin, consisted in a certain moral union in virtue of which the Word dwelt in him as God dwelt in the prophets of old: " Propterea vero Unigenitus Dei Filius Verbum dicitur incarnatus, quia semper est cum homine illo sancto, quem Virgo peperit; quemadmodum autem fuit cum prophetis, sic, inquit (Nestorius), est cum isto, sed majori connexione » (3). This doctrine Philoxenus rejects in the Letter to the Monks of Beth Gaugal: " He who says that the infinite God dwelt in a finite man as He dwelt in the Prophets and in the just, and does not confess that He Who, as God, is infinite, is the Same Who became finite by becoming man, (such a one) has not as yet passed from a corrupt error into the fold of the knowledge of Christ , (4).

Consequences of Nestorius' Theory.

19. On account of the moral union existing between the Word and the man whom He assumed, Nestorius spoke of one authority, one dignity common to both: "Dic de assumente quod Deus sit; adjice de assumpto quod servi forma; infer postea conjunctionis dignitatem, quod communis sit duorum auctoritas, quod eadem sit duorum dignitas; manentibusque naturis, confitere uni-

⁽¹⁾ P. 112.

⁽²⁾ P. 120.

⁽³⁾ HARDUIN, Acta Conciliorum, vol. I, p. 1319.

⁽⁴⁾ P. 112.

tatem " (1). The words of Narses, in the homily already quoted, are almost identical: "One is the Word, the Son of the Father, without beginning, and one is the man from the humanity of Adam. The Son of God is two by nature, in every thing that belongs to the Supreme Being and to the man, but one by honor and by authority " (2). It is only on the basis of that moral union that Nestorius admits one Christ, and, in Christ, one prosopon, one will, one operation. Similarly, the Nestorian Syrians, in their doctrine on the Incarnation, speak of two substances ('ousiā), two essences ('īthūthā), two natures (keyānā), two hypostases (qenomā), but of one prosopon (parṣopā), one image (ṣalmā), one will (ṣebhyānā), one operation (maʿbedhānūthā), one virtue (ḥaylā), and one power (šulţānā) (3).

According to Philoxenus, Christ is one not merely because there is only one person in Him, but in the sense also that, after the Incarnation, there is only one nature in Him, a nature consisting of the divinity and the humanity, as he says in the Letter to Zeno: "Of the one Son, therefore, are the two generations, the one from the Father and the other from the Virgin; of the one Son, and not of two natures, otherwise He would not be one. And if we admit (in Him) nature and nature, we must necessarily admit person and person, and consequently we must acknowledge two Sons and two Gods "(4).

As another consequence of his theory on the union of the two natures, Nestorius claimed that the same worship must be given to both: "Propter utentem illud indumentum quo utitur colo; propter absconditum adoro quod foris videtur; inseparabilis ab eo qui foris paret est Deus" (5). Not only is the same worship

⁽¹⁾ MIGNE, ibid., p. 766.

⁽²⁾ Journal Asiatique, op. cit., tome XIV, p. 453, lines 22-25.

⁽³⁾ ASSEMANI, B. O., III, pars 2a, p. 218. Cf. also Chabot, De S. Isaaci Ninivitae vita, scriptis et doctrina, p. 23.

⁽⁴⁾ P. 121.

⁽⁵⁾ MIGNE, P. L., vol. 48, p. 762.

given to both, but the man in whom the Word dwelt is actually called God, and honored as such: " Non per seipsum Deus est qui in utero figuratus est: nam si sic esset, essemus hominis vere cultores; sed quoniam in assumpto Deus est, ex illo qui assumpsit, qui assumptus est, appellatus est, et appellatur Deus » (1). Hence it is that Nestorius was accused of introducing a fourth person into the Trinity. Thus, Proclus, bishop of Cyzicus, in a sermon preached in Constantinople against Nestorius, said: "Si alter Christus et alter Dei Verbum, non jam Trinitas, sed quaternitas erit * (2). Philoxenus makes the same objection against the Nesto-In the Letter to the Monks of Beth-Gaugal, he says: "He who distinguishes Christ into two does not worship the Trinity " (3). Also, in the Letter to the Monks, he writes: " For he who counts another man with God, introduces a quaternity in his doctrine and corrupts the dogma of the Holy Trinity. With pagans is such a doctrine to be counted, for, like them, it errs inventing a new god, against that which is written, 'There shall not be to thee a new god'. It adores a new god, a man born of a woman * (4). He urges again the same objection against Catholics for acknowledging two natures in Christ, as we may infer from a passage in his short treatise on the heresies of Mani, Marcion, and others: " And that addition (the definition of two natures in Christ) which took place at Chalcedon, admits a quaternity and brings in Christ after the Trinity " (5).

Finally, according to the Nestorians, the man, in whom the Word dwelt, merited the title of God by dying for us on the Cross and paying Adam's debt, on account of which God raised him from the dead, bestowed immortality upon him, and exalted him (6). Philoxenus rejects this doctrine and teaches emphati-

⁽¹⁾ MIGNE, ibid.

^(*) MIGNE, ibid., p. 780.

^(*) P. 110.

⁽⁴⁾ P. 103.

⁽⁵⁾ Budge, op. cit., vol. II, p. cxxxvii, line 17.

⁽⁶⁾ Cf. Labbe-Mansi, op. cit., vol. V, p. 696.

cally that the Word of God was born and died for us, and that He is immortal by nature, as he says in the Letter to the Monks of Beth-Gaugal: " He who says that Christ was justified by His works, and became the equal of the Most High by the practice of His virtues, and that He is not exalted and is not God by His nature, such a one is without any virtue and is filled with the malice of the devil * (1). And he urges, furthermore, the irresistible argument that, if God has not suffered for us in the flesh, we have not been redeemed: " If the death and the suffering were of another, the redemption and life which were merited for me would be of man, not of God, (2). This argument he develops at greater length in his Letter to the Monks of Teleda: " By His grace." He (Christ) became our brother; by His grace, we became His brothers. For by the grace (of God), there are two wonderful things: the Most High was humbled, and the humble ones were exalted. God became man, and the sons of men (became) sons There was first the humiliation of God and, after that, the exaltation of man. For he who was low could not be exalted near Him Who was high, unless the High One descended to the low one. Such was the beginning of God's new way towards us 7 (3).

Philoxenus and Eutyches.

20. One of the most zealous opponents of Nestorianism was Eutyches, archimandrite of a monastery outside the walls of Constantinople (4). He boasted that he had fought for the faith at Ephesus. Although he was not present there in person, there is no doubt that he contributed greatly to the overthrow of the party of Nestorius (5). However his intemperate zeal and super-

⁽¹⁾ P. 113.

⁽²⁾ P. 109.

⁽⁸⁾ Guidi, op. cit., fol. 5a, col. 2, lines 3-23.

⁽⁴⁾ HRFELE, op. cit., vol. II, p. 317.

⁽⁵⁾ HEFELE, ibid.

of heresy every one who spoke of two natures. Unable to grasp the difference between the Nestorian heresy and the Catholic doctrine, he rejected not only two persons in Christ, but two natures as well, and admitted only one nature after the union. He was excommunicated by the Council of Chalcedon (451), but his heresy did not end with his condemnation. It was introduced successively into Palestine, Egypt, and Syria (1). How rapid was its progress may be seen from the fact that, a few years after the death of Eutyches, the two great sees of Antioch and Alexandria were occupied by Monophysite bishops.

The error was held in various forms. Although all Monophysites admitted only one nature in Christ, they differed in explaining how the Godhead and the humanity could form one nature; hence the anomalous fact that many of them, especially those who were not of Greek origin, whilst professing one nature like the Eutychians, anathematized alike Eutyches and the Council of Chalcedon. This is particularly true of Philoxenus, as is clear from many passages of his writings in which he speaks of the doctrines of Eutyches. These we shall consider presently.

Heresy of Eutyches.

21. Nestorius denies the unity of the person of Christ; Eutyches exaggerates it, and goes so far as to teach the unity of nature (2). He acknowledges only one nature after the union, that of God made flesh and man: « Post incarnationem vero Dei Verbi, hoc est, post nativitatem Domini Nostri Jesu Christi, unam naturam adorare, et hanc Dei incarnati et inhumanati » (3). He interprets in his own heretical sense the famous words of Cyril to Succensus: «But we say one Son, and, as the Fathers have spoken, one

⁽¹⁾ **HEFELE**, op. cit., vol. II, p. 564.

^(*) HERGENRÖTHER, op. cit., vol. II, n.º 142, p. 228.

⁽²⁾ HARDUIN, Acta Conciliorum, vol. II, p. 142.

incarnate nature of God the Word \circ (1). As is evident, however, from the context of the letter, from his own explanation to Acacius of Melitene (2), and from the testimony of others (3), Cyril, in this passage, takes the word " nature \circ (φ $\dot{\varphi}$ σ_{i} ς) in the meaning of "subsistence or person \circ . Eutyches takes it in the meaning of "nature \circ , not indeed in the sense simply that the divine nature was united with the human, but in a compound sense, so as to admit after the Incarnation, after the union of the Godhead and the flesh, only one nature. Hence, he says that Christ is from two natures, $\dot{\epsilon}x$ $\dot{\delta}vo$ $\dot{\varphi}v\dot{\sigma}\varepsilon\omega\nu$, but not in two, $\dot{\epsilon}v$ $\dot{\delta}vo$ $\dot{\varphi}v\dot{\sigma}\varepsilon\sigma\iota v$: "Confiteor ex duabus naturis fuisse Dominum Nostrum ante adunationem; post adunationem vero unam naturam confiteor \circ (4).

Like Eutyches, Philoxenus admits only one nature in Christ after the union, one nature consisting of the divinity and the humanity. In the Letter to the Monks of Bēth-Gaugal, we read: "He who says that the name of Christ signifies two natures distinct and separate the one from the other, and not one nature (keyānā), and one prosopon (parṣopā), and one person (qenomā), who was embodied and became man of the Virgin, such a one denies the faith and is worse than those who do not believe " (5). He also misinterprets the words of Cyril which we have quoted above. The expression "one nature who was embodied " is very common in Philoxenus' writings, and it always occurs in a Monophysite sense, as implying only one nature in Christ after the union. In the same Letter to the Monks of Bēth-Gaugal, he says: "He who does not confess that glory and humiliation are of one Son, Who is one person and one nature who was embodied, such

⁽¹⁾ Αλλ' ένα φαμέν Υίον, καὶ ώς οἱ Πατέρες εἰρήκασι, μίαν φύσιν τοῦ Θεοῦ Λόγου σεσαρχωμένην. Μίσης, P. G., vol. 77, p. 232.

⁽a) MIGNE, ibid., p. 181.

⁽³⁾ Thus Justinian, Liber adv. Origen., in Migne, P. G., vol. 86, p. 1001, says: « Καὶ αὐτὸς ὁ πατης (Κυρίλλος) ὁσάχις μίαν φύσιν εἶπε τοῦ λόγου σεσαρχωμένην, ἐπὶ τούτου τῷ τῆς φύσεως ὀνόματι ἀντὶ ὑποστάσεως ἐχρήσατο n.

⁽⁴⁾ HARDUIN, op. cit., vol. II, p. 166.

⁽⁵⁾ P. 111.

a one is an embodied devil " (1). Thus again, in the first of his Twenty Chapters against Nestorius, he writes: " If God the Word and His nature are one, and if God is not one thing, and His nature another, why, when thou comest to (the word) 'God', dost thou say 'one God who was embodied', and when thou comest to the word 'nature', why dost thou not say 'one nature who was embodied', instead of two natures? " (2) And in the seventh chapter of the same tract, he argues: "If the Word, after He was embodied, is two natures, the Word, after He was embodied, is two persons also; but if the person of the embodied Word is one, the nature of the embodied Word is one also, for the person of the Word is not inferior to His nature, (3). So far Philoxenus agrees with Eutyches, and, by the expression "one embodied nature of the Word, he understands one nature after the Incarnation, one nature consisting of the divinity and the humanity. He also says in his Letter to the Monks that Christ is from two (men tarten), that is, from the divinity and the humanity: " Let us beware of the impiety of those who say that the Virgin brought forth God and a man; who divide and count two in Him Who is the Only Son of God, Who is from two, from the divinity and from the humanity; (of the impiety of those) who divide (Christ), and in this one God Who was embodied, attribute humiliation to the one and glory to the other, power to the one and weakness to the other " (4).

Manner of Union.

22. Thus, we see that Philoxenus agrees with the Eutychians in teaching one nature in Christ after the Incarnation; but he differs from them in his explanation of the union. As St. Thomas

⁽¹⁾ P. 113.

⁽²⁾ Budge, op. cit., vol. II, p. cxxiii.

⁽⁸⁾ BUDGE, ibid., p. cxxvi.

⁽⁴⁾ P. 98.

observes, some one thing may result from the union of two others in three ways: | c Unoc modo ex duobus integris perfectis remanentibus; quod quidem fieri non potest, nisi in iis quorum forma est compositio, vel ordo, vel figura...; alio modo, fit aliquid unum ex perfectis, sed transmutatis...; tertio modo, fit aliquid ex aliquibus non permixtis, sed imperfectis, sicut ex anima et corpore fit homo, (1). And he shows that none of these ways could take place in the Incarnation; not the first, because it would make the union of the two natures merely accidental; nor the second, because it would imply mutability in the divine nature; nor the third, because it would suppose the divine nature and the human nature to be both incomplete ratione naturae. tyches did not explain himself clearly on the manner of the union (2), but there is no doubt that those of his disciples, who were called strict Monophysites, taught a mingling or confusion of the two natures (3). Philozenus rejects this explanation on the ground that it does away with the immutability of the Word. Thus, in the Letter to the Monks, he says: " there having been neither change, nor mixture, nor confusion in His nature, as God Himself said by the Prophet, "I am, and I change not ". He Who was not made is not mutable; He Who was not created Therefore, He became man without change; He cannot change. was embodied, and remained as He is, spiritual (4). his Letter to Zeno, he tells us how he understands the words of St. John "And the Word was made flesh ": "With John I cry out that the Word became flesh and dwelt among us, not by changing, God forbid! for 'to change' is a modification, but 'to become' belongs to the Economy (of the Word). learn from John and Paul that (the Word) has become; but that He was changed, none of those who saw and served the Word

⁽¹⁾ Summa Theologica, pars 3a, q. 2a, art. I.

⁽a) Cf. Hergenröther, op. cit., vol. II, no 144, p. 230.

^(*) Cf. HARDUIN, op. cit., vol. II, p. 454.

⁽⁴⁾ P. 96-97.

(ever) said. Besides, God the Word Himself teaches by His Prophet, 'I am the Lord, and I change not'. Where you would suppose that, by becoming embodied, He was changed, He testifies all the more to the truth of His ewn immutability, and, as if already embodied from the Virgin, He cries out to those who think that perhaps He was changed by becoming (man), 'I am the Lord, and I change not' " (1).

Philoxenus holds then that the Word was not changed by becoming man, and so far he is orthodox; but he draws a wrong conclusion from the truth which he admits, for he refuses to consider the humanity as a nature; and, to safeguard the immutability of the Word, he argues against Nestorians and Catholics alike that by teaching two natures after the Incarnation they admit a change, since before the Incarnation there is only one nature. Hence, his favorite expression " it is after the Incarnation as before *, which in his writings does not mean simply that the Word was not changed by becoming man, but implies besides, that, as there is only one nature before the Incarnation, so there can be but one after the Incarnation. He did not acknowledge that the assuming of the human nature by the person of the Word did not perfect the Word in any way, and did not interfere in the least with the immutability of the divine He regards the divinity and the humanity in Christ as forming one nature which the Jacobites call a composite (merakkebhā) or double ('affīfā) nature (2), and the example he adduces to illustrate the union, is the example of the union of the soul and the body into one human nature (3). tion is impossible, for the divinity and the humanity are complete in Christ, whilst the body and the soul of man are both incomplete ratione naturae.

⁽¹⁾ P. 121.

⁽²⁾ B. O., II, p. 25.

⁽³⁾ B. O., II, p. 26.

But although Philoxenus insists on the fact that the Word became man without change, he is not always consistent, and some of his expressions would point to a confusion of the two natures in Christ. Thus, in the tract which is a theological discussion between a Nestorian and an Orthodox (Monophysite) (1), the Nestorian asks: "Is the humanity, (which the divinity has put on), finite? ", and the Orthodox (Monophysite) answers: "We believe that it is infinite, for there is not in it (the divinity) duality of natures and quaternity of persons, but only unification of natures and trinity of persons. It is after the embodiment of the Dispensation (Incarnation) as before " (2).

Monotheletism.

23. One of the logical consequences of the heresy of Eutyches was Monotheletism, for if there is only one nature in Christ, there can be but one will and one operation in Him. Hence, the Council of Chalcedon, in defining against Eutyches the existence of the two natures, states also that the properties of each nature are preserved: "Nusquam sublata differentia naturarum propter unitionem, magisque salva proprietate utriusque naturae" (3).

Like the Eutychians, Philoxenus admits Monotheletism, and teaches categorically that there is only one will and one operation in Christ. Thus, in his profession of faith entitled characters, he says: "We do not acknowledge in Him (Christ) two sons, nor two persons, nor two wills, nor two natures; one, God, and

⁽¹⁾ This tract is extant in Syr. Ms. 135 of the Vatican library, and is as yet unpublished. We quote from a copy in the possession of Prof. Hyvernat.

ه. العدار مصطنعاتها ها . ا. موصفيع والا مصطنعال(د) وال مرحم حق انسوا متبا وفصحها منقطا الاحكود سيحا متبا والاسلاما منقطا الووم مطرعمها وحطة مطرعمها

^(*) HARDUIN, op. cit., vol. II, p. 455.

the other, man * (1). And again, in the same document: " If any one confesses in the Only Begotten two persons or two wills, or admits a distinction of persons after the union in the womb, let him be anathema * (2). Such is also the doctrine of his famous neighbor and contemporary, Jacob of Serugh, who, in his second Letter to the Monks of Mar Bassus, says: " I anathematize also those who, after the union, divide, and confess, and count in one Christ (two) natures with their properties, attributes, and operations, so as to give to God what is God's and to man what is man's * (3).

Reality of the Body of Christ.

24. Another important question in christological controversies was the reality of the body of Christ. By holding the confusion of the two natures and the absorption of the human by and into the divine, strict Eutychians were led to deny the consubstantiality of the body of Christ with ours. Hence the assertion of Eutyches that, although the Blessed Virgin was consubstantial with us, the body of Christ was not (4). He did not explain himself on the origin of the body of the Lord. According to Gennadius (5), he taught with the Gnostics that the Word brought His body down from heaven. This charge, however, he denied at the Council of Constantinople in 448 (6). Philoxenus accuses him of holding that the body of Christ was made out of nothing.

⁽¹⁾ B. O., II, p. 33.

⁽²⁾ Ibid., p. 34.

⁽³⁾ Z. D. M. G., vol. 30, p. 235, lines 15-17. The letters of Jacob of Serugh to the Monks of Mar Bassus and to Paul of Edessa have been published and translated by Abbé Martin in the Z. D. M. G., vol. 30, pp. 217-275. They prove beyond all reasonable doubt that Jacob of Serugh was a Monophysite.

⁽⁴⁾ α υς οὐθὲ τὸ σῶμα τοῦ Κυρίου ὁμοούσιον ἡμῖν ἔλεγεν εἶναι », in Migne, P. G., vol. 86 bis, p. 2445.

⁽⁵⁾ Liber Dogmatum, in MIGNE, P. L., vol. 58, p. 981.

^(*) HEFELE, Conciliengeschichte, vol. II, p. 322.

Whatever may have been Eutyches' own opinion on this point, there is no doubt that his doctrine leaned towards Docetism, and consequently did not appeal to the Syrian Monophysites who had been schooled in the traditions of Antioch and of Edessa. This may account partly for the fact that his doctrines found but few followers among the Monophysites of the East; indeed, they made no difficulty in anathematizing Eutyches and his opinions (1).

Philoxenus, by teaching that the divinity and the humanity in Christ, although forming but one nature, are not confused nor mingled in any way, is able, from his own point of view, to deny some of the consequences which follow necessarily from Eutyches' doctrine: and so, in the Letter to the Monks, he rejects the Gnostic and Eutychian theories about the origin of the body of the Lord: " He (the Word) did not bring His body down from heaven, as Bardesanes said; nor was He seen under a false appearance or a phantom, according to the blasphemy of Mani and Marcion; nor was (His body) made from nothing, as said Eutyches the fool; nor was His nature changed, as the wicked Arius and Eunomius imagine; nor was He, Who was embodied, without (human) intelligence, according to the blasphemous doctrine of Apollinaris; but He Who is perfect God took a body, and became perfect man of the Virgin " (2). Hence he asserts repeatedly that the Word became incarnate in the Virgin, and of the Virgin, and not simply in the Virgin as Eutyches contended: " The Word was not embodied in the Virgin, as if not also of the Virgin, but He truly became man in her and of her (3).

The reality of the body of Christ is a frequent theme in Philoxenus' writings. He dwells on it at great length in his

⁽¹⁾ RENAUDOT, Historia patriarcharum alexandrinorum jacobitarum, p. 115.

⁽²⁾ P. 97.

⁽⁸⁾ P. 97.

Letter to the Monks of Teleda, and says not only that the humanity of Christ is real, but that, through the manifestation of that same real humanity, we are led to believe in the divinity of the Son of God. Commenting on St. Luke, xxiv, 39, he says: " To this end Jesus was seen in true manifestation, that He might teach us that His hidden divinity is true. For, O heretic, Thomas did not touch an appearance, but the real humanity of God. To show us that He was not changed by becoming incarnate, He (Christ) said, 'I have flesh and bones', but did not say, 'I am (flesh and bones)', lest by saying 'I am' thou shouldst suppose a change. For He said: 'A spirit has not flesh and bones as you see that I have ', and not '(as you see) that I am '. I am a Spirit because I am God; I have flesh and bones because I became a body and was not changed. Touch the flesh and the bones, and make certain that I am; put thy hand in the places of the nails and of the lance, and believe that I became incarnate. Hear the words 'I have 'and not 'I am', and believe that I was not changed. By the touch make sure of the corporeity; from the word believe the immutability; with the finger touch the corporeity; from the word of doctrine understand the spirituality " (1). Again, in the same letter, commenting on the first verse of the first epistle of St. John, Philoxenus writes: " How can this be ' We have handled and have seen with our eyes the Word of life' if it was an appearance and not a reality that was assumed, as the blasphemer Eutyches said? How can this be 'We have handled the Word ', if, as he says, it was an appearance that was handled? And this again 'Touch and see because I have flesh and bones? Therefore, let us cry out against these two (Nestorius and Eutyches) with a voice full of truth and life and faith, that He Who was touched was God incarnate, the Word

⁽¹⁾ Guidi, op. cit., fol. 20a, col. 2, line 16-fol. 20b, col. 1, line 21.

Who became flesh truly, not a man distinct from God, nor an appearance without reality " (1).

Not only does Philoxenus insist on the reality of the humanity of Christ, but he urges against his opponents the irresistible argument that, if the body of Christ was not real, two of the great ends of the Incarnation — the reparation of fallen human nature and our sonship with God through Christ — could not be obtained (2). Thus in the Letter to Zeno, he says: " For He (the Word) did not bring to Himself a body from heaven as the foolish Valentinus and Bardesanes assert; nor was His embodiment from nothing, because He did not wish to redeem a creature that did not exist, but He wished to renew that which, created by Him, had become old " (3). In the Letter to the Monks he says that, unless the Son of God took upon Himself our humanity, we could not have become the sons of God: "Herein then is a great mystery of profound love and of ineffable salvation, that He Who is became, not that He might be since He is, but that we, through His becoming (Incarnation), might become the sons of God " (4). And again, in the Letter to Zeno, "The Word, therefore, became something that He was not, and remained something that we were not (but became),

⁽¹⁾ Guidi, op. cit., fol. 20b, col. 2, line 19 - fol. 21a, col. 1, line 6.

^(*) From this we see how groundless is the assertion of Theophanes (Migne, P. G., vol. 108, p. 384) and of Cedrenus (Migne, P. G., vol. 121, p. 693) who accuse Philoxenus of Manicheism. This charge is sufficiently refuted by his opinion on the reality of the body of Christ; besides, he condemns Mani and Manicheism explicitly. In the Letter to the Monks of Beth-Gaugal, he says: "He who says that the aspect of Christ was a false appearance, and not a real embodiment from the nature of the Virgin, is a disciple of Mani and Marcion" (p. 114). And in the Letter to the Monks of Teleda, "It was not an appearance that the Apostles touched, O Manichean, nor a mere man, O Jew". (Guidi, op. cit., fol. 20b, col. 1, lines 26-29).

⁽⁸⁾ P. 119.

⁽⁴⁾ P. 101.

that is, sons of God. For we became sons of God, although our nature was not changed * (1).

www.libtool.com.cn

Other Consequences of the Eutychian Theory.

25. From their theory on the union of the two natures in Christ, the Eutychians could not avoid one or the other of the two alternatives: either the divinity suffered, or the sufferings of Christ were not real. Many of them held that the divine nature in Christ suffered, as we know from the preamble to the definition of the Council of Chalcedon: "Et illos qui passibilem deitatem Unigeniti ausi sunt dicere, a sacro coetu expellit (Synodus) " (2). Others attributed suffering to the whole Trinity. Such was probably the meaning intended by Peter Fuller (3), patriarch of Antioch, when, in the year 477 (4), he added to the Trisagion (5),

⁽¹⁾ P. 119. Cf. St. Augustine, De civitate Dei, lib. XXI, c. XV, in Migne, P. L., vol. 41, p. 729: "Unicus enim natura Dei Filius, propter nos misericordia factus est filius hominis, ut nos natura filii hominis, filii Dei per illum gratia fieremus".

⁽²⁾ HARDUIN, op. cit., vol. II, p. 455.

⁽³⁾ Cf. TILLEMONT, Mémoires, vol. XVI, p. 301.

⁽⁴⁾ BARONIUS, Annales eccl., anno 477.

⁽⁵⁾ During the year 446, earthquakes were frequently felt in Constantinople. One day, the earth shaking more violently than usual, the clergy and the faithful withdrew into the country, and offered public prayers for the salvation of their city. During one of these public services, a boy was suddenly taken up into the air before the bishop and the people, and it is said that he heard the angels sing: αγιος ὁ θεὸς, αγιος ἰσχυρὸς, αγιος αθάνατος, ελέησον ήμας. Such was the origin of the Trisagion. In the Latin Church it is sung in Greek on Good Friday during the exposition of the Cross to the veneration of the faithful, and it is recited in Latin at Prime of the Ferial office. Peter the Fuller inserted into the Trisagion the words " δ σταυρωθείς δι' ήμας ». This addition was capable of a twofold interpretation. The Catholics who accepted it, and some Monophysites, understood it as referring to Christ alone. Other Monophysites, and especially the Theopaschites, understood this addition as meaning that the whole Trinity had suffered. To remove all ambiguity, Calandion, patriarch of Antioch (482-485), added the words " Χριστος Βασιλεύς " after αθάνατος,

the words "Who wast crucified for us", which gave rise to bitter theological disputes, and, on one occasion, nearly cost the emperor Anastasius his throne and his life (1).

By denying the confusion of the divinity and the humanity in that one nature which he admits, Philoxenus is able, from his own point of view, to avoid the conclusion that the divinity suffered. He clearly teaches that Christ suffered only in the flesh. The many passages in which he speaks of the death of the Saviour leave no doubt as to his belief on this point.

Thus, in the Letter to the Monks of Beth-Gaugal, he says: "The Spiritual One did not die in so far as He is spiritual, and God did not suffer in so far as He is God. He has no beginning, to the extent that He is without beginning in his generation from the Father. He suffered, therefore, because He took a body, and He died because He became a brother of mortals " (2). In the Letter to Zeno, speaking of the death and of the immortality of Christ, he writes: " The Cross is the herald of the death and of the immortality of God; for, until then, we believed by hearing that God is immortal; but, on the Cross, experience has shown (that) both (were true), for, whilst tasting death, He remained living. Death could not attack and destroy His life; but, by His death, the power of death was destroyed, so that this death (of the Son), after His becoming (man), is a For He Who suffered death for us was not mortal as miracle. one of us, otherwise the power of death over mortals would not have been destroyed. From all men we know that what is mortal shall die; but, that the Immortal be considered as having

thus referring explicitly the crucificion to Christ alone. Cf. TILLEMONT, *Mémoires*, vol. XIV, p. 713 sqq.; Baronius, anno 446, *Annales*, vol. VII, p. 579 sqq.

⁽¹⁾ Gibbon, Decline and Fall, ed. Milman, vol. VI, p. 30; Marin Les Moines de Constantinople, p. 272.

⁽a) P. 109.

died corporally, is something new which took place once on the Cross ** (1).

It is true that Philoxenus accepted the Trisagion with the addition made by Peter the Fuller, but he understood the addition to apply to Christ alone, as can be seen from the Letter to the Monks: " Nor did He (Christ) become immortal by being justified by His works, as the wicked followers of Nestorianism assert; but by His nature He is immortal because He is God, as the whole Church of God cries out in the Trisagion: " Thou art Holy, God; Thou art Holy, Strong One; Thou art Holy, Immortal One; (Thou) Who wast crucified for us, have mercy on us " (2). Thus far it might be objected that he agrees with the Theopaschites in attributing death to the divinity, but he immediately explains himself, and tells us what interpretation he puts on the Trisagion, and how he understands the addition of Peter the Fuller: " Thus does the true Church believe, thus do the tongues which are moved by truth cry out that He, Who is immortal by nature, God the Word, was crucified in body for all, not that a body or a man distinct from Him was suspended on the Cross " (3).

This doctrine is explained more fully in his Letter to the Monks of Teleda, and he shows clearly that the Word suffered only in so far as He became man. Thus, to the objection of his adversaries, "Since angels do not die, how is it believed that God died?" he answers: "First, to ask this question about God is a blasphemy. When thou hearest that God has done any thing, thou shouldst not ask how. Secondly, the angel, who is immortal by his nature, did not become man. But we first say of God, of Whom we confess that He died, that He became man, and then we attribute death to His person, so that it is

⁽¹⁾ P. 123-124.

^(*) P. 101.

⁽⁸⁾ P. 101.

seen that it is the death of His becoming, not of his essence, for the essence of God is above death " (1). And he says, furthermore, that the objection drawn from the angels and other spiritual natures is irrelevant, because none of them became incarnate, and that the Word alone died because He alone, of all spiritual natures, took a body: " Corporally, therefore, God died, and not spiritually, as He was born according to the flesh, and not in His essence. Not similar then is the example which thou bringest. If thou shouldst say that He tasted death before He became man of the Virgin, thou couldst well refute my argument by the example of spiritual natures; but if He is the only one Who had corporeity, and if it is not found in any other spiritual nature, nor in the eternal persons of the Father and of the Holy Ghost, nor in the spiritual nature of the angels, He, Who alone among spiritual natures, had by His will corporeity, to Him alone applies the fact of death, which cannot happen in the other spiritual natures. For, if it were written that other spiritual natures were incarnate, then death could be predicated of other spiritual natures; if, on the contrary, corporeity was not in any of them, then none of them tasted death. The Word alone became a body, as it is written, and in Him alone was the mystery of death accomplished corporally. alone of all spirits became a true body, so also, He alone of all spirits tasted death truly. Whilst the Father did not die, nor the Holy Ghost, nor any of the created spiritual natures. He alone was subject to death, because He alone became man from our nature " (2). And, in the Letter to the Monks of Beth-Gaugal, Philoxenus asserts that Christ lying in the grave as man, was, at that very time, the Ruler of the universe: " When He lay and reclined dead in School, He was preparing, for all, resurrection, was ruling the hosts of heaven and all creatures by

⁽¹⁾ Guidi, op. cit., fol. 13a, col. 2, line 22 - fol. 13b, col. 1, line 13.

⁽a) Guidi, op. cit., fol. 15a, col. 2, line 26 - fol. 15b, col. 2, line 13.

His nod, creating bodies and putting the limbs together and breathing in the souls, liand governing the worlds and all creatures, as God Who is everywhere " (1).

It is evident, therefore, from all these passages that Philozenus attributes death to the Word of God, only in so far as He became man. He gives this as the belief of his church at the time, and such is, according to Renaudot (2) and Assemani (3), the common doctrine of the Jacobites.

As we remarked above, the Eutychians who denied that the divinity in Christ had suffered were forced to admit with the Gnostics that the sufferings of Christ were not real. It was a necessary consequence of their doctrine on the origin of the body of the Lord, which they said was not consubstantial with ours; for, as Philoxenus expresses it, " where there is no true corporeity, there cannot be any true death » (4). Philoxenus. however, by holding fast the reality of the humanity of Christ, puts himself in a position to deny the conclusion which the Eutychians could not escape. In his Letter to the Monks of Teleda, he expresses clearly his belief in the genuineness of the passion and death of Christ. Arguing against the Gnostics and the Eutychians, he says: " Do not corrupt, O rebel, the word of faith, and do not make it a phantom. For I did not say, and I do not say, and God forbid that I should say that those things were performed in the divine Economy in a false ap-The becoming (man) and birth, and likewise the passion and death and all the human actions between these, all this took place really and truly, as becomes God. Not, indeed, as the angels appeared, was God seen in the world; not as the angels ate and drank in the house of Abraham and in the house

⁽¹⁾ P. 108.

⁽²⁾ Lit. or. coll., vol. II, p. 70.

⁽⁸⁾ B. O., II, p. 36.

⁽⁴⁾ Guidi, op. cit., fol. 15a, col. 2, lines 2-6.

of Lot, did God eat and drink in the world. That (in the angels) took place in appearance only; this (in God) in the truth of corporeity. That is not similar to this, as said the heretic Eutyches and the followers of his diabolical doctrine = (1).

Theory of Philoxenus on the Sufferings of Christ.

26. Although Philoxenus teaches that Christ suffered truly and not in appearance, his theory concerning the nature of these sufferings and the manner in which the Saviour assumed and bore the infirmities and needs of humanity, is not in harmony with his own principles. Many passages in his writings go to show that he did not regard the body of Christ as passible by nature. Thus, in the Letter to the Monks, he says: « Everything that He (the Word) became, He became, not for Himself, but for us. For He vas not a sufferer by His nature, because, if He had suffered being a sufferer (by nature), He would have suffered for Himself " (2). In the Letter to the Monks of Teleda, speaking of the human operations and defects (hunger, thirst, fatigue, etc.) which Christ assumed, he says that they were not in Christ as they are in us: . Not indeed as they are performed by man, were those things which I have enumerated in man performed by God. For they are performed by man naturally, but (they are performed) by God in the wonder of His Economy, supernaturally, in true wonder " (3). And again, in the same letter, he writes: " Therefore, He (Christ) is also above death naturally, for His Incarnation took place in a holy manner, without intercourse, without the concupiscence of sin and death. Because there is not in Him any one of these things, His fight was not His own or for Himself; nor were the rest

⁽¹⁾ Guidi, ibid., fol. 19 a, col. 2, line 10; — fol. 19 b, col. 1, line 7.

⁽a) P. 101.

⁽⁸⁾ Guidi, op. cit., fol. 19 a, col. 2, lines 1-9.

of the weak things which He assumed in His person (His own or for Himself); but, by His will He fulfilled them in Himself for us. For if He had been subject to them naturally, they would have been performed by Him necessarily as by every man, and then His victory over these things would have been for Himself and not for us. By His will, therefore, was He subject to them, not as by excess or defect, or as ruled by necessity, or as impelled by the motion of concupiscence, or as a sufferer, or as mortal by nature, but as being above all these things by nature * (1).

From these passages it seems clear that Philoxenus regards the infirmities, sufferings and death of Christ simply as voluntary, not only in their assumption, but also in the way they were supported. He does not consider the humanity of Christ as passible naturally. In this he departs from the common doctrine according to which the sufferings of Christ were both voluntary and natural, that is, voluntarily assumed and naturally supported. They were voluntary because the Son of God consented to forego the preternatural gifts of immortality and impassibility which belonged to His innocent body by virtue of the hypostatic union, and because, after having assumed them, He had full control over them, and they were natural because He became like unto us in everything except sin. see that the doctrine of Philoxenus on this point is not in harmony with his well known belief in the reality of Christ's humanity and its consubstantiality with our human nature. In his teaching we already notice the germs of the heresy of Julian of Halicarnassus who taught, against Severus of Antioch, that Christ was not subject to human passions or exposed to the changes of our corruptible nature (2).

⁽¹⁾ Guidi, op. cit., fol. 11 b, col. 1, line 29 — col. 2, line 29.

⁽²⁾ Julian held that the body of Christ was incorruptible, that it was not subject to the changes of our nature. Severus maintained the con-

Among the infirmities which Christ assumed in the Incarnation Philoxenus appears to include the moral defect of ignorance or liability to error. In the Letter to the Monks of Beth-Gaugal, he says: "He who as God, experiences neither hunger, nor fatigue, nor sleep, nor ignorance; the Same, as man, was hungry and thirsty, ate and drank, was sleepy and slept, and asked questions to learn " (1). Here, he evidently affirms of Christ as man what he denies of him as God. The word te'a means " to err ", and in a transitive sense " to forget " (Cf. Payne-Smith, Thes. Syr., sub voce). As Philoxenus denies it of Christ as God, he seems to affirm it of Him as man; the words "He asked questions to learn " confirm this view.

Summing up of the Doctrine of Philoxenus.

27. From the comparison of the errors of Nestorius and of Eutyches with the passages adduced from Philoxenus' works, the following points concerning his doctrine on the Incarnation seem clear:

Digitized by Google

trary. Having been expelled from their sees by Emperor Justin in 519 on account of their Monophysite doctrines and of their opposition to the Council of Chalcedon, they sought refuge in Egypt. There each began to propagate his opinions on the body of Christ. Hence arose the famous disputes about the corruptibility and the incorruptibility of the body of the Lord. The controversy rose to a serious height in Alexandria. The adherents of Severus were called φθαριολάτραι, or worshipers of the corruptible; the followers of Julian were known by the name of αφθαρτοδοκήται, or teachers of the incorruptible. The patriarch of Alexandria, Timothy II, although inclining to the creed of Severus, tried to conciliate both parties and to remain in communion with them. After his death (536), each party chose its own patriarch. The followers of Severus, having elected Theodosius, called themselves Theodosians; those of Julian elected Gaianus and became known as Gaianites. — Cf. Hefele, Conciliengeschichte, vol. II, p. 573; NEALE, Patriarchate of Alexandria, vol. II, p. 30; PETAVIUS, Dogmata Theologica, De Incarn., lib. I, cap. XVI, num. XI-XIII. (1) P. 108.

- a) Against the Nestorians, he acknowledges only one person in Christ.
- b) With the Eutychians and against the Council of Chalcedon, he admits only one nature after the union.
- c) This nature is a composite one, consisting of the divinity and of the humanity,
 - d) united without change, mixture or confusion,
 - e) after the manner of the soul and the body in man.
- f) The humanity of Christ, although real and consubstantial with ours, is not a nature, nor a person.
- g) The divinity and the humanity constitute in Christ one nature, which Philoxenus calls "One embodied nature of God the Word".
- h) The expression " The Immortal died " means that the Word of God suffered in the flesh, and not in so far as He is God; so that the Trisagion, with the addition introduced by Peter the Fuller, is to be referred to Christ alone, and not to the other two persons of the Holy Trinity.
- i) Christ suffered by His will, which means not only that He assumed suffering voluntarily, but also that He was not passible and mortal by nature.

Philoxenus and Original Sin.

28. In speaking of the death of Christ in his Letter to the Monks of Teleda, Philoxenus gives us incidently his doctrine on original sin. He acknowledges its existence, its effects — privation of original justice, concupiscence, and death —, and its transmission into all those born according to the ordinary laws of nature. "On account of the transgression of the first precept, death reigned, and this death is naturally mixed with concupiscence. Therefore every one who comes into this world by way of intercourse, is born naturally mortal; and whether he sins or not, whether he sins little or much, he is in any case subject

to death, because death is mixed in with his nature " (1). And in the same letter, he states clearly that death and concupiscence www.histool.com.cn
are in us through ordinary generation: "God then, when He wished to become man of the Virgin in order to create us anew by His becoming, was not incarnate and born from intercourse, as in the old law, so that even in His Incarnation He might be above death and concupiscence, for in every man these two things follow only from intercourse. Of Him, therefore, neither of these is said, because He was conceived and begotten without intercourse. Therefore, the Holy Ghost came to the Virgin, that the Incarnation of the Word might take place of her in a holy manner " (2).

Philoxenus and the Blessed Virgin.

29. That Philoxenus believed in the Immaculate Conception of the Blessed Virgin is very probable, not only because it was a common doctrine in the Syriac Church in his time (3), but also on account of the allusions to it which we find in his writings. He calls Mary "the pure Virgin" in the Letter to the Monks: "He (the Word) came down and dwelt in the pure Virgin who was sanctified by God the Spirit, and He became man of her without change, in everything like unto us except sin" (4). He also acknowledges in an explicit manner her virginity ante partum et in partu. Thus, in the Letter to the Monks of Teleda, he says: "Therefore, He (Christ) is also above death naturally, because His Incarnation took place in a holy manner without intercourse, without the concupiscence of sin and death" (5). And

⁽¹⁾ Guidi, op. cit., fol. 11a, col. 1, line 26 - col. 2, line 7.

⁽a) Guidi, op. cit., fol. 11a, col. 2, lines 8-30.

^(*) Apud Syros praecipue, forsitan magis dilucida et frequens quam in aliis ecclesiis occurrit perfectae αναμαρτησίας et integrae puritatis Dei Genitricis assertio. Abbeloos, Vita S. Jacobi Sarugensis, p. 187.

⁽⁴⁾ P. 96.

⁽⁵⁾ Guidi, op. cit., fol. 11b, col. 1, line 29 col. 2 - line 1.

again, in the same letter: Also all those who are born, are not born in a virginal manner; He (Christ), on the contrary, was born of the Virgin who, in His birth, preserved the signs of her virginity (1).

. **B**

HIS DOCTRINE ON THE TRINITY.

Three Persons and one Nature.

30. When he treats of the Blessed Trinity, Philoxenus, like the other Monophysites of his day, preserves the distinction between nature and person, which he does not admit in the mystery of the Incarnation. He confesses clearly one God in three di-Thus, in the Letter to the Monks, he writes: * This Jesus, God the Word, is our truth, with His Father and with His Holy Spirit: one Trinity, one essence, one divinity, one nature from everlasting and from eternity. For there is not in Him (God) nature and nature, nor essence and essence, nor anything recent or old, but One in Three and Three in One; an eternal nature and eternal persons, one essence adored with its persons from everlasting and from eternity " (2). In the Letter to the Monks of Teleda, speaking of the faith for which we must be ready to die, he says: " Thus I believe and confess one substantial and eternal nature of the Father, of the Son, and of the Holy Ghost: the Father, Who is really Father, because of His Son Who is from Him; the Son, Who is Son in truth, because He is consubstantial with the Father; and the Holy Ghost, Who proceeds from the Father and is glorified with the Son; one God,

⁽¹⁾ Guidi, ibid., fol. 17b, col. 1, lines 23-26.

⁽a) P. 96.

because there is one nature; three persons, because they are so " (1). And again: "In this one divine nature with its three holy persons I have learned to believe " (2).

Equality and Consubstantiality of the Persons.

31. Philoxenus also teaches the equality and consubstantiality of the three divine persons. In the Letter to the Monks, he calls the Son the Splendor and the essential Image of the Father: " By the will of the essence, this same Person (the Word) came down from heaven, that is, God from God, natural Son of a natural Father, the Splendor of the Father and His essential Image, God the Word Who is over all " (3). In the Letter to the Monks of Beth-Gaugal, he calls Christ the equal of God: "He who does not confess that God emptied Himself, and took the likeness of a servant, as Paul teaches, does not know that Christ is the equal of God " (4). He acknowledges in explicit terms that the Son is consubstantial with the Father, as is clear from the opening sentence of the Letter to Zeno: "O Christ-loving Zeno, Emperor, concerning the embodiment and the humanifying of God the Word, Who is consubstantial with God the Father, and was begotten by Him before ages and worlds, Who is always God and near God, Who is God the Word, because He was begotten by Him without passion and, with Him, is not subject to time, we have learned, we believe, and we have received from tradition (as follows): that He (God the Word) emptied Himself and came into the womb of the Virgin, without leaving the Father, without

⁽¹⁾ Guidi, op. cit., fol. 4a, col. 2, line 22 - fol. 4b, col. 1, line 5.

⁽²⁾ Guidi, op. cit., fol. 4b, col. 1, lines 26-29.

^(*) P. 96. Cf. Hebr. I, 3.

⁽⁴⁾ P. 110.

separating Himself from Him with Whom, near Whom, and like unto Whom He always is * (1).

That the testimonies as to the equality and consubstantiality of the Holy Ghost are not so numerous, is accounted for by the fact that, in his letters, Philoxenus treats mainly of the Incar-Still the few passages in which he speaks of the Holy Ghost leave no doubt as to his belief on this point. In the Letter to Zeno, he says that the Son is consubstantial with the Father and with the Holy Ghost: . The person of the Son, therefore, became embodied by the will of the Father and of the Holy Ghost, and this embodiment daes not exclude that He may be consubstantial with them, for He was begotten Son (by the Father) and He was born Son (of the Virgin) " (2). And, in the same letter, he attributes to the Holy Ghost as well as to the Father the power of raising Christ from the dead: The Holy Ghost also raised Him, for (Paul says again): He (Christ) was known to be the Son of God by power, and by the Holy Ghost according to the resurrection from the dead " (3).

Eternal Generation of the Son.

32. The eternal generation of the Son is often spoken of in Philoxenus' writings especially in connection with His temporal generation from the Virgin. In the Letter to the Monks, we read: "And He, Whose generation from the Father is without beginning, was brought forth with a beginning in His generation from the Virgin • (4). And in the Letter to Zeno: "She (the Virgin) did not bring Him forth spiritually since (the Word) has His spiritual generation from the Father, and He did not

⁽¹⁾ P. 118.

⁽²⁾ P. 121.

^(*) P. 124.

⁽⁴⁾ P. 98.

become (man), as He was begotten by the Father, according to the order of the (divine) nature and of the essential generation * (1).

www.libtool.com.cn

Procession of the Holy Ghost.

33. That Philoxenus believed in the procession of the Holy Ghost from the Father is evident from the passage adduced above: "And the Holy Ghost, Who proceeds from the Father and is glorified with the Son" (2). This, in fact, was the expression generally used in speaking of the procession of the Holy Ghost before the insertion of the Filiaque into the Creed (3). Not only does Philoxenus affirm that the Holy Ghost proceeds from the Father, but he considers the procession of the Holy Ghost different from that of the Son, which is called generation. In the Letter to Zeno, giving a reason why the Father and the Holy Ghost did not become incarnate, he says: "The Father had no corporal generation, because He is always Father; nor had the Holy Ghost, because He did not come from the Father as Son in order to become the Son of the Virgin" (4).

But does Philoxenus also teach that the Holy Ghost proceeds from the Son? Assemani denies it on the strength of the following passage in Philoxenus' treatise De Trinitate et Incarnatione: « Not indeed as the Son is from the Father is also the Holy Ghost from the Son, but both are from the Father: the Father is Being only; the Son, Son of the Being; the Holy Ghost is from the Being » (5). Here, however, Philoxenus does

⁽¹⁾ P. 119.

⁽a) P. 71.

⁽³⁾ The definition of the Council of Constantinople (381) runs thus: (Πιστεύομεν) καὶ εἰς τὸ πνεῦμα τὸ ἄγιον, τὸ κύριον, τὸ ζωοποιὸν, τὸ ἐκ τοῦ πατρὸς ἐκπορευόμενον, τὸ σὺν πατρὶ καὶ υἰῷ συμπροσκυνούμενον καὶ συνδοξαζόμενον, τὸ λαλῆσαν διὰ τῶν προφητῶν. ΗΕΓΕΙΕ, op. cit., vol. II, p. 11.

⁽⁴⁾ P. 121.

⁽⁵⁾ B. O., II, p. 20.

not deny absolutely that the Holy Ghost proceeds from the Son, but seems to imply that He does not proceed from the Son in the same way as the Son proceeds from the Father, that is, by way of generation. As a matter of fact, Assemani is obliged to admit that Philoxenus contradicts himself in this passage, and goes against the principles he gives in the same treatise regarding the distinction of the three divine persons. The principle is this: " The Father is distinguished from the Son by this only that He is Begetter unbegotten; the Son is distinguished from the Father by this that He is begotten, not begetter; and the Holy Ghost is distinguished from the Father and from the Son by this that He is always Holy Ghost, and never Father and never Son * (1). Hence, argues Assemani, if the Son is distinguished by this only that He is begotten, not begetter, it follows manifestly that He has everything that the Father possesses, except the power of generating; and, consequently, the power of producing the Holy Ghost is common to Him with the Father (2).

There is no need, however, of making Philozenus contradict himself, for, if we turn to his Letter to the Monks of Teleda, we find a remarkable testimony concerning his belief in the procession of the Holy Ghost from the Son. In this letter, after declaring his faith in the Blessed Trinity, he adds: "One God, because there is one nature; three persons because they are so; the Father Who is Father from everlasting and from eternity, Who is Father, not by will only, but by nature; the Son Who is essentially Son with the Father, Son, not indeed by grace, but by natural generation; and the Spirit Who is so, not metaphorically nor in time as the other messenger spirits who came into existence, but Holy Spirit, from the nature of (men keyānā) and consubstantial with (bar keyānā) the Father and the Son " (3). Here, Philozenus asserts that the Holy Ghost is not only bar

⁽¹⁾ Ibid., p. 21.

⁽²⁾ B. O., II, ibid.

⁽³⁾ Guidi, op. cit., fol. 4b, col. 1, lines 2-21.

keyana (consubstantial with) the Father and the Son, but that He is also men keyana, that is, that He proceeds from the nature of the Father and of the Son. Hence we see that his teaching on the Holy Ghost is in perfect harmony with that of the Syriac Church. Long before the insertion of the Filioque into the Creed, forty bishops from Persia assembled at Seleucia in 410 under the presidency of SS. Isaac and Maruthas, and expressed their belief in the procession of the Holy Ghost in the following canon, which is one of the oldest documents of Syriac literature: " We confess a Living and Holy Spirit, the Living Paraclete Who is from the Father and from the Son, and one Trinity, one essence, one will, embracing the faith of the three hundred and eighteen bishops which was defined in the city of Nice. Such is our confession and our faith, which we have received from our holy Fathers » (1). Such was also the teaching of Jacob of Serugh (2) and other Monophysites.

C

His Doctrine on the Real Presence.

34. As regards the Holy Eucharist, there is no doubt that Philoxenus, like the other Monophysites of his day (3), believed in the

⁽¹⁾ Cf. the article of Lamy, L'Eglise Syriaque et la procession du St. Esprit in La Revue Catholique de Louvain for March 1860, pp. 166 sqq. The Syriac text of this canon which Lamy published in the above article is:

(237 Kun Khulaja: Kurana un Kunaja Lama Kunaja Kurana Kunaja Kurana Kunaja Kun

⁽²⁾ Abbeloos, Vita S. Jacobi Sarugensis, p. 121.

⁽⁸⁾ RENAUDOT, Lit. Or. Coll., vol. II, p. 507.

real presence of Christ in the Blessed Sacrament. In his Letter to the Monks of Senun, written a year or so before his death, he refutes the opinion of the Nestorians who held that the body and blood given in Holy Communion were not the body and blood of Christ, but the body and blood of a man whom the Word of God had assumed and united to Himself (1). The passage quoted by Assemani is well worth reproducing here, for it is one of the clearest testimonies of the Syriac Church on the dogma of the real presence: " And He (Christ) is one Son and one Lord in these two: that is, in so far as He is God, and in so far as He became man. He remained one after He became man, as He was one before His Incarnation, except that formerly (before the Incarnation) He was one without flesh, but now (after the Incarnation) He is one having a body. For the flesh which He took from us belongs to Him, and not to a man considered distinct from Himself. And, therefore, we confess that we receive the living body of the Living God, and not the mere, simple body of a mortal man; likewise, we receive the living blood of the Living One in the sacred draughts (of Communion), and not the mere blood of a corruptible man like ourselves. For it was not sanctified bread that He called "His body "; nor was it wine enriched only by a blessing that He called "His blood". But He said of them that they were truly His own body and blood, as it is written: " Jesus took bread, and blessed, and broke: and gave to his disciples, and said: Take ye, and eat: This is My body, which shall be broken for you unto remission of sins. Likewise, taking the chalice, He gave thanks, and said: Take ye, and drink of this: This is My blood which shall be shed for you unto remission of sins ". Thus He called the bread "body" and the wine "blood", not indeed (the body and blood) of another man, but His own " (2).

⁽¹⁾ B. O., III, pars 2a, p. 290.

⁽²⁾ B. O., II, pp. 38, 39.

It is clear that Philozenus acknowledges here the real presence of Christim the Eucharist and the dogma of transubstantiation. In this he agrees with the Jacobites as is plain from the liturgies which have come down to us (1).

Concerning the reception of Holy Communion, we find a very interesting passage in Philoxenus' Letter to the Monks. Speaking of the Word made man, he says: . Invisible, we see Him; not tangible, we handle Him; not capable of being eaten we eat Him; not capable of being tasted, we drink Him; we embrace Him Who is all powerful; we kiss Him Who is infi-Here, we have not only an explicit proof of his belief nite " (2). in the real presence, we eat Him, we drink Him , but probably also an allusion to the special acts of devotion which, in the early ages of the Church, often accompanied the reception of the Holy Eucharist. We know that, in the times of persecution, the faithful used to receive the Blessed Sacrament in their hand (3), from the priest (4), and carry it home where they could communicate them-Even after the days of persecution, the custom continued St. John Damascene tells us that, in Jerusalem, for a long time. the faithful, after receiving the Blessed Sacrament in their hand, carried it to their eyes, lips, and forehead, to sanctify themselves (5). This custom obtained among the Syrians in the days of Aphraates, for he says in his seventh Demonstration: . They love Our Lord, and they lick His wounds when they receive His body, and place it over their eyes, and lick it with their tongue, as the dog licks

⁽¹⁾ RENAUDOT, op. cit., vol. II, pp. 449, 494.

⁽a) P. 101.

⁽a) Tertullian, De Idolatria, cap. VII, in Migne, P. L., vol. I, p. 669.

⁽⁴⁾ TERTULLIAN, Liber de Corona, cap. III, in Migne, P. L., vol. II,

⁽⁵⁾ De Fide orthodoxa, lib. IV, cap. 13, in MIGNE, P. G., vol. 94, p. 1149.

his master * (1). It is probably to the same custom that Philoxenus refers when he says in the passage quoted above: * We embrace Him Who is all powerful; we kiss Him Who is infinite *.

⁽¹⁾ Demonstration VII, n.º 21, in Graffin's Patrologia Syriaca, vol. I, p. 349. Cf. review of the same by Hyvernat in The Catholic University Bulletin for April 1895, pp. 314-319.

www.libtool.com.cn



www.libtool.com.cn

PART SECOND.

CHAPTER I.

DESCRIPTION OF THE MANUSCRIPTS.

35. The three letters which are published here are extant in Syr. Mss. 135, 136, and 138 of the Vatican library. The Letter to Zeno is extant only in Ms. 135 (fol. 17r-19v); the first Letter to the Monks of Bēth-Gaugal exists only in this same Ms. (fol. 19v-23v); the Letter to the Monks is found in Ms. 135 (fol. 15v-17r), in Ms. 136 (fol. 29v-35r), in Ms. 138 (fol. 120r-123r), and in Syr. Ms. Add. 12164 of the British Museum (fol. 126a-130a). The following is a brief description of these different Manuscripts.

Ms. 135 (according to the old catalogue Codex Syr. XI of Assemani) consists of 102 vellum leaves, 26 by 18 ctm., and is written in the Estrangelo character. Folios 1-12 have one column each; the others have two. The columns are ordinarily of 37 lines. The Ms. is not all of the same hand. It bears no date; Guidi assigns it to the seventh or eighth century (1).

⁽¹⁾ From a private communication dated Rome, January 17, 1902.

Ms. 136 (Codex Nitriensis XXVII of the old catalogue) belongs to the sixth century. It consists of 130 vellum leaves, 25 by 16 ctm., and has two columns to a page. It is written in the Estrangelo character.

Ms. 138 (Codex Nitriensis XXVI of the old catalogue) contains 136 vellum leaves, 31 by 25 ctm., and has three columns to a page. It is written in the Estrangelo character and bears the date 581.

Syr. Ms. Add. 12164 of the British Museum, written in a beautiful Edessene hand of the sixth century, consists of 141 vellum leaves about 31 by 25 centimeters. Each page is divided into three columns of from 37 to 44 lines (Cf. Wright, Cat. Syr. Mss., p. 527).

www.libtool.com.cn

CHAPTER II.

INTRODUCTION TO THE THREE LETTERS.

A.

The Letter to the Monks.

36. The Syriac text of this letter is given as it stands in Ms. 138, together with the variant readings from Mss. 135 and 136. These three Mss. are referred to in the notes as A, B, C, respectively. In Add. 12164 of the B. M., the text of the Letter to the Monks presents but few unimportant variant readings which have been omitted in this edition.

Title. Assemani (1) takes this letter for a second letter to the Monks of Teleda. As Guidi remarks (2), however, there is no indication of the fact in the above Mss., and it is not known to whom it was sent. Assemani himself, in another place (3), calls it simply "The Letter to the Monks". The four Mss. which contain it give each a different title, without any reference to the Monks of Teleda. The title in Ms. 138 is:

⁽¹⁾ B. O., II, p. 37.

⁽²⁾ Z. D. M. G., vol. 35, p. 143, note 1.

⁽³⁾ B. O., II, p. 28.

באבה הבמבה הבלנים. מהכהל הין הלה המהבה כלות המוכנים הלה הניהה: הלמל הניהה: הלא המוכנים הלה המוכנים הלה המוכנים הלה המוכנים הלה המוכנים הלה הניהה.

It seems probable that this letter was not directed to any particular monastery, but was meant for circulation among the monks of many convents, as we may infer from the opening sentence: "To the holy, pure, and faithful convents, healthy members of the body of the truth of Christ God Who is over all; zealous supporters of orthodoxy, ye who heal the breaches of error which false doctrines have made in the body of faith; (to) ye all whom I have seen in body and in spirit, holy monasteries. It is good and fitting for the truth to be declared openly, because truth is like unto light in thet ype of its manifestation which is for all ". This would justify the name Letter to the Monks by which it is known in the Mss.

Date. Assemani, regarding this letter as a second letter to the Monks of Teleda, naturally places the date of its composition during the exile of Philoxenus (519-523), and he bases his opinion on the following passage: "I heard that, after I had gone from you, they circulated false reports about me, calling me a deceiver and corruptor "(1). This, however, merely shows that all the monks of these monasteries did not share the views of Philoxenus; as a matter of fact, this very letter made him another enemy against whom he wrote his famous treatise "How One Person of the Holy Trinity became incarnate and suffered for us "(2).

This letter was evidently written after the year 477, because it contains the Trisagion with the addition "Thou Who wast crucified for us" made at that time by Peter the Fuller, patriarch of Antioch; and it may have been written many years after that for Philoxenus speaks of the Trisagion as being sung

⁽¹⁾ P. 104.

⁽a) WRIGHT, op. cit., p. 528.

generally in the churches: *But by His nature He is immortal because He is God, as the whole Church of God cries out in the Trisagion: *Thou art Holy, God; Thou art Holy, Strong One; Thou art Holy, Immortal One; (Thou) Who wast crucified for us, have mercy on us * (1).

An approximate date may perhaps be found in the passage in which Philoxenus advises the monks not to confine themselves to the duties of their ascetic calling, but to go out and fight for the truth openly: " I exhort you also to be open defenders and preachers of the truth. Be not afraid of man; do not desist from fighting zealously for the truth, saying: 'We are solicitous for the quiet of our ascetic life'. Ascetic life is beautiful (indeed), and the works of justice are worthy of praise. (But) these (works) are members whose head is truth, and if the head is cut off, the members perish. Let no man say: " I keep my faith to myself "; for thou dost not preserve it in thyself if, seeing it perish in others, thou remainest negligent " (2). We know that Philoxenus often sought the help of Monophysite monks in his struggles against his enemies. According to Evagrius (3), he instigated the monks of Cynegica and those of Syria Prima against Flavian II, when his efforts to deprive the latter of the see of Antioch had failed at the council of Sidon. The present letter may be one of the many that he wrote to enlist the help of the monks who agreed with him. For these different reasons, it seems probable that it was written some time during his fourteen years' struggle with Flavian of Antioch (499-513).

Analysis. As the titles in Ms. 135 and Add. 12164 indicate, and as Philoxenus tells us himself (4), this letter deals with the question of faith, not of faith in general as in the Discourses,

⁽¹⁾ P. 101.

⁽²⁾ P. 104.

⁽⁸⁾ MIGNE, P. G., vol. 86 bis, p. 2660.

⁽⁴⁾ P. 96.

but of faith relative to the Incarnation. It is divided into three parts: a prologue, a refutation of the Gnostic, Nestorian, and Eutychian theories on the Incarnation, and an epilogue.

After praising the monks for their zeal in the cause of religion, Philoxenus tells them that faith must be preached openly, for truth has been revealed to enlighten every man. It must be announced not only to friends, but also to enemies. If we seek it with ardor and experience how sweet and agreeable it is, nothing can separate us from it.

Philoxenus then goes on to explain what truth is, and he defends his own doctrine on the Incarnation.

- a) By becoming man, the Word of God suffered no change.
- b) He did not assume the person of a man in whom He dwelt as in a temple.
- c) The body which He took did not come down from heaven; nor was it a mere appearance $(\varphi \alpha \nu \tau \alpha \sigma i \alpha)$.
- d) The Word was not incarnate without the rational soul, and He assumed our humanity in and of the Virgin, so that He, Whose generation from the Father is eternal, had a real and temporal generation from the Virgin.
- e) We must not, like the Nestorians, divide Christ into two persons or two natures, attributing sufferings to the one and glory to the other; but we must refer both glory and humiliation to the Only Son of God, Who is from two, that is, from the divinity and from the humanity.
- f) The Word of God Who became incarnate for our salvation died for us, and the death which He died was suffered by Him and not by a man distinct from Himself, for he who admits a human person along with the Son of God in the mystery of the Incarnation, introduces a fourth person into the Trinity.

In the epilogue, Philoxenus advises the monks not to be satisfied with the duties of contemplative life, but to fight courageously for the faith that is in them; he asks for their prayers,

and he anathematizes Nestorius and Eutyches and all those who agree with them.

www.libtool.com.cn

B.

The First(1) Letter to the Monks of Beth-Gaugal.

Date. The first letter to the Monks of Beth-Gaugal (2) was evidently written before 491, for Zeno is mentioned as being in actual possession of the throne: "Moreover, the faithful and just Emperor Zeno and the archbishop of the capital return you thanks for the anaphoras which you have sent " (3).

There is another indication, however, which determines approximately the date of composition of this letter. After praising the monks for their zeal on behalf of the faith, Philoxenus adds: "And the same Christ-loving (Emperor) has openly declared that he gained the victory over his enemies with (the help of) your prayers, and he is ready to give us ample reward for the work which we have undertaken for the peace of the churches, and to drive away from them the enemies of the Cross " (4).

⁽¹⁾ Following Assemani (B. O., II, p. 35), we have called this letter u the first Letter to the Monks of Beth-Gaugal n. The other letter to these monks is found in Ms. 136, which is the Codex Nitriensis XXVII of Assemani (B. O., I, p. 569).

⁽²⁾ According to Sozomen, our only authority on this matter, Gaugal is a mountain near Diarbekir. It is perhaps identical with the Karadja-Dagh, a little to the southwest of Diarbekir.

⁽³⁾ P. 115.

⁽⁴⁾ P. 115.

The enemies referred to here are not only Basiliscus, the usurper (476-477), but especially Leontius and Illus, whose rebellion lasted nearly three years (1), and who were not defeated till the early part of the year 485 (2). By the enemies of the Cross, Philoxenus understands, as usual, the Nestorian bishops, and also all those who accepted the decrees of the Council of Chalcedon and refused to sign the Henoticon. We know from Theophanes that in 485 many Catholic bishops were banished from their sees by Zeno and Acacius, under pretext of having assisted the rebels (Leontius and Illus), but in reality for refusing to sign the Henoticon and to communicate with the Monophysite patriarch of Alexandria (3).

This wholesale deposition of bishops had not taken place when the letter was written, for Philoxenus says that Zeno is ready to drive away from the churches the enemies of the Cross. The patriarch of Antioch, Calandion, who was one of the first victims of this persecution, must have been deprived of his see about the middle of the year 485, for a council was held in Rome on the fifth of October of that year over the question of his deposition (4). Hence it seems very probable that this letter was written some time between the fall of Leontius and Illus, and the deposition of Calandion, perhaps in the spring of 485.

Analysis. This letter, like the preceding, consists of three parts: a prologue, a defence of his own doctrine, and an epilogue.

Philoxenus writes to confirm the glad tidings already proclaimed in the churches (probably the promulgation of the Henoticon and the overthrow of the rebels). He praises the holiness of the monks, the purity of their life, and the rigor of

⁽¹⁾ Brooks, The Chronological Canon of James of Edessa, in the Z. D. M. G., vol. 53, p. 317; also Tillemont, Histoire des Empereurs, vol. VI, p. 516.

⁽²⁾ Cf. TILLEMONT, ibid.

⁽³⁾ MIGNE, P. G., vol. 108, p. 325.

⁽⁴⁾ TILLEMONT, Mémoires, vol. XVI, p. 366.

their rule. They serve Christ for Christ's sake, and not for temporal gifts.

After stating his own doctrine, Philoxenus defends it against Nestorius and Eutyches.

- α) The Son of God became man and remained as He is, God.
- b) He did not receive any glory from the body that He took, but by His Incarnation He gave glory to our nature.
 - c) He was incarnate of the Virgin without change.
- d) Both the divine and the human acts are to be referred to one Christ, and not to two persons or to two natures.
- e) Christ suffered by His will, and the death of the Cross was undergone not by a man in whom the Word dwelt, but by the Word Himself Who became man and Who, in His death, did not lose the life of His nature.
- of the canons or anathemas of a council. In them Philoxenus sets forth at length his views on the person of Christ and rejects the Nestorian opinions. Many of these sentences contain some plays on words which give additional force to the expression. Thus (p. 111) we read: "He who attributes number (menyana) to the one Christ, and counts in Him two persons or distinguishes two sons, such a one is not a member of Christ, and has not been numbered (la'ethmeni) among the host of the chosen ones of God. And, in the next sentence, Philoxenus says: "He who does not confess that He, Whom John called "the Word", is the very Same of Whom Matthew wrote (kethabh) "Son of David and Son of Abraham", such a one has not been written (la 'ethkethebh) in (the book) of the adoption of the Heavenly Father.

In the epilogue, Philoxenus exhorts the monks to fight against godless doctrines, and he bitterly denounces his enemies.

www.libtool.com.cn

C.

The Letter to Zeno.

38. The Letter to Emperor Zeno on the Incarnation of the Son of God is extant only in the Vatican Syr. Ms. 135 (fol. 17 r-19 v). The title is: كالماء مناهد الماء الماء

According to Assemani (1), Philoxenus wrote this letter shortly after his consecration as bishop of Mabbogh, when he accepted the Henoticon. But this was not the only event that called forth this interesting document. From the last sentence of the letter it would appear that the faith of Philoxenus had been attacked, or that representations had been made to the Emperor for appointing to an important metropolitan see a man who had caused much trouble in Antioch, and whose name was a synonymous with turmoil and strife " (2). It was then that Zeno demanded of him an exposition of his doctrine, so that Philoxenus gives us in the present letter his own profession of faith in the Incarnation, written in obedience to the Emperor's orders and in answer to his opponents: " I have written these few lines, O pious Emperor, and have sent them to Your Christianity, because you have ordered it, to confound the heretics who question my faith in Christ, and also to edify those who think as I do, and who, made bold by divine love, try to defend me » (3).

What were the exact charges brought against Philoxenus by his enemies is not certain. From the contents of the letter

⁽¹⁾ B. O., II, p. 34.

⁽⁸⁾ BUDGE, op. cit., vol. II, p. x.

^(*) P. 126.

it seems probable that he had been accused of Eutychianism or Apollinarism, for he lays emphasis on the fact that he is writing about the embodiment (methgaššemānūthā) and the humanifying (methbarn°šānūthā) of the Son of God. Although these two words are often loosely translated by "Incarnation", they are not at all synonymous, and the difference of meaning between them ought to be borne in mind, especially when studying the christological controversies of the fifth and sixth centuries. Apollinarists, adopting the trichotomy of Plato, taught that the Word of God assumed in the Incarnation the human flesh $(\sigma \acute{\alpha} \varrho \xi)$, and the animal soul $(\psi v \chi \dot{\eta})$, but not the rational soul (vois); in other words, they admitted the σάρχωσις (methgaššemanūtha), but rejected the ἐνανθρώπησις (methbarnešānūthā) (1). probably to clear himself of some like charge that Philoxenus makes use of those two words here. And it is also worthy of notice that the word "ethbarnas" (he was made man), which does not occur in the preceding letters, is found no less than three times in this one, and in places where Philoxenus generally employs the more common term "hewa barnaša " (he became man).

Analysis. a) The Word of God, the consubstantial Son of the Father, was incarnate in and of the Virgin.

- b) His humanity was real, otherwise He could not have redeemed us.
- c) His becoming man, like His essence, was without change, for change belongs only to things created.
- d) He did not create in the Virgin a man whom He afterwards assumed, but He is true God and true man.
- e) Of the Son of God Philoxenus confesses two generations but not two natures, for he argues that, if we admit two natures, we must necessarily admit two persons and two sons.

⁽¹⁾ Cf. Petavius, Dogmata Theologica, De Incar., lib. II, cap. 1 n.º x.

- f) Christ died on the Cross without losing the life of His essence, and by His death He destroyed the power of death www.histool.com.cn over all the children of men.
- g) Finally, Philoxenus anathematizes Nestorius for admitting in one and the same Christ a distinction of persons and of natures, attributing the miracles to God and the sufferings to a man in whom God dwelt; he also says anathema to Eutyches for doing away with the Incarnation of the Word of God by denying the reality of the body which He assumed.

www.libtool.com.cn

CHAPTER III.

TRANSLATION (1).

A.

[Letter of Mar Aksenaya] which was written by him to the Monks (2).

127

To the holy, pure, and faithful convents, healthy members of the body of the truth of Christ God Who is over all; zealous supporters of orthodoxy (3), ye who heal the breaches of error || which 128 false doctrines have made in the body of faith; (to) ye all whom I have seen in body and in spirit, holy monasteries (4).

It is good and fitting for the truth to be declared openly, because truth is like unto light in the type of its manifestation which is for all. For, as light has been made to shine on every thing so also truth has been revealed in the world to enlighten every man, according to the words of Him Who is Truth, and Who has given the truth: "That which I tell

⁽¹⁾ The numbers in the margin refer to the pages of the Syriac text, the sign || indicating where the page of the text begins. The translation has been made as literal as possible; the words added to bring out more clearly the meaning of the text are placed between brackets.

⁽²⁾ The title in B (Vat. Syr. Ms. 135) is: By the power of Our Lord Jesus Christ, we begin to write a compilation of works of all kinds. First, the letter of the Saint Mar Aksenaya to the monks on the subject of faith.

The title in C (Vat. Syr. Ms. 136) is: Again, the second letter of Mar $Aks^{o}naya$.

⁽a) The word orthodoxy here is synonymous with Monophysitism.

^(*) B and C add: I, Aks*nāyā, a disciple of you all and an humble member, yet found worthy of your divine truth, (wish you) abundant peace in the Lord our hope.

I tell you in the dark, speak ye in the light; and that which you hear in your ears, preach ye upon the house-tops " (1). And, to teach us that we must not only preach the truth in simple words to our friends, but that we must declare it also before enemies, with that confidence that fights with death, He said to us: "And fear ye not them that kill the body, and are not able to kill the soul " (2). And again, in the public confession before persecutors, He exhorts and urges us by His promises to declare the faith which He has delivered unto us, saying: "Every one that shall confess Me before men, I will also confess him before My Father Who is in heaven, and before His angels; but he that 129 shall deny Me, I will also deny him before the Father || and before the angels " (3).

Such is the openness, therefore, with which Jesus Our God commands us to declare our truth, and not to be ashamed, and not to blush, and not to be acceptors of persons in authority, and not to seek to please those men who are the adversaries of truth; for he who wishes to please men cannot be a servant But as for him who has experienced the love of Christ, and tasted the sweetness of truth, nothing shall ever be able to diminish the ardor of his pursuit in search of the truth which For truth is agreeable and sweet above all things; and it inflames every soul, that has tasted it rightly, to seek Like the divine Apostles and the holy Martyrs, every after it. one who has experienced this pleasure seeks it with an unspeakable Nothing was able to diminish the ardor of their love in the pursuit of truth: neither fire, nor beasts, nor swords, nor the combs (of executioners), nor exile from country to country, nor close confinement in dungeons, nor the insults of enemies, nor calumnies, nor injustices, nor the inconstancy of friends, nor the

⁽¹⁾ St. MATTHEW, x, 27.

⁽²⁾ St. MATTHEW, x, 28.

⁽³⁾ St. MATTHEW, x, 32-33.

defection of acquaintances, nor separation from family, nor the opposition of the whole world, nor the onslaught of visible and invisible (enemies), nor anything || above or below, can separate 130 from the love of Christ those who have tasted and perceived the truth, as St. Paul, in the ardor of this love, speaking for all those like himself, declared, (saying): "For I am sure that neither death, nor life, nor powers, nor virtues, nor height, nor depth, nor things present, nor things to come, shall be able to separate me from the love of Christ (our) God "(1).

It behooves every one who is a disciple of truth to place this mirror before his eyes, and to look at it constantly, and he shall not be cast down by the fear of anything. For in the truth and love of Christ there is no fear, and he who fears is not perfect in love. Every thing that is not from truth is placed outside of truth: whether fear or lying, whether flattery or respect of persons, love of pleasures or thirst for power. These and similar things are placed outside of truth; and, as these things cannot be in truth, those who are enslaved by them cannot remain in truth nor possess faith. For they are those || whose 131 god is their belly (2) which has become to them the master of their lives; wherever they find its pleasures and desires, there they turn; they so identify themselves with it that they remain slaves to their shame, and never give up the pleasures of the flesh.

But as for us, O dear (brethren), athletes in the spiritual warfare, it is not becoming for us to deal thus with truth, which is our life; but (it behooves us) to renounce whatever is outside of it, and to confess that in it alone are our light and our joy, our wealth and our priceless treasure, and the breath of our spiritual life.

Now, because it is necessary to make known the cause of my discourse, what it is about, and the reason for which it was

⁽¹⁾ ROMANS, VIII, 38-39.

⁽²⁾ PHILIPPIANS, III, 19. C adds " And whose glory is in their shame ".

written, I state clearly the scope of my discourse. Briefly, I (intend to) demonstrate in writing the truth of the faith which I have learned from the Holy Books and from the interpreters of the Church, my masters, for the joy and consolation of those who love me in truth and for truth's sake, and for the shame and confusion of heretics, disciples of the demons, who calumniate me and call me a deceiver, and insult in me the truth which I have learned and which I preach. For, since they call truth error, || these liars give the name of deceivers to the heralds of truth.

Who then or what is truth, if not Jesus Christ, the God Who is over all, He Who said, "I am the Truth, and the Light, and the Life " (1). This Jesus, God the Word, is our truth, with His Father and with His Holy Spirit: one Trinity, one essence, one divinity, one nature from everlasting and from eternity. For there is not in Him (God) nature and nature, nor essence and essence, nor anything recent or old, but One in Three and Three in One; an eternal nature and eternal persons, one essence adored with its persons from everlasting and from eternity.

One of the persons of this essence is the Mediator of our Confession (2), Truth from Truth, Light from Light, Living from the Living One, and Immortal from Him Who does not die. By the will of the essence (3), this same person came down from heaven, that is, God from God, natural Son of a natural Father, the Splendor of the Father and His essential Image, God the Word Who is over all. He came down and dwelt in the pure Virgin who was sanctified by God the Spirit, and He became man of her without change, in everything like unto us | except sin, there having been neither change, nor variation, nor confusion in His nature, as God Himself said by the Prophet, "I am,

⁽¹⁾ St. John, xiv, 6,

⁽²⁾ B has " The Mediator of the divinity ".

^(*) B has " By the will of the divinity ".

and I change not *(1). For He Who was not made is not mutable; He Who was not created cannot change. Therefore He became man without change. He was embodied, and remained as He is, spiritual.

He did not cause the person of a man to adhere to Himself that two might be counted in Him, He and a man adhering to Him. Nor did He enter and dwell in another, He Who is the Only Son, but He was embodied from our nature and He is not counted two. He became man of the Virgin, and His person was not doubled; He became (man), and He was not changed, because even in His becoming His essence remained without change. For as He is in His essence, so He remained also in His becoming, that is, without change.

The Ancient of days became a child; the Most High became an infant in the womb, and God became man in the womb. The Spiritual One became corporal; the Invisible One was seen; the Intangible One was handled; He Who is consubstantial with the Father became of us in His becoming, because He, God the Word, was embodied in the Virgin and of the Virgin. He did not bring His body down from heaven, as Bardesanes said; nor was He seen under a false appearance or a phantom, according to || the blasphemy of Mani and Marcion; nor was (His 134 body) made from nothing, as said Eutyches the fool; nor was His nature changed, as the wicked Arius and Eunomius imagine; nor was He, Who was embodied, without (human) intelligence, according to the blasphemous doctrine of Apollinaris; but He Who is perfect God took a body, and became perfect man of the Virgin.

The Word was not embodied in the Virgin, as if not also of the Virgin, but He truly became man in her and of her. For the Virgin was not indeed a channel (through which) God

⁽¹⁾ MALACHIAS, III, 6.

(passed), but (His) true Mother, because He became man of her. Nor again was God born in another man, for a man was not born in whom God dwelt, according to the teaching of the impious Nestorius and his mad disciples; but God, Who was embodied without change, was born of the Virgin. For He, Who descended into her as God, the very Same came forth from her as man; and the one Whom she conceived spiritually, the very Same she brought forth corporally. And He, Whose generation from the Father is without beginning, was brought forth with a beginning in His generation from the Virgin.

(Being) of a supernatural nature, He became man; (being) of a supernatural nature, He was born of a creature; (being) of a supernatural nature, He sucked milk; (being) of a supernatural nature, He grew in stature. Let us beware of the impiety of those who say that the Virgin (1) brought forth God and a man; who divide and count two in Him Who is the Only Son of God, Who is from two, from the divinity and from the humanity; (of the impiety of those) who divide (Christ), and in this one God Who was embodied, attribute humiliation to the one and glory to the other, power to the one and weakness to the other.

Thus, indeed, do these dishonest (men) speak: "One was born, and the other was not born; one sucked and the other did not suck; one was circumcised and the other was not; one grew and the other did not; one (2) ate and the other did not; one drank and the other did not; one fasted and the other did not; one (3) was hungry and the other was not; one slept and the other did not; one suffered and the other did not; one died and the other did not; and (so these) dishonest men divide unto one and another all these words which are spoken of Christ, as if one was born truly and the other in deception, as if one suffered

⁽¹⁾ B has " Mary ".

⁽²⁾ B omits all as far as "one fasted ".

⁽⁸⁾ B omits all as far as " one slept ".

in fact and the other || in name, and as if one died in reality 136 and the other in fraudibtool.com.cn

But it is not at all in the sense that a man or a body distinct (1) from God died, that death is spoken of God, as it is not in the sense that a man or the body of (2) another person distinct from God was born, that birth is spoken of God; for, it was not a body that was born, but it was God, Who became a body, and (3) remained in His nature God; and it was not a body that was crucified, but it was God, Who became man, and (4) in His death did not lose His lite. Not one with another was born; but one God Who was embodied was born. There were not two at the birth, nor two on the Cross; but one was born, and the Same one was crucified. And as of the Virgin, not one in another, nor one with another was born, but one God became man of her without change and the Same is one in His divinity and His humanity; so also on the Cross one was suspended and not two.

Therefore, that God was born of the Virgin, the Church of God believes; (that) God was crucified for all, the truth of the Holy Books declares. Christ is the Son, and the Son is God, || and God is the Word, and the Word is consubstantial (with 137 God). If it is written that Christ was crucified, it is God Who was crucified. Christ died and He also rose. Not one was the Christ Who died, and another the God Who did not die; not one was the Only Son Who was given for the redemption of the world, and another the Word Who was not given; not one was the Son Who suffered and died, and another Who remained without suffering. It is written, "God so loved the world as to give His Only Begotten Son for it " (5). This Only Son Who

⁽¹⁾ BC omit " distinct from God ".

⁽²⁾ BC omit " of another person distinct from God ".

^(*) BC omit "and remained in His nature God".

⁽⁴⁾ BC omit " and in His death did not lose His life ".

^(*) St. John, 111, 16.

was given to death for the redemption of the world, is He of Whom it is said, "The World was made flesh, and dwelt among us " (1). Again, Paul said, "God was reconciled with us by the death of His Son " (2). And again he said, "Verily He did not spare His own Son, but delivered Him up for us all " (3). This Son, by Whose death He (God) was reconciled with us and Whom He delivered to suffering for us, is no other than God the Son Who was begotten of God the Father. Therefore, whether the Holy Books say that Christ, or the Son, or the Only Begotten, or Jesus was born and died, it is God Who was born and died, and not another distinct from Him. For we do not acknowledge | a Son Who is not God, nor a God Who is not Christ.

Be not troubled, therefore, O hearer, at this (statement) that God was crucified for us. For, if God was born of the Virgin, God was also suspended on the Cross. And if a heretic should say, " How can God die? ", ask him in return, " How can God If then He was born of the Woman (4), although be born? " He is from the Father in His first generation, He also tasted death of His own will, although He is living in His nature. And as, when He became man, He remained God as He is, without change, so also, when He tasted death for us, He did not lose the life of His nature. For it is God Who became man for us, and it is the Living One Who tasted death for our sake. Let them not deceive thee, O faithful (hearer), by words fraught with fatal discord, as they say to thee, " How can God When thou hearest this from them, return them the answer, - How can God be born? " If, being (already) born,

⁽¹⁾ St. John, 1, 14.

^(*) ROMANS, v, 10.

^(*) ROMANS, VIII, 32.

⁽⁴⁾ B has " If then God was born of the Virgin ".

He was born; if existing, He became (man), therefore also, being living, He died of His own will (1).

It was not indeed a mortal or a man that died for us; || for 139 every mortal that dies, dies for himself; and every sufferer that suffers, suffers for himself; and every thing that, not existing, comes into existence, comes into existence for itself. Herein then is a great mystery of profound love and of ineffable salvation, that He Who is became, not that He might be, since He is, but that we, through His becoming (Incarnation), might become the sons of Everything that He became, He became, not for Himself, For He was not a sufferer by His nature, because, if He had suffered being a sufferer (by nature), He would have suffered for Himself. Nor did He become mortal in punishment for the transgression of the (original) precept, as is the case with us, but He is immortal because He is God. (2) Nor did He become immortal by being justified by His works, as the wicked followers of Nestorianism assert; but by His nature He is immortal because He is God, as the whole Church of God cries out in the Trisagion: " Thou art Holy, God; Thou art Holy, Strong One; Thou art Holy Immortal One; (Thou) Who wast crucified for us, have mercy on us . It is, therefore, this Holy, Strong, Immortal God, Who was crucified for us (3). Thus does the || true Church believe, thus do the tongues which are moved 140 by truth cry out that He, Who is immortal by nature, God the Word, was crucified in body for all, not that a body or a man distinct from Him was suspended on the Cross.

Invisible (4), we see Him; not tangible, we handle Him; not capable of being eaten, we eat Him; not capable of being tasted, we drink Him; we embrace Him Who is all powerful; we

⁽¹⁾ B omits " of His own will ".

⁽²⁾ B omits all as far as, " as the whole Church, etc. ".

⁽³⁾ B omits this whole sentence.

⁽⁴⁾ C has "Immortal".

kiss Him Who is infinite. Of Him, Who is immortal, we believe that He died for us; of Him, Who is impassible, we confess that He suffered for us. "We preach unto you that which was from the beginning", said John in his epistle, "that which we have heard, which we have seen with our eyes, which we have looked upon and our hands have handled of the Word of life, for the life was manifested. And we have seen, and do bear witness, and declare unto you the life eternal, which was with the Father, and hath been revealed to us" (1).

(2) Thou hearest how this Apostle, who knew the mysteries of Christ, preaches to thee concerning truth, and cries out to thee that the life, which was with the Father, has been revealed; that He Who was invisible has appeared; that He Who was 141 inaudible || has been heard; (3) that He Who was not tangible has been handled; that He Who was silent has conversed. Which dost thou wish to hear, O faithful (hearer), this Apostle who knew the secrets of God the Word, or the mad Nestorius and his wicked followers who say that another man, distinct from the Word, bore and suffered everything for us?

We, on the contrary, believe in the Only Begotten God the Word, Who came down and was embodied of the Virgin in an ineffable manner, and remained, in His nature, God. We do not say, like the erring disciples of Eutyches, that He was embodied in the Virgin, but not of her; but we believe (that He was embodied) in her and of her, and not in any other way He might have pleased, as those liars claim. We say that He wished to become, and became (man) of the Virgin, who was of the seed of the house of David, as the Books teach, and as the teachers of truth have delivered unto us; not that a man, who was not, came into existence in the Virgin and adhered to God, as

⁽¹⁾ I St. John, 1, 1-3.

⁽a) B omits all as far as "He Who was invisible ".

⁽³⁾ B omits all as far as "He Who was silent ".

the impious Nestorius said, which man bore and suffered all the things of his nature in agreement with his own nature. Not so does truth affirm, not so does faith declare. For he who counts 142 another man with God, introduces a quaternity in his doctrine and destroys the dogma of the Holy Trinity. With pagans is such a doctrine to be counted, for, like them, it errs inventing a new god, against that which is written, "There shall not be to thee a new god," (1). It adores a new god, a man born of a woman.

It is not a man, therefore, that was exalted, was honored, and became God; but it is God Who abased Himself, humbled Himself, emptied Himself, and became man; and because He is God by His nature, and did not become God, not being God (first), for the same reason, having become man, He did not change, but remained one God as He is, and He is counted. with the Father and with the Spirit, one Holy Trinity: " Go ye forth, teach all nations, and baptize them in the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Ghost, (2). One Father, with Whom there is no other Father; one Son with Whom there is no other Son; one Holy Ghost with Whom there is no other Spirit. There is not (in each divine person) one with one, and another | with another, for each one of them is one: the Father 143 Who has no body; the Son Who was really embodied; and the Holy Ghost Who is adored with the Father and with the This is the Holy and Adorable Trinity Which we confess; outside of It, we know no other, and anything which is named and called God outside of It, is to be anathematized.

I have written to you these things in haste, O holy servants of truth, not as teaching, but to show the conformity of my faith

⁽¹⁾ DEUTERONOMY, v, 7.

^(*) St. MATTHEW, XXVIII, 19.

with yours. I pray that in this (faith) I may depart from this life to its life, and that I may be offered in sacrifice for this truth which I confess. I exhort you also to be open defenders and preachers of the truth. Be not afraid of man; do not desist from fighting zealously for the truth, saying: "We are solicitous for the quiet of our ascetic life". Ascetic life is beautiful (indeed), and the works of justice are worthy of praise. (But) these (works) are members whose head is truth, and if the head is cut off, the members perish.

Let no man say: " I keep my faith to myself,"; for thou 144 dost not || preserve it in thyself, if, seeing it perish in others, thou remainest negligent. Where is the virgin who would insist on staying in her chamber, if she heard that her father's room is on fire? If she remains negligent, it will happen that the fire will become master of the room in which she dwells. Therefore, you also, without losing the purity of your monastic life, be defenders and open preachers of the truth; and pray also for me, I beseech you all at your feet, that I may be found worthy to suffer for my God as He suffered for me.

I heard that, after I had gone from you, they circulated (1) false reports about me, calling me a deceiver and corruptor. As to myself. I pray that such an error may remain with me to the end of my life. May God forgive them and grant them pardon; may He open to them the gate of repentance that they may know His truth.

(2) Anathema upon Nestorius and Eutyches, and their doctrines and their disciples; upon every one who agrees with them; upon every one who does not anathematize them with mouth and heart, and does not confess that Christ, God the Word, one of the Trinity, was crucified for us.

⁽¹⁾ B has "they wrote".

⁽²⁾ B and C omit all as far as "What you have heard ".

If any man love not Our Lord Jesus Christ, let him be anathema (1).

www.libtool.com.cn
The End(2).

145

What you have heard by word (of mouth), I have sent to you in writing, and also to the holy friends whom I have not seen in the body, by Ephrem, the bearer of this letter to Mar Acacius, the priest, who, for a long time, after the example of his master, has waged a war of this kind. Therefore, have courage, for this is the time of the harvest, in which we will reap the new fruits of the works of justice, in the field of the zeal for the faith of Christ God, Who is over all; to Whom be glory for ever. Amen.

В.

The Letter of St. Mar Aksenaya to the pure Monks 146 of Beth-Gaugal.

Christ has, in these days, manifested the light of Redemption to the faithful people. Behold, joyful news and good tidings are proclaimed to-day in the midst of the churches, because error has been deserted by all its votaries, and truth has been exalted by all its heralds. This news, which is full of joy, together with the reports and tidings of life, I too wish to confirm and make known to Your Holinesses through this humble letter of mine. Though of little worth in itself, the joyful news it contains will render it dear in your eyes. Owing to my ignorance, I cannot speak anything worthy to be uttered in your assemblies; therefore, I shall lean my discourse

⁽¹⁾ I Corinthians, xvi, 22.

⁽²⁾ Thus far Ms. A. What follows is found only in B and C.

upon other helps, that it may find outside of itself the dignity which it has not by nature. For when an humble man speaks before princes, their great kindness will manifest itself in his regard.

Well you, Fathers, you are princes, and this title you have earned it justly by your works; for, where are not your labors 147 spoken of? Where has not || the fame of your holy monastery Who has not admired, who has not wondered at the cruel persecutions (which) you (have suffered)? The (very) mention of your rule causes the lax to fear, for the weak are wont to be afraid when they hear of your courageous works. But as these tremble at the mention of your fervor, so also the strong take heart, and try to imitate the zeal (which you display in) your works. Your conduct is to the indifferent what salt is to food, a condiment. And as light dispels darkness, so also the fame of your fervor drives away all weakness. It is not vain glory which upholds your labors, but the love of God; and therefore you do not practise virtue in appearance, but in the truth of a pure understanding. It is not indeed only the figure of justice which you have put on, but the truth of justice is fixed in your To-day, you form an illustrious remnant among all the disciples, and you have preserved, so to speak, your rule of life without change; for laxity, which in every way has injured many, has not inserted its teeth into the sound body of your works; and dejection of mind, which is wont to spoil the labor of others, has not prevailed against your treasures. Neither the fear of men nor the flattery of the great has ruled over vou. not bartered the truth for earthly presents, and you have not ceased 148 || from your zeal for the faith for the sake of temporal gifts, and your monastery is not addicted to begging like those which subsist in that way. You have not sold Christ for sheaves of barley and loaves of bread like those who sell Him for such prices.

It is written that Judas sold Him for thirty (pieces) of silver; but those disciples in name (only) sell Him every day

for things more contemptible and abominable than that. Those who act thus serve their belly and not God; in them is fulfilled that which was written by Paul (1), a Their god is their belly, and their glory their shame a. And again he says, a Their mind is wholly upon the earth a; because they were born for the earth and not for heaven, their eyes are fixed altogether on the things of the earth.

Now the disciple who knows Christ and delights in Him cannot fail to experience sorrow when he hears a blasphemy against Him. For as our body naturally suffers when a wound is inflicted upon it by iron, or a stone, or anything else, so also does the soul of the true disciple suffer when witnessing a blow and an insult against Christ. Is there a greater insult || than that which the new Jews (2) of our day utter, blaspheming 149 Christ face to face, subtracting from the honor (due to) Him, reviling His glory, and saying to Him, . Thou art a man, and Thou makest Thyself God? " (3). They try to show that His glory is not His own; that He received everything from the favor of another; that He is not God by His own nature, but was made God recently. For these devils (the heretics), without being ashamed, speak of Christ as one speaks of idols, because they are idols who are turned into gods when they are not such. It is not so, however, with Christ, O godless man, but by nature He is God. If then He became what He was not, as it is written of Him, it is not that from man He became God, but from God He became man and remained as He is, God.

A body did not take Him, but He took (a body). For He did not receive any glory from the body that He took, but by His embodiment He gave glory to our miserable nature. He did not come to a creature to be made God, but to be known

⁽¹⁾ PHILIPPIANS, III, 19.

⁽²⁾ The Nestorians and the adherents of the Council of Chalcedon were called "Jews" by the Monophysites.

^(*) St. John, x, 33.

as God. His appearance amongst us was not from nothing into something, but it shows truly that He is something which does not change. For He was born of the Virgin corporally, and not in so far as He is God. But because He became man of the Virgin, in this He had a beginning; for in so far as He is, 150 not even from the Father has He a beginning. Because He became man, we are not ashamed to say that He had a beginning from the Virgin; for He Who, as God, is without beginning, became, as man, subject to a beginning; and He Who, as God, is spiritual, infinite, and with the Father, became, as man, a body, and finite in the Virgin. He Who, as God, designs, fashions, shapes, joins, and creates the fetus in the womb, the Same, as man, was formed and shaped, and became a child in person. Who, as God, nourishes every thing, waters it, and gives it the increase, Who supports, holds, and preserves all things, the Same, as man, was carried and grew, was held in arms, sucked milk, and received increase in His person. He Who as God experiences neither hunger, nor fatigue, nor sleep, nor ignorance, the Same as man was hungry and thirsty, ate and drank, was sleepy He Who, as God, is and slept, and asked questions to learn. above suffering and insult, Whose nature is not subject to death, the Same, as man, suffered, was insulted, slapped in the face, scourged, and really tried by death; and He Who is always one without change because He is God, rose from the grave on the third day because He became man. When He lay and reclined dead in School, He was preparing the resurrection for all, 151 was ruling the hosts of heaven and all creatures by His nod, creating bodies and putting the limbs together and breathing in the souls, and governing the worlds and all creatures, as God Who is everywhere.

It is a mystery we propound here, and we are not writing about things mine or thine. For Christ is believed to be God and man, not in the sense that we believe that He Who took a body is one, and the body that He took, another,

but in order to signify by the word "God" that He was begotten by the Father, and by the word " man " that He was embodied of the Virgin. For we do not despise His humanity, and we do not deny His divinity, and we do not divide Him into two. Who is one even after He was embodied. For upon the throne, He is God and near God, and in the womb, man and with men. In the Father He is living like the Father, Son and Substance; with the dead, He was dead like them and man like them. The Spiritual One did not die in so far as He is Spiritual, and God did not suffer in so far as He is God. has no beginning, to the extent that He is without a beginning in His generation from the Father (?). He suffered, therefore, because He took a body, and He died because He became a brother of mortals. He had a beginning in the womb, because He was born like ourselves. We confess without blushing that God became man, that the Impassible One became subject to suffering, and the Living One tasted death. The Living One then tasted death in order || to vivify (our) mortal nature. God became 152 man, that men might become the sons of God. For I do not deny that He vivified me, and I do not attribute to another the redemption which He wrought for me. If the death and the suffering were of another, the redemption and life which were merited for me would be of man, not of God. It is not another, therefore, who vivified me by one who died, but the very One Who died, vivified me by His own death. And if it is written "God was reconciled by Christ with the world " (1), it is not that God the Word (was reconciled) by a man, as the wicked (heretics) interpret, but that God the Father (was reconciled) by His Beloved Son, as this Apostle again said, "God was reconciled with us by the death of His Son " (2). He also said: " He (God) did not spare His

^{(1) 2} Corinthians, v, 19.

⁽a) Romans, v, 10.

Son, but delivered Him up for us all * (1). Therefore, he who does not confess that God died, does not believe that the Son of God died, but opposes the teaching of Paul. For, when the Holy Books say that the Son, or Christ, or the Only Begotten died, it means that God died; and the words, a In the beginning was the Word * (2), are known to refer to the Son of God, for the Son is not different from the Word.

Of this very Son the Apostle said, "God was reconciled by His death ". Therefore he who is scandalized ad the mention of death, does not believe that the Son of God is God.

He who distinguishes Christ into two, does not worship the Trinity.

153 || He who says that Christ is a man, is a partner of the heathens and the Jews.

He who attributes glory to the one and humiliation to another, openly confesses two sons and makes void the redemption which came to our nature.

He who says that the person of a man who was not God was made God, sets up an idol, forms an image, and makes a new god.

He who does not confess that God emptied Himself, and took the likeness of a servant, as Paul teaches (3), does not know that Christ is the equal of God (4).

He who does not believe that the Only Son of God was given for the redemption of the world in the love of the Father, does not understand the love of God for the world.

He who does not hold for certain that He Who was crucified was one of the Trinity, has not received the freedom and joy of baptism, and has not as yet been redeemed from the sentence of death and from the original curse.

⁽¹⁾ Romans, vIII, 32.

⁽²⁾ St. John, 1, 1.

^(*) Philippians, 11, 7.

⁽⁴⁾ Philippians, 11, 6.

Whosoever is ashamed to declare that Christ is God, him shall Christ put also to shame before God and before His holy angels.

WWW.libtool.com.cn

The disciple who does not confess that the Impassible One suffered, and the Immortal One died for us, is a heathen, not a disciple.

He who does not confess that Jesus is Lord from eternity, has not the odor of Christ.

|| He who says that Jesus was made Lord and Christ by ano- 154 ther, as if He was not so (by nature), but became so recently, brings God into contempt.

He who attributes number (1) to the one Christ, and counts in Him two persons or distinguishes two sons, such a one is not a member of Christ, and has not been numbered among the host of the chosen ones of God.

He who does not confess that He, Whom John called "the Word", is the very Same of Whom Matthew wrote, "Son of David and Son of Abraham" (2), such a one has not been written in (the book) of the adoption of the Heavenly Father.

He who says that He of Whom it is written, "He was in the beginning, and He was with God, and He was God" (3), is not the Power of the Most High, (the Power of Whom) the Angel said to the Virgin, "Thou shalt conceive in the womb, and shalt bring forth a son; and thou shalt call His name Jesus" (4), such a one is anathematized by the word of Jesus.

H_J who says that John wrote of one, and Matthew, Mark, and Luke, of another, such a one is a stranger to the Gospel of the Apostles and to the preaching of the Prophets.

He who says that the name of Christ signifies two natures distinct and separate the one from the other, and not one nature

⁽¹⁾ i. e. two persons or two natures.

⁽²⁾ St. MATTHEW, 1, 1.

⁽³⁾ St. John, 1, 1.

⁽⁴⁾ St. LUKE, 1, 35, 31.

(keyānā), and one prosopon (parsopā), and one person (qenomā), who was embodied and became man of the Virgin, such a one denies the faith and is worse than those who do not believe.

He who says that there are in Christ one and another, God Creator and a man created as one of us, and does not confess 155 || that the Same One is the likeness of God as Creator, and the likeness of a servant as being in the body, such a one is as yet a servant of sin, and has not received the freedom of Christ.

He who says that, in the one person of Christ, there are the Giver and the Receiver, one giving mercy and the other receiving mercy, and does not confess that He is altogether the Giver and the Distributor of good things to others, is filled with the malice of the devil.

He who says that the half of Christ is the Redeemer, and the other half is redeemed, and does not confess that He is wholly Redeemer, on account of which He was called Jesus, which is interpreted Saviour (1), this one is cut off from the redemption which Christ wrought by His Cross.

He who does not confess that He, Who is perfect God and the consubstantial Son of the Father, is also perfect man from the human nature, shall not be counted among men (for whom He became man).

He who imagines that there was only a mere adhesion (of a body) to the person of Christ, and not a real embodiment in the acknowledgment of one person, such a one has no relationship with Christ.

He who says that the infinite God dwelt in a finite man as He dwelt in the Prophets and in the just, and does not confess that He Who, as God, is infinite, is the Same Who became finite by becoming man, (such a one) has not as yet passed from a corrupt error into the fold of the knowledge of Christ.

⁽¹⁾ St. MATTHEW, 1, 21.

He who does not confess that the Athlete, who fought for our nature || in the desert against the Adversary, is the natural 156 Son of the Father Who, in so far as He became man, waged war against the Adversary, but thinks that God raised up another Athlete from our nature to triumph for Himself and for us, such a one is a stranger to the victory of Christ.

He who says that Christ was justified by His works, and became the equal of the Most High by the practice of His virtues, and that He is not exalted and is not God by His nature, such a one is without any virtue and is filled with the malice of the devil.

He who says that He Who raised the dead is one, and He Who was tried by death, another, the death of such (a man) has not yet ceased.

He who does not believe that He Who, as man, was apprehended by the Jews and led to the death of the Cross, is the Same Who, as God, in the power of His divinity caused creatures to tremble, shall experience the wandering of Cain all the days of his life.

He who says that He Who cast out Legion (1) from the man (in the Gospel) is one, and He Who was comforted by the Angel at the time of His passion (2), another, in such a one dwells Legion whom Jesus drove out.

He who does not confess that glory and humiliation are of one Son, Who is one person and one nature who was embodied, such a one is an embodied devil.

He who says that there are this and that (person or nature) in the one Christ, has not as yet put off the "old man".

He who does not confess that He Who said. "My Father worketh until now, and || I work " (3), is the Same of Whom Peter 157

⁽¹⁾ Cf. St. Luke, viii, 30, and St. Mark, v, 9.

^(*) St. Luke, xxII, 43.

^(*) St. John, v, 17.

wrote, "He hath been exalted by the right hand of God and hath received of the Father the promise of the Holy Ghost " (1), in such a one the evil spirit dwells.

He who says that the body of our Lord came down from heaven, has not been redeemed with the sons of men.

He who says that the aspect of Christ was a false appearance, and not a real embodiment from the nature of the Virgin, is a disciple of Mani and Marcion.

He who says that God refused to take a body of our nature as being defiled, and confesses that a body was formed for Him from another place, shall be cut off from the life which the corporeity of God has prepared for us.

He who does not confess that the Word became the seed of David and Abraham in the flesh, and took a body really and without change from the Virgin who brought Him forth, has not as yet changed from the old error.

He who does not anathematize Nestorius with his whole soul and Eutyches with his whole mind, and their abominable doctrines which are dangerous to men, is anathematized in his soul and in his body.

Against all these doctrines, therefore, we have stood and still stand with our whole soul, that the true faith, which was delivered by Christ to His Church, may remain without change. We wage this war with gallant courage, and in the struggle which is for Christ, we stand unmoved by the gifts and honors of the wicked. Nor do we fear their threats, for Our Justifier is near; and in Him we have placed our confidence, for we have been believing for a long time that He will do what He has promised. And although many without the faith would take away our hope, in His true hope we are strengthened all the more. As in the war waged against Christ, we have arisen and have desired your own cooperation, we have written to you that you

⁽¹⁾ Acts, 11, 33.

may be persuaded that we do not wish to triumph without you. You have done well to join in my conflict on behalf of truth, because we are in the truth and the (dogma of the) Trinity is held in the same sense by you and by us. You have agreed in your letters, and, by the signing of your names, you have confirmed, not anything new, but the very truth which you possess (1). For it is fitting that what we hold in the mind and confess with the tongue, we should also commit to writing, without fear and without trembling. For you are with God, and also with my humble person, and with all the cenobites of Syria, your Moreover, the faithful and just Emperor Zeno (2) and brethren. the archbishop (3) of the capital return you thanks for the anaphoras (4) which you have sent. And the same Christ-loving (Emperor) has openly declared that he gained the victory over his enemies (5) with (the help of) your prayers, and he is ready to give us ample reward | for the work which we have under- 159 taken for the peace of the churches, and to drive away from them the enemies of the Cross. May those who were accusing us be put to shame and confusion, even with the heretics, those liars! They are abhorrent to us even more than the heretics, those men who, corrupted by their passions, have become workmen in the building of the devil, and are considered disciples on account of their garb (only).

Where are, O false disciple, (the words), " I am under obligation to fight for the truth until death"? Where is the promise of thy profession? Where are the vows thou madest to God?

⁽¹⁾ It is probable that Philoxenus refers here to the Henoticon of Zeno, which was promulgated in 482. Cf. B. O., II, p. 36.

⁽a) Zeno (474-491).

⁽³⁾ Acacius, archbishop of Constantinople, (471-489).

⁽⁴⁾ Let Monks of Beth-Gangal to Zeno to congratulate him over his victory.

⁽⁵⁾ Basiliscus, Leontius, Illus.

Thou hast destroyed the seal and hast profaned the sign put upon thee Hearest thou not Christ saying: "Whosoever shall confess Me, I will also confess him, and whosoever shall deny Me, I will also deny him " (1); and again, "Whosoever shall seek to save his life, shall lose it; and whosoever shall lose his life, shall preserve it " (2); and this again, "Whosoever wisheth to be My disciple, let him renounce himself, take up his cross, and follow Me " (3); and Paul who says, "Confess with thy mouth Our Lord Jesus Christ and believe with thy heart? " (4) Remember also, besides these holy words, the teaching of the Prophets, and the preaching of the Apostles, and the zeal of all the Doctors on behalf of the true faith, and, what is more glorious and a 160 much greater wonder than all this, the Cross | and the humiliation of the Living God Who, for the establishing of faith and the redemption of men, bore and suffered all the things that had been written of Him. And all the heralds of the word of God, if thou noticest well, were always persecuted because they followed in the same way as their Lord.

Was there ever a teacher of divine science who did not seal his faith in the midst of afflictions, persecutions, contempt, insults, calumnies, injustices, cruel sufferings and bitter torments, and who did not by his patience put to shame those who persecuted him? But I, who announce the truth in the midst of sufferings like these, testify that the truth is with this man. Knowest thou not these things, O disciple in name (only)? If not, thou shouldst know them, and shouldst not find fault with those who fight for God against godless doctrines. Come to the help of the Lord, although He has no need of thee, and do not stay the hand of the others who give their lives in fighting for

⁽¹⁾ St. MATTHEW, x, 32-33.

⁽a) St. Luke, xvii, 33.

^(*) St. MARK, VIII, 34.

⁽⁴⁾ Romans, x, 9.

the Lord. Hear the sentence pronounced by God against him who causes his brother to stumble, and tremble. I contend for thy inheritance (1), vand thou contendest with me. I pronounce judgment against thy enemy for thy possessions which have been dilapidated, and thou becomest an adversary to me. I fight for the common faith, and thou settest thyself against me with the I toil and work | day and night that the truth which 161 was delivered to the Church may not be changed, and I direct the weapons of argument against those who deny the Cross, and thou upbraidest me (saying), "Hold thy tongue, let them do what they wish. They want me to be silent lest I should expose their doctrines, and thou, with them, wantest me to remain silent. I hasten to root out division and to end the schism which they have caused in the faith, and thou declarest publicly that I am the cause of the division. They began a tumult, introduced a novelty (2), and disturbed the peace of all the churches, and thou considerest me as the author of the disturbance. I am zealous that the doctrine of the Trinity may remain as it is, without receiving any addition (3), without being increased by another (person), and thou accusest me falsely of preaching something new. Thou art looked upon as a disciple, but thou art an adversary. Thou puttest on the appearance of truth, but thou art entirely on the side of false men. Since thou lovest to be with them and blasphemest like them, thou wilt soon be put to shame like them.

Behold they are overthrown and they hide away, and they have no protector. The sword of justice is drawn against them and they cannot escape it. This I say to the disciples in name

⁽¹⁾ The inheritance of faith.

⁽²⁾ Probably the definition of the Council of Chalcedon regarding the two natures in Christ.

^(*) Because the Nestorians admitted two persons in Christ, Philoxenus accused them of adding a fourth person to the Trinity. He made the same accusation against Catholics for admitting two natures in Christ after the union.

162 only, because, when they are confounded, the glory || of your fortitude will be all the more manifest.

All the holy (brethren) who are here salute you. I also adjure you before God, the Lord of all, to remember me in (your) prayers at the time of your services, for I believe that by your prayers I have been preserved until now. Farewell in Our Lord Jesus Christ Who crowns your labors.

C.

The letter of Mar Aksenaya to Emperor Zeno on the embodiment and incarnation of God the Word.

O Christ-loving Zeno, Emperor, concerning the embodiment (methgaššemānūthā) and the humanifying (methbarnešānūthā) (1) of God the Word, Who is consubstantial with God the Father, and was begotten by Him before ages and worlds, Who is always God and near (2) God, Who is God the Word, because He was begotten by Him without passion (3) and with Him is not subject to time, we have learned, we believe, and we have received from tradition as follows: that He (God the Word) emptied Himself (4) and came into the womb of the Virgin, without leaving the Father, without separating Himself from Him with Whom, near Whom, and like unto Whom He always is. For we believe that, in so far as He is God, He is everywhere, that is, like the Father and like the Holy Ghost.

⁽¹⁾ As Incarnation does not render exactly the two Syriac words here, I have translated methgaššemānūthā by "embodiment", and methbarnesānūthā by "humanifying". These seem to be the English equivalents.

⁽²⁾ **hal**, apud.

^(*) This word is taken here in its widest sense, as meaning a change or modification of any kind.

⁽⁴⁾ Philippians, 11, 7.

He wished to give life to men by His abasement, His embodiment, His passion, His death, and His resurrection. And He came to the Virgin without ceasing to be everywhere, and He was embodied in her and of her, and became man without change.

|| For He did not bring to Himself a body from heaven as the 164 foolish Valentinus and Bardesanes assert; nor was His embodiment from nothing, because He did not wish to redeem a creature that did not exist, but He wished to renew that which, created by Him, had become old (1).

We do not hold that (the Word) became man with a change in His nature, because God is not capable of change, change being a modification of things created; but, as He exists without having begun, so also He was not changed by becoming (man). For He became man by taking a body, and not by assuming a man whom He caused to adhere to His person; otherwise, we would be introducing an addition into the Trinity, and would be found to admit a son of grace, outside the Son of nature. fore, whilst adoring this God the Word, Who is the Only Begotten Son of the Father, I believe that He was really embodied, and was born of the Holy Virgin, for He, Whom she brought forth, has become (man) and has been embodied in her and of She did not bring Him forth spiritually, since (the Word) has His spiritual generation from the Father, and He did not become (man) as He was begotten by the Father, according to the order of the (divine) nature and of the essential genera-But the Virgin brought Him forth corporally in order that, through this corporal generation, we might be made worthy of the spiritual (generation). The Word, therefore, became something that He was not and remained something that we were not (but became), that is, sons of God, yet | remaining what we 165 were by nature. For we became sons of God, although our nature

⁽¹⁾ Cf. p. 97.

was not changed, and He became man by His mercy, although His essence was not changed.

WVIV confess, therefore, one (only) person of the Word, and I believe that this same (person) is also man, that is, God Who became man; not that He dwelt in a man, not that He built to Himself a temple in which He dwelt. It is we who are His temples, and He dwells in us by His Spirit. He did not create a man in the Virgin before He dwelt in her, a man whom He afterwards assumed as another person; for, by His embodiment from the Virgin, He did not unite Himself to the person of a man, but to our nature. I do not acknowledge in the Virgin a man adhering to God, nor a person joined to another; but I see, with the eye of faith, a Spiritual Being, Who, without change, became corporal, and Mary brought forth, not a double (Son), as Nestorius said, but the Only-Begotten embodied, Who is not indeed half God and half man, but wholly God because He is from the Father, and wholly man because He became (man) of the Virgin.

I confess that there was a union of the natures, that is, (a union of) the divinity and the humanity, and I divide neither the natures nor the persons, nor the parts of this and that, 166 || which have been united in an ineffable manner. I do not see two things where they became one, nor do I admit one where two are known to be. It is not true that a man was made, was considered independent (1), and then assumed by God; if we say this, we do not confess that corporeity belongs to God. If on the contrary we believe that the body belongs to Him, because He was made man, then corporeity is the property of the person of God, and not of another human person. For the body of each one of us does not belong to God, although we are the sons of the Father and the brothers of Christ; and likewise (the body)

⁽¹⁾ Sui juris, complete; literally " to his own count ".

of that man, whether you consider it from the point of view of the person, or of the nature only, cannot be regarded as belonging to God; therefore, is not true that a body was created, was acknowledged as belonging to another (person), and was then taken by God and made His.

With John I cry out that the Word became flesh and dwelt among us (1), not by changing, God forbid! for " to change " is a modification, but " to become " belongs to the Economy (of the Word). For I learn from John and Paul that (the Word) has become; but that He was changed, none of those who saw and served the Word (ever) said. Besides, God the Word Himself teaches by His prophet, " I am the Lord, and I change not " (2). Where you would suppose that, by becoming embodied, He was changed, He testifies all the more to the truth of His own || immutability, and as if (already) embodied 167 from the Virgin, He cries out to those who think that perhaps He was changed by becoming (man), " I am the Lord, and I change not .. Of the one Son, therefore, are the two generations, the one from the Father and the other from the Virgin; of the one Son, and not of two natures, otherwise He would not be one. For if we admit (in Him) nature and nature, we must necessarily admit person and person, and consequently we must acknowledge two Sons and two Gods.

The person of the Son, therefore, became embodied by the will of the Father and of the Holy Ghost, and His embodiment does not exclude that He may be believed consubstantial with them, for He was begotten Son (by the Father) and He was born Son of (the Virgin). The Father had no corporal generation, because He is always Father; nor had the Holy Ghost, because He did not come from the Father as Son in order to become the Son of the Virgin. But that One was born,

⁽¹⁾ St. John, 1, 14.

⁽²⁾ MALACHIAS, III, 6.

Who was begotten, that is, the Son. And we believe that the Same is Son by two generations, and that He, to Whom belong the name and fact of Son from the Father, became truly the Son of the Virgin; for to Him indeed belong these two things "to become and to be born", and because He was Son, He was born Son, that is, in becoming || man without changing. And since we hear from the Books that one person was embodied, that the same (person) was born, and is the Only Begotten of the Father and the Firstborn of the Virgin, we must believe that He is known (as such) even in all the humiliations and defects to which humanity is liable.

We confess, therefore, that the Virgin is θεοτόχος (valdath 'alāhā), and we believe that the embodied Word, after being born of her corporally, was wrapped in swaddling clothes, sucked milk, received circumcision, was held on (His Mother's) knees, grew in stature and was subject to His parents, all this just as He was born. He did not need to be fed Who feeds (others), since He is known (to be) God, but He became subject to all this because He was made man, although perfect and complete in His nature and in His person. It is then only in so far as He became (man) that He grew. To Him belongs greatness by His nature; and humiliation, because He emptied Himself. things of the Father are His, because He has the same essence; and ours are His, because He became like unto us. honor, because He is the Lord of glory; to Him humiliation, because He revealed Himself in the flesh. His the fact that He was hungry, and His the fact that He multiplied bread. He was hungry, and (thereby) showed that He became like unto us; He fed the hungry, and (thereby) showed that the 169 power remains to Him. For His nature was not || changed when He became (man), nor was the strength of His power diminished.

He was baptized by John in the Jordan (1), and the Father

⁽¹⁾ St. Luke, III, 21-22.

testified that He is His Beloved Son. I recognize the Trinity in the Jordan: the Father Who speaks; the Son Who is baptized; and the Holy Ghost Who shows. The Son was baptized as man, and not in appearance, because the appearance of the dove belongs to the Holy Ghost, and the appearance of the humanity (1) belongs to the Father; but, with the Son, it is the reality of corporeity. The One Whom I have seen in baptism, I have acknowledged in the womb (of the Virgin), and the One Whom I have found in the womb, I contemplate stretched on the Cross. One of the Trinity was in the womb; one of the Trinity in baptism; one of the Trinity on the Cross.

We believe in one Son, in one Father, and in one Spirit. For there is no other Son than the one Who is adored in the Trinity, Who accomplished the Economy for us, and was crucified between thieves. For He, at Whose baptism the Father testified, "This is My Beloved Son "(2), is the Same Who cried out on the Cross, "Father, into Thy hands I commend My Spirit "(3). Since He calls God "His Father ", it is certain that He is His Son. For He Who, as man, was stretched on the Cross, is the Same Who (at that very time) was ruling, as God, all creatures by His nod, because the source of His natural life was not broken by death. || For if we believe that, conceived as 170 man, He is God, we must necessarily admit that, enclosed as dead in Scheol, He is Life from Life, lest, because He became (man), His essence be considered as having changed, and lest we believe that by death the life of His nature was destroyed.

The Cross is the herald of the death and of the immortality of God; for, until then, we believed by hearing (4) that God

⁽¹⁾ The voice that was heard.

⁽²⁾ St. MATTHEW, 111, 17.

^(*) St. Luke, xxIII, 46.

⁽⁴⁾ Ex auditu. Cf. Romans, x, 17.

is immortal; but, on the Cross, experience has shown (that) both (were true), for, whilst tasting death, He remained living. Death could not attack and destroy His life; but, by His death, the power of death was destroyed, so that this death (of the Son), after His becoming (man), is a miracle. For He Who suffered death for us was not mortal as one of us, otherwise the power of death over mortals would not have been destroyed. From all men we know that what is mortal shall die; but, that the Immortal be considered as having died corporally, was something new which took place once on the Cross.

Thus the immortality of God does not prevent us from believing in His death, nor does His death oblige us to deny His immortality. God was tried by death, and thereby He destroyed the power of death over all the children of men. As spirits 171 cannot die, He did not die spiritually; | besides, His nature is immortal. But, since the body is subject to the power of death, He was tried by death corporally. For there was not (in Christ) a body adhering to God, nor was there (in Him) a man as His temple, who was dissolved, and was raised up by the Word Who dwelt in him, as heretics imagine. But He Who was dissolved as man, the Same, as God, raised up (His own body). Father also raised Him, according to the words of Paul, "God, His Father, Who hath raised Him from the dead "(1). The Holy Ghost also raised Him, for (Paul says again): " He (Christ) was known to be the Son of God by power, and by the Holy Ghost according to the resurrection from the dead *(2). He also raised Himself, as He said: "I have power over My soul to lay it down, and I have power to take it up again "(3). For the divinity did not leave the body (of Christ), when He cried out on

⁽¹⁾ Galatians, I, 1.

⁽²⁾ Romans, 1, 4,

⁽³⁾ St. John, x, 18.

the Cross, "Father, into Thy hands I commend My Spirit "(1). And it is not a man that said to the Father, "My God, My God, why hast Thou forsaken Me?" (2); but He called Him "His Father" because He is consubstantial with Him, and "His God", because He became man. For He Who was suspended on the Cross, by commending His Spirit into the hands of His Father, gave to the souls of men a relationship with the Father, and the Same, with His body, descended into School, and prepare the resurrection of the bodies that were there.

We do not therefore subject the nature of the Word to passion; nor do we believe that a man distinct from Him died. But we believe that He Who, as God, is above || death, expe-172 rienced it as man. (We believe) that He is the Only Begotten Son, one of the Trinity, as is clear from His own words to His disciples: "Go ye forth, teach all nations, and baptize them in the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Ghost "(3).

I was baptized, therefore, in the name of Him Who died, and I confess that He, in Whose name I was baptized, died for me, and I believe that I have put on in baptism Him in Whose name and in Whose death I was baptized, according to the words of Paul (4). For I have put on spiritually in the waters (of baptism) the Spiritual Being Who became corporal, and I confess that the Living One Who, experienced death in the flesh, is He Who raises (the dead) and gives life; thus not taking anything from the Trinity, as the foolish Sabellius and Photinus have thought (to do), nor dividing its persons, like Arius and Macedonius, nor adding another person to the Trinity, as Theodore and Nestorius have imagined, nor saying that one of its persons suffered a change, like Apollinaris and Eutyches.

⁽¹⁾ St. Luke, xxIII, 46.

⁽²⁾ St. MARK, xv, 34.

⁽³⁾ St. MATTHEW, XXVIII, 19.

⁽⁴⁾ Cf. Galatians, 111, 27.

Therefore, I say anathema to the impious Nestorius and to his doctrine, which, in the one Christ, admits a distinction of natures and of persons, attributing the miracles to God and the 173 sufferings to the man, denying openly the Economy | of the Word Who was made man.

I also say anathema to Eutyches the heretic, and to his followers, because he denies that there was a real embodiment of God from the Virgin, and regards as hallucinations the mysteries of His corporeity.

In saying anathema to these doctrines, I agree with the Holy Books, and adhere to the tradition of the Fathers from whom I have received the true and apostolic faith, that faith by which I have been made worthy, with all the baptized, of life, of freedom, and of adoption.

I have written these few lines, O pious Emperor, and have sent them to Your Christianity, because you have ordered it, to confound the heretics who question my faith in Christ, and also to edify those who think as I do, and who, made bold by divine love, try to defend me.



www.libtool.com.cn

PART THIRD

TEXT

 $\mathbf{A}.^{1}$

المعنى ا

The present text which is that of ms. 138 is called A. In the notes B = ms. 135 and C = ms. 136. When a variant reading extends to more than one word, its beginning has been marked with the sign *. ² The words between brackets are no longer legible. There is space only for 2 or 3 words; the title as given by Assemani Bibl. Apost. Vatic. Catal. p. 104 hample with the sign *. 136 and is by no means original. ³ The title in B is: **Lient** shows the s

تحديه مقلعته بهقته حلعتك بصمحتماله. علمي ا ndy rush cest octou. right affith additivery معمم ليه لعنينه بحلك ملحلا. مولد ممتحمله True appoint you repromp with True wiwons حل بمحنه بنههزم لهيم حصد بحل حل بيس عننه حملت علمهد منه على حننه عد حدامه יעשו: איל גאילין שי איליד שי אילי ישרא לאילי ישה אילי ישה אילין אילי والمر دعافظ مرب وسعودي مامعنون مربر المورد בנחידא. ספוד הבאה במשווהבה אושם יאליום عل مرتم. مدد حلف دله دلسهد دخله عستحلام لتسحه بعدامه لعزنه ملح مدح حطبقده تحللمصب حممطنه وحنه حمر حمله عجز لم الله به معلم مللم منالم ولانه دويم مراء exemy Leafl. shoe chards Llubs rarg From Kly oktif erogram. rukl makan تعطر ل عد مخز دخر درهد در مدم دشعه: *مه אנא אסגא כמי מגע אכן וכשביא מסגע בלאבמחן. יים ונפפסו בי. ז אפ אראר אבשסו כש מוכל אבא יים

¹ C رومكه. ² B and C add: رمهنده المن را ابده المهرده به محمد سوم ربعه ربعه المعمدا ، رمهكمه و المعمدا المعمدا المعمدا كان المعمدات ا

معدم حلتمه حصدت صحيل عليض بليماك عسديا roz sim reinamilitigiophicap oner. معمدلت معنونه المعنون المعنون المعنون المعامدة المعامدة المعنون المعنو عجبه لحسسه له محدد وسهده و مدام دمانه جن بالمار المعلق المعل chod " crea eiaa linen riada. reli eath raish is river after remain the come ritz حر دل. مدل نعيم ميه بها براحته لص ديميه حلمم لنه ولمحدمهر. محدثه وبمد عليه تماسك دزسجهم ولم حماها موم دمازة. ولم معدس حوم הנפשםם שאפא העם בשם כן כבלם. לא נסוף הלם ستهلامه. * له مقعه" مله متوعد له محمله ومر אלוא לאלוא. לא עבבשר מעשר הבבשליי אפשוא. لم به متمله وحدوده. لم حعمقه ملله وحدد ك محدة معد معمد ك معدد ك بعد مام العلم المعلم المام المعلم المام المعلم المع له مزده المراتب وله" حدقتاته ولم حدم

¹ B ك بعف. ² B C الجماعة على ³ B المراعة القلم. ⁴ B بعف, C بعماء القلى ⁵ B المراعة القلم. ⁶ B مانية ⁷ B C مواجعة ⁸ B C مباء ⁹ B كلية ¹⁰ B المراعة القلمة المراعة القلمة المراعة القلمة المراعة القلمة المراعة الم

الملك من المسلم. معدس وليد لفقيله من سمحم rezemb. roms 1 rferom, Litin onitan com האשעו המשא השלט ביושע בשלא איר سلو علمه بصده محدلا ممه ممخز ومحمد ماه . منهاقد ماه . هدن ماه مهمته ماء 'غير منم مناه بعده، ماه معمد ماه معمع، ماه معلقه ماه معلقه resture. * reseur siry 6 L Ry mouso rexemb المرام مربه حسامه فاله وتعدم * موم هقوم. معسمه سمة و حن حل مد معمده والمستعددة معنائم. و مصل مسلم محمر له دان عدد معنائم المنافعة حصحله دسهدي. لدز حر عززته ين عدى ملحدم الله אבלססה, בן ציוא. אב העללא מאב העלם הא המחלה * حمد دیمک می می می دریمک کی ۱۰ نسخمک دتسه. محم حمله وعقالمين هلم مدمحملهم لده ביוא. האפנו לא את ומצבבות *למין מפניאיי rus carity out 15 marchy. and Capit

¹ B رمان. ² B omits. ³ B رسمت رسممه. ⁴ B jamo C jamo مامقا مهم. ⁵ B adds سب اله. ⁶ B نسب المام. ⁷ B C add مهم. ⁸ C مهم المام. ⁹ B المانامهم راه. ¹⁰ B راه. ¹¹ B وسامه ومام. ¹² B C ورته. ¹³ B C ها. ¹⁴ B وسامه ومام. ¹⁵ B رماساء اله.

مراجع معل مناسب المام المناسب معلم المام ا apro ann mossociones que y comin pru * للمحم حملهيم مشمم حمر حل مدمهش. resources reappage cases. or " winner علقته و المحلوم. سم وم بم معندم: مملتهمه מם . אוב דב אום שבוא וום לושחא בב בדוף. שם بمنمهه سنس ملم وبعمة حملحوم ولدة حسه. ٤ סבח בלשבה נהדא האולהם, נהשוב סבהשבי הבחלוב معتدف ولله وهده وهدم وسن ومساء كالم خيلا * المادع و المراجع ال حديم المحموم المراب المرابعة ا محصيقه عززه مصحبه ماعلم مريته حمقيمهم ەتخلەنكى بىدى توبر دەلەندە، دىسىمى كىكى. לעהה הבמשבא השנים השעבון "ו לו. בב שלוא oeth zith. alemboh acanin' rifern. bloir مح بنا شور برم محلحسه من لر. مجم مد لغنه * شه و ملعم محدد من معرس، المعلد عدد المعلد عدد المعلد عدد المعلد عدد المعلد المع العنونه لحصمه فأب ليه هيه الموسية. مهدا

לבדהוסשה, הלשי השדה היל השואי השתמח. * מנום הח Fol. 121 r. La reply reman sau | rely rise 300 remander حل. شه دخجز: دسم منح عزنه مدهه مسته. صد معد حلمه بالمه بالموهد عزني عم محده مملعمله سبه. عدين سير وبحمامع ومجر علم. The can cur ocurs. ores " rue obs ordooks. מבי בעב האלאה האלאה בער בעבי בעבי בעבי * בן בלסק " ספנמבא * בן בלסק." עדא אולסלא क्रमार्कित यह वार्केटार्क. ह्यू क्रिक्ट वह्यू यीव. पर ह्यू مر متوحدة به دمه مهرمه حرب به المودد المربع المودد المربع المودد المربع عززی هر عززی. مدهوزی هر دهوزی. *مسی بحر سی.۱۰ ملک همه محر شه دلم هخه. در دينش ۱۰ مهمه مهمه داه بعد مدمحه حر عحمه سبه. هده دم محمه دحر תשאר ביא הבתא ובין אבא הבתא בישה אששה אבואה לשאר مساده المناه و المناه معلم معلم المناه المنا ocedolky ready typorzy et iony wylost Latar ris Las ram raluar rds i mis resiso

¹ B omits. 2 C Lizzboo. 1 B a po o) in apo po C on also o) priase. 4 B lie. 5 C pokso po. 6 B C lla.
7 B C poksos. 8 B poo. 9 B oppo, C lazo. 10 B llooply.
11 B C lin po lino. 12 C luaga. 13 B llooply. 14 B C po.
15 B label half omog, C label omogo half opoly. 16 C lago.
17 C lagoo.

ati a ufulu ar caluar sa . Koutu pa ita רגרם ושור "המשור המוד הוביה . המש תו מוגבם RELIA. RICH ALL OLD HIS MALLED. LA LIS CERBULE شه ولام حديد . مولم حلاسله شه ولام جزم . صمه yr idaa see dira ". Kalau Kla "ker ist ist rympom, ioury. To the areas rejery, pair अवस् रिक हार्कस्था केंद्र कुठ ठकंठ टांस्त्र हार्क्स रिक. حالم سيسه عنه من فيعد لحد منعسه ملعم مهر بعر حيم ملم مهدد للهةب مصمم دويد Ka kan war and a salakan can war ala kalaka ka Kaluaz Kla mbabur mana ara Ella . aluber edid. Ty thubom, Lit endodop. meth' edi عد حصوبه صده دم دلم عمدلعه. مصوبه علام حماحه . معلنه مع سامه ملكه معلق लंघन त्रिक लंदन्या. तांवयान ब्रिक्टा वर्षा कर् ים ", המשהרו המים". *בע שר העצבע שש הלם . , וששר בענה האכאי. מומא מנון כנממנה. אל נבע בעי حدماله محراد حماله من حمالهم المام مالمه المام عصمه له ولزم مهر ما ملم حدمت בובבה השלשש הת הלוצו האמשום

¹ B omits. ² B C لعين ³ B C لعين ⁴ C لها نه؛ ⁵ B C لينا ⁶ C له به ⁷ B عكس المها. ⁸ C المها نه؛ ⁹ B لما نها وها. ⁹ B وها.

مرده * درد محزمیم. فی مدر هوبم کی مدر هوبم alwarde . La reafor isom of יהשם יישמוסאס שמיוא ארדה הוששמו היא صعامت عدده سر معرفد حدده فرح موسم مناعه و المرام ال حمالم دونع معلمته. * شه بمداهه مالهم ल्योल्याज. कि त्यकितिक का कि व्य त्यकितिक जर्भ व्यव مه حلمه. الله حينة حمد محية حنيه مهه. له ين عسلمت سوله له حدامله نعر ما الاعانه محمد معنانه والعام محمد مام أنكر ما . مصام بالمام معام أع مناسم عدم مام دة مديم مهلد وحدة ده مرهم و وداه مصاحركم . مرتبع ، مهلتخياهم ، مصنع هو نماهه * Fol. 121 v. am . ما حماد من الماد من ا ्रें हर्म कि अधिल कि बह कि एक स्था तं अधिल. ه فرمناع معلم به من من مناه في المناه مناه مناه . هضه و بدعد لحمة همامع حدومه معلم مضم The crois explan was explan. of eur Let אן בענה בינה מינה * המכן בענה " לבל בק בענה

لحناسه مسلم عدم مسلم لله من علم سلم men : 1 amy : etimilalocal verim cranocina אלובו. עוגשו בא וסב.בא השלי ואבון האבון *محة بالما ما سعم بعلامه . محملهم مخبر الم المةم لفه سد سنده دملهم . *دمنهه در فقافت. حر مشع مع سعمه و بعنهم . معمير بعد الممملح ". Kujul त्रिजांव उपी त्रिज्ज " क्ट्यू नेत्र त्रकीत उप نى مرايسكا الأماليسي ويرايي المرايس ا محنى اتمولك. ومد مهلية ممسونه له مهلو. ومد نع همه ۱۰ مسنم ۱۰ کے منع ۱۰ همی مند کا الله ۱۸ مهد مند * ret mor our Lin. our wor mor our lin." عسم محمص بغد عسم * د ك الله عسم محمد عسم محمد عسم raa エボッ 19 zwa . ベン zwa raa マガス zwa 14. ベン תוז העל זשם המם " לובשה השם . הלו השם ملامسةنه " معليم بهقته. هلم علمهم " مخله بناتع علما بسه سيماد ".مسع علم حيتهم ه است در کیل مهای مسید سید * در خدیم مسید

¹ B αι.. ² B αο which is preferable. ³ C οἰοιρί). ⁴ B μι το ο. ⁵ B μι το ο. ⁶ B μι το ο. ⁷ B ανο. ⁸ C μι μο ο. ¹⁶ B αι.. ¹⁶ B αι.. ¹⁷ B οπίτς, C μι ¹⁸ B αι.. ¹⁶ B αι.. ¹⁷ B οπίτς, C μι ¹⁸ B αι.. ¹⁹ B μι ²⁰ B C μι μο ο. ²¹ C μι μο ο. ²² B με α.. ²³ B μι ο.

בצבא. ' מעד נוכסף במסשלא מאעלוא ' בברבמלא. ' La pui of L roub cius your sixothing ארשות בשאר בשלא האמש בשוא ולם בלו האלג בונאין אם פניאי "מנסבא שונא לבי سماد المام دهوم علائم . * مدان حسم نه مرهم مسام سام جالم منع ماه نمسام Kuink ala · 1 sook Kl , main mbasso · Kuk لم حسملهم لهتم ملم حملمحم لهتم. سه جهه תאומשם לשע יידייעם . יידוי שליעע סטי צחם יצוף שעני له مساند. حسنون مد سانه مد سانه و سانه و مانه و مانه حلم حدين الشيع حرصم مف مصلح عب حلم مديماً عمد حيلت سد لله عدم مام مام المرابع האשותי שבע אלומאם בא באלמא בשובע ביאש रमिका. कर्मका " मुर्नीट बीट दर्भ प्रशंक המולבה בהוצה. מבנושה כודה מם. מכודה הבשה מם.

¹ B ابعث بسو العمد (C البيارة inst. of بسو). ² B بسو.

³ B المراب بيا. ⁴ B C omit. ⁵ C البيا بيا. ⁶ I would suggest العمد البيا. ⁸ C صوراً (sic). ⁹ B C البيا. ¹⁰ B omits.

¹¹ B المدة بيا المدة بي

مالهم حلم موه . محلم دن ديم مه حمله حسب عالم دیمیارد بیالورد عمله دست בשל. שנם בין את מבל . לם * יוד אם בשווא הבשל त्रामा वक 'त्यांम ala '. केन्ड त्यीत तक्कीत त्यांमव Endine ule 1 epiaco Eden . outin 1 elbn בשב בשב י מוב י מוב י מוב בלא י העב מכשל העוב rould and respectively and the rola sacra to respect to the respectively. لحلحك، دلدزه سيديم مود ملقههر، *مهديم men ender leady ale estate exten. בן. אבו לסב בסלם האלוב, בבן אלמא בבסלא تحتف مهمد عجز. تهم علا حتم له سع . عمله سلم مهلم ۱۱ معلحه مصنح حزب محلوم عدم محلوم 12 ralr clr. ap 3 ris al . Le le resul malera صدیل می دیم می سیدی. دوم دیا سمد محدون حافظت مه محملد محمل علمه مدينه المحلد محمله. مله سندي مهه المناح معمد. لي من مدسم

¹ B C راه. ² B امكا لبياه كميه؛ لبيا هم لسمه مك كلين اله , (C writes لبيا and لبياه). ³ B C لبيا. ⁴ B كلي. ⁵ B C لبياه. ⁶ C مك. ⁷ B C لبيا. ⁸ B لمدي. ⁹ C مهدا. ¹⁰ B بيا؛ هم صهم. ¹¹ B كي. ¹² B omits. ¹³ B بيك؛.

ا مرسعت مراء مصام مراه . مه مصام ماء من شهاری الاعلاق المحد مخ عدم بعد حل .مه سهلد سلعب سے پن حر دلمه لله ملد ملعه. مد حمارت علام المالم مالمالم معلم عمر المعلم الم האובוא באיא נובסף אלשאי. בקשפבא בלסשי بعد علمام برا حر . محاله علماء مدعمه مراعمه אולאא בד לב אישטשי בא בבא בבאונים מגבאי. لمجم حدم مه محمله حرصده، عد لمحد איישטשי מידי בידידשי שייבי איישטיי איישטיי איישטיי איישי בידי שליי وزيع دلة بمولام مهد مصلد نفع معاد وزير were so fix , asope enter to work ست وحسه ملهم به مهم حند مسلم ملعب جه ملجم محمله * حل تموس، الم "محكد اسلعه الملقه محمصه مد سمك معدده. منهجون له. دمسته مرسه مسته المرام و المعتبرة و المعتبرة ا عم يحمد بمند معدسه درماله ماهمه مح دي المع مراحة عمر معامة معامل معر علمام على عد ماماه ما سب هدم در حسس. أن لم كنة هدمهم هدم سلعب مه ددة

¹ B Jos as lucas No (Cas inst. of No). 2 B Jac as a Jos.

³ B omits. 4 B adds of. 5 B his, C his. 6 C comb lie. 8 C combo lie. 10 C combo lie.

¹¹ C omits, B adds 1. 12 B omits.

resh! rel capes reshe ale cere cine. och سلع عدم عدر المرابع على عدر الاعداد ال אשמשה ל השמה של על נפצח שמא. שובא דין וב ואי הבדום שהבא. הוא האדע בהומנא. נקהא הם האשמשה. לם בלב המם נמסא. אשמשה שמה שמה لنة الملك وسل د مهم حصوب حتام الملكمة. معلحدم دسمت له حالمه سمه. ملم حالمي. له עיד עיבטבא החא כבעום. אם גים בי עיבטבא הח سعد مطالمه سد ، معلم مصمه مصم بدن دبنم العجة ومعدد معمد المالم المالم معدة المالم المراجع به المحمد من المالاد من المرادد من ا هنه دع محمد مرد دهمی در هنه שלום בי ביום איקטשי וא ביטקא בלך مصاحة مها عدة مصاحة ، مق مهامة בלשבה שלא מבוא המגוג יי אול אלמא. מגוג אול אול سللهديم. مدع مدل في حدمهم. ويمهلد سلفيم مهامر حلم. * هده هدیل مجتم سلمدیم کارمیم KIDION KIDOO ". LELLE WHELL KOOLS KI

¹ B C مند. ² C معن. ³ B omits. ⁴ B adds Joo. ⁵ C Joo. ⁶ B C Jiji. ⁷ B مند. ⁸ B مند. ⁹ B omits which is due probably to the homoeoteleuton مند المناه علي ; C inserts Joo after مند المناه علي , in C no longer legible.

حدمله وعدنهم مصميم محتد والمعادرة व्यक्तितान्या. क्रिक क्रिक क्रिक्सिक्सिक क्रिक्सिक्सिक क्रिक्सिक क्रिक्स क्रिक्सिक क्रिक्सिक क्रिक्स क्रिक्सिक क्रिक्सिक क्रिक्सिक क्रिक्सिक क्रिक्स क्रिक्स حلمه ماسم. مهلد دعية سلف علد ملمه عينه مه احنا معلم المادة من المادة مادة المادة ا charat * ary read. He coppered the trans त्या स्थापन क्षेत्रकार कार्य कार कार्य कार्य कार्य कार्य משובא * הנדמון ענן. 13 בלא הוסלא * המיבוו ענן. 14 الحدية سلفير. دلى سعمعه محمديد وسع مطلع. > حدة اسر ١٤ لعه لعر لشه المسلمه، حر داعيل. مجة ١٥٠ » مهسم دی خدوه: شه دعجم هبدم ۱۱ دخسم. سام ح محندم. شه محمله ملاء محله دست. مستدء حكره ح all show and 18000 combined air all ل. عحمله المديم عليه مدخ ١٥٥٥،١٠ ١٠٠١هم، المعسد الم معنا الله عنوان الله المالي الما ساء مضم : عسل عد محمد ممل ممص مصلمه حمست مه سماسه مفه دله معدم

¹ C محداله ² C لماية. ³ B مبله بحك سكالاً. ⁴ B لاً. ⁵ C المعه. ⁶ B وبياس , C وبس وباس ⁷ B وبمعة , C وبسا , B omits. ⁹ B وبكها. ¹⁰ B وبيله ¹¹ C كله ¹² B وبمعة , C وبسه ¹³ B C وبيه ¹⁴ B وبيله ¹⁵ C وبسا وبايه ¹⁶ B C بنها. ¹⁷ B مهداله ¹⁸ B omits. ¹⁹ C مهمان ¹⁸ B omits from مح 1. 14 to محكا أدا. 16.

משם אבצלאר מש בבעלבא " הלום . באלבר " hir kright , woord the man is a second source is mult ming the city of the city in the second of enega. , ma cios , iafer oc , welk upper تعمد بمحزم دسانه و دنعم لدز هر هلام مل مجد " مصنحة سلعب. سل برم حسد مستدسه " * مالصه مراها ، ب هستم من : ، دسنه هما در المراها من مراها من المراها مه ربعر. ولم حداحال بمسيد. ودون حسم مالهم. 13 ما ما ما ما من من من الما حداد . مدينه ما حاد ١٠٠١مهـ عمر ١٨٠ مهداه ما איש הפנולה שנים. אלא אפינה הבן באסלאא عجبه معومه. فهر ديمرطيف هي الاحتم دهيم دويد. سه و و الماديم و المادي و المادي و المادي و المادي و الماديم و الماديم و المادي و ال ratidos. 11 mels doc. cius als nhom, מסא בבלסלאה סופב לאומאה. איי ואכין 😘 ושלטו יי ואיראיי טמים שרוא בושי בביוש במדו תושת בו מנוש באלה עית "המם בתים המם

¹ B omits. 2 B lacks C lacks. 3 B his ara, C has aras 4 C laces. 5 B C onlis. 6 B mariafars, C mriafars. 7 B mass. 8 B C himls. 9 B has. 10 C lost. 11 B lost laces C laces home. 12 B C emission. 13 B lagols. 14 C adds asukalo. 15 B C emission. 16 B arajals. 17 C ooks as. 18 B literas hasis. 19 B C hal. 20 B C isols. 21 B mariafar, C mrifar. 22 C omits.

حدية عنونه محدوره مسحده فه من وين وتخديم دو بعداً سوري عد مرسم وديد مديد والماز مديد erolesm. vectt poerge eppropriation معر ستعه حمامه مدعامه مدهد بهد مه erkebboo ery opren ylwy nrpy. olocet w. وموسع دوماه مل موسه دراء معامد الم سويل و المال ا निक्ष कार्यकार भारति क्षेत्रक कार्यकार निकार داديم. محلك الماسم مه دسيد: مام سرم مصام عد نامه سام . على معدم الأسل الأسعاب thuban, acchuse eq hem afoum. uth mi⁴¹ Alubaba araba. esas 11 La Alacro lelmo בעב"א. מאבתה אום בנב אכבא מכוא הומשא המסגאה. עד אכא געש אכא עלואי. מעד אין מינאיי מער אי دخاء دلسل حدده دخاء سازداء: مستر المساء الأساء المنابع معد منابه أن لم *سد عمر سد . أن مستناه الم

¹ C إمان نع. ² B C إمينا. ³ B omits. ⁴ B C إمينا. ⁵ C إلا كولات. ⁶ C adds بعداله. ⁷ B إمان نع. ⁸ B المحمد , C المواجعة , B بعداله بعداله المحمد , B بعداله بعداله المحمد , B بعداله بعداله

عمر سادك. المعل سد محتص سد صه. محت الله LE ALTO. C'A MOLET CHIEN WOOD ROOM ROOM محصم لا عد سم مدين مديم به الملهم مديد الله معددهم. وحقه * حقور سر. * ولحة حيث مخصم مح محمد المعامل المحمد المعامل ماسم لحة معين محسةم بده ماسم مختصل عامده Les to arith the elusion raify. Is at the י, אמשתום האמשלב היה המש בש הצור הנות wite the alu 'realth thurs . Kith ' din EKORLY " CO MOSTC. ONE" Les hac" Kess אנה בשמשם היות בינים בפסמה הות Laphed Kla. Lahond Kl Kerk paa 12. Kiizl of they expers enterm. exected teles تتمدةم * سهم سل. 13 عهدةم تمدة م. عدسم حقلم בוהשבו , שמלאה בעוד השומה האל . האלמבו ווו יילבו מבשמש יילבו בשאלה אלעבלם מולא. הלוצ * لمود تا العامل المعمد المعمد

المعادة " فاسلا الابناء الله م المال المعالمة المعادية المال المالية ראלומלים ייש ביישור ". אול א באמשם * אוני ביישורים אולים וליישורים ביישורים אולים וליישורים ביישורים אונים וליישורים ביישורים ב ومعتدي دومه دميري هي وعدجه دبود دمور אבסה. מאם כמוכוא לגל ואפי בבעלא העוכוא ده علی سنم. حجم مد مسلم. در مدومهم מעבעבס בס לא בסבות אולם. מסם שועדא י محة الاست العناد، عد ماره المنافع المساعة م why refer that where after the the تهد جه سد سلور عسحده لمنة ودلهة ويومله ص معنات باعدی، علم کاستان معنات محمد محسطت، بعد مربع ب مدرم المسلم لمدلمة لمام عبرت العمالية المناه المام الم reson ourse. out of the contraction where resporation of the contraction o orphisms of extrapolations of الله سازم دهمه محلده مخر الله سمه وحديث مالمه مدام مد من مرام مسام مسالد. سلعيم. خر دلى زنيم لحزر عدد حديم بصمه سام ٠

Digitized by Google

¹ C adds. / المنعام. ² B المناب. ³ B المعمده. ⁴ B omits. ⁵ B مبلء. ⁶ C omits. ⁷ B المناب. ⁸ B C المناب. ⁸ B مبلء. ¹⁰ B adds مناب. ¹¹ B معالمه.

www.libtcol.com.cn

[لعنائه] شال بن المتحدلان و العلام الها المعدد و المعدد ا

¹ B C omits. ² What follows is wanting in A, and is found only in B and C. ³ C adds سعه. ⁴ C الستال. ⁵ C omits. ⁶ C مصله. ⁷ C العابي. ⁸ C محمد معند من ⁹ C المعندة.

www.libtool.com.cn

В.

fol. 19 v. لاسعام الماتحات المؤلف المحتالات المعالم المعالم الماتحات الماتحا صه حلمدي محدم حده مدهد حلله ودفيله لحمومه مح مرامه معتضم عدوم دومه اعتراب حر حلصه حةهامهر وله لسائم لجب وحله سدقهم حمر محملك معدة له دستم . نرصه دمه حدد مدنده. עוד אישי הכן שהשלשלו כבת הבשא הכש פהמ ديد معفع دلميةسدے دءمن له . للغبر حميتيه لنه لحله بد معمد لدة حديثة وحمدة في دليه لنه دست. محمر بين داعه مدم نهدم حدل. Leadan Lhigh riaich when haba. Auto رم مسترمه . معيمسه من بهتم مخ لعن حضة د منع حصل مل حوله منه منه ينة ولم حمحللم حقالسمي مميح ولم وبم

لمحمد المعاديم ما الما المحمد الما المحمد ochtes carrols krägtister merge me his שבאם ההסבו בם לבלשם דשוא. בלל הבבה בבון حسنه حالم . حنفلت حصمت متلل به حلته داندم حر عحدی دسلسه ماهدی فدیم حملد در ستلاميه ومحن حلسه وخدة مهم مهم حلمه كنة Krazara Gasir 'aogra Kraa . kglorkal Lelmo ezimn. Any restire uzoen en comin. ضديه هم عمدي دسلس موحمه جدين Male i Laster of the second of the color of سعدم ما منه المهم . محلد مام محمد حمقلس لمقام ملك حدة المرابع عدم عدم الم Lis faemo ElEvapor chuar Leighba. Ala co حززة دادىمەلك محب حسمقدىمى. عزدى لحك भारत काराज कारत क्षित्र प्राच्या काराज्य काराज्य काराज्य काराज्य कार्या Elesti rolife Encinos Ela soulea. Feroda र्या हत्वर प्रकारम् वर्षेष विद्यारम् निर्मा سلمحه اخداتهم له جاء محمله المعالم المحلم المسلم فه وحدد حدد حدد مرية مرية على الحد وملعه ماعد: معتد مع ملالم، ماه . كافت مدا KI . _a_ & Liber Kiri hali Khaisaas سلعمه سام با تعنی مرتبط معمق می منابع معمق می منابع می من

حــ، المنية وهمجده والمرابع المرابع ا مسلانانانامام معنوب مصفد حل بصنافر عذم بمستنه بعل هدي مابحس له احتاؤهسي سلا معساء مايمه ومعنى مستعا عزمه بمسةنه. وحصل لمنخه احدمه و معمد معمد ساملهم معمدت ماضم مصلم مالحته לשם הבושה השבוא השפשה בבישוש מם הבלשמש ه بداهه. غلحت بر عليهم فر بدهامت مر esles : mlessos ciamos obsersudos embhans. odoc net rhizubans dia eniza a. The states ale estates all actions and actions and actions and actions and actions are actions and actions and actions are actions as a constant actions are actions and actions are actions actions and actions are actions and actions are actions and actions are actions and actions are actions actions and actions are actions actions and actions are actions actions are actions actions and actions are actions actions actions are actions actions actions actions are actions actions actions actions are actions action istass ala lab rizuer upe. bleurr acul ELEMAN ONI & COO. IN COURTY LEED ELA ند محله وغدد بهدوم وعلمه محدد הפושאה לשב בלב: אם אכל, הכנום אר בביולה תשם: שו שמושה שווא התשה מת : תשתבה מת شعه رها مداهد عن المناهم المن مهمسمه العسم المسلم المسلم المسلم المناتم

The ms. has twice, at the end of the line and again at the beginning of the following line.

^{*} So the ms.

بتعمد مدات مدات مدات مدات مدات مدات بعد بالمات المات ا Local rain lexure repringention raise. okhuhy socum. orikiy lohm: reiss ruh منحة منط بغيب المام محمد بالمام بالم له معنه وروده علم علجور لع دلىده الم سوخه רבות . מששו עשם המולה משמה הלום . ביווה בש سير مي عبد . مرصام عبد هامية ملك ححللم عمته مل معسم . ملم خصام . فقي لمة ومنديم بالمام دور لي ملمسور . وهدونه مي سام مدلم . فالم ماء محسب معدم بء ما אשפשר אלבא המש המוד בצוב גלבא איישפשי همه به و معلم علمه و من المعلم علم المعلم. אלא בי אומי בינשא המשא האלי איא האלים בין א انك ما . عبه هم حاح . بفضه حزيه ماه . حصاح Aseconds est con celts rime. Als desconds me experience less sits. la ricer plan صيلك . ٥٥٥ مصاحة عيماية حام . محليه حام . كابين ین دوره ممانی. له حر له حدم لحدم مامس. alom, whate fix exists an exposition. To emi אס תצונם דפשו בלש תלת . השלת ישפקיתו حماملها، هوم هم محمد عده، حنه، كمنه

האשלם בי השבא שליי בשנא ציי נשמשי ראות ישאיים ואיבו השפישון אים י יבאר אמים ולאים אים י יבאר cholden. de lis endode, els seines mus ملعب. هو هوم المسلم عمن حنعاد مضه سرم محمد فماه : مصمعه مراه محسمة ، معملامة مهرامها ماء معنصه مناع موه مه : معام مه دنسه. مضه منهه مرخد. محنولم محنفد: مخنه نے ماہند مجہ . بحصاہ سہہ دھھے عصے دھاتے ہے۔ مكي مدم مدم مدم مداعد مصوم كالناده ەھە دىدەنىك لىك ەنجىمە محنجە: مۇسى مەسىد arti let my men : co moter ombien makal et sier and mer act boaston Fol. 21 r. 8. حمد حمام بعف محاء مضم . محدة عبد المعمده وكم البحك بالمكام بالمحمد بداء عبه ماره. صبط عامنه منجه متجه عبد منعل دبعله عبد دزید. هفه دلم عدن حله مفه . معنه: ملت جعد عس لحمد مهم بيد بيد منه منه onjete oche ecs. ondise ondien creads حماسمد سلم مناعة مضه و مدادم مناعة مرد ماسمد سد هه محلا بمالهم هه . هن مع مع معنه المالمم مكين دين دهنه حزيب . حد أبخا لهذ ومكم حدثه حده عندل. نوسعه لعل حضرة man.

وسلم عصب معتب مصله محددة همه . خناء . بدخام المعتب المعتب المعالم الم دهنام مهر بصلع ماديمه ملقع ماسم دسمه و دول دوده . نهام هو ین دهمدید . هله عل عرحة لهند ومله ولمحسد والمستحر كسة حسب بهماه مرسام بصله المستحد له حيل المستحد علينه بالمستحر هو . ماسانه عليه وبصد . منده دخم المام بالمام بالمام المام الم وحاسب والمالكة عن مل من والمامكة والمامكة بالمحسر . ملت مالمهم فعنسر . ملت للهزيم حدونيس له .سه هه مد حر داه دماله يعد . حل Koja also . Kosta dalo Kosta is Kusias . حدم مرم حدية حدم . حصت فماه . بحدة مصلمعد محلت محقف لماء مامهم مرياء ەدەنىك دىدىدەلمەمى. كى ھبل ئەسىك دىن، بمطوهه ومسلم . مله شد مرهم دخم بمطوهه حاء بعملسدة مضاء . مدنعه صا لها . محام عهزی دخمر دبلید حر محمد . سعد دم حمل دسود عنه منه مل دهمه سدنه لحقاله . غنر مر معسمه سلم بدءمن . خمعه علی محمد علی محمد محست مرمه محمد ملاء . بحصد مرمه مسامة هنسه ليم حداكه . لحم شدل نب محداكم . حلك

مرمميع . برعباء حمالا موه . مهمي حيد حين دست دست در در المام مربق المعالم المسام المس وخسن . معمة مسلم وعجد لر عل مسؤنه همم منه. Fol. 21 v. b. Kipjas set . am | Kijuki Kina jil khas K ما . مصامع ماه حيد معناء با معناءم منسه منه من حلح . فبحة من عسد بنسر حانسر ندع وحديد مسدد حدهه من مهرمي بسد منعم حعسه مماذم لطحم . بحملم حلمه صد תשרא אלא . אביני המצאה עיל הצוים ديد دون سعيد من جمحة المود بوه عليه . האלובת בבק אלמא בברשא וכום . בלפב אפיו مض بلع علي سعلعظ حام . صن حل فه علم مه شعد ولم محمد وسعد وسعد المروسة دزه دملهم حصنخي مفرمدله مه ومدلورهم دعملمه . کے دنی کین مکے حدیسک مکے سبت مخنع حمقت مدتعه دهبله . به ، به المه حبله . به فه رمة بصحة دحفيم عمومه معمد بالمعادة بتحديد من תים מם תובשר תלו שלב . תמלה מם תים مسنونه حلمه . معلمه و منه حنه مجز علسه. Fol. 21 r. a. حمعد بع | امغ، نيك من ÷ صهمعت حصاها بد نهرة omo riceia locum loin. La igr. lolubunda:

השנה מש הבונב שם הבולד משם השנה משום השום من عنه منه و التنهيم المناهدة المناهدة منه منه المناهدة مناعه . مان الله المناع الله المناعب תבון בבין בבים השמה אבים המתחב בבים הכומה . המשבר ז-ש-דיפע עסטי ישפקייע ערן צדי צשדיפע ولمدنه سغل مرلبعه نخوجه مهلهم سالم خنه « شه دلم حفد دهاده معافره منعد دهمامه تجديه مه بنخلف فعلمن . بعد لم بعد الم ومنسع بعدمه دراء من بدهامه من محسيده משמשה שלם פסומש הבלבא בשומה המלהה « محاله فاماء محامة معامه عدر الله مرادة شه و د بالمردد و من من منه منه منه بالمردد . دام . محدهم مستمام دهم محدهم عصد ما حديد مهوزم حر يهز دسي دهمهم ملمها . Tolk cural , marians diens ai + chanse Fol. 21a r. b. حضمه لم عد جه حديث مرح علمه معدم حلع مراء مدنع المالحية المالية سعمع سغه مله خدمه حدم سلعم ب سعم جمه عمعه مراء بغ د من ميكاله حاء . من حن من و حلم . دخاله المس وحسم لسل

So the ms.

בם י ולן האולי הכן אעים אלשבה עבה בהל בהי ومعسك . بدي ورك بالموهود المستعلم بالمرابع المستعادة الماسم به من الله الله الله الله على الله على الله حسم : منعد له ماتم منقص ، مه ماتم حستم خوزیم صد کے ممامی شدودی درسیدی ملک مهم مراء بن و مصامع مناع معمد تشه معنده مسر حلم. صهد شه محمده حمر בן המנה מבן אבן מק מוא בשנוכל בנוא האבא عخدته له مهدؤد ٠ خر بمخز دشه دزعيم علمهر : דמש , שמלוד השוד למום : דמש , שמלוד לעבים, ai Keles alu asai al : rag , mader ralra بمجز حليمه لحمولهم: دمودلم حليم. وممادم حلمه ومعد ب بعد في در المعدد عدد المعدد المع مخلف مخزمه ملمه حل سندي فد مدنه جه لعدوله و الله معزه المحادث الله المحدد العجا لاحسب ويام حيام الحجا واستما حا ستديم حضيم د مسلم معنى مصمح האלצב משפה בונבא בן באסלאה. שנא בפו לחה دهدمدهم . محبع حم مملم دلم محصمجد عم د خم השלה : הוז שהם הוז השבשם שיני ליאני בבההא הכונא בביהא איש עד בין. הלא בבההא

אייע עשקעי עשיסשי ישטשייע זה טשי שד סיטשי प्रात्म । प्रवास अवस्था त्रात्मा त्रात् حدمت حجد منه دسلبه مسانه دخ حدسه له بعد به بها به تعدد مدهد مدهد المحسم معودهم प्रावंक स्त्राव : स्त्रामिक्षक स्त्रामव : क्षेत्र क्षेत्र स्ववकाव والم حر ملم معادم من د مخطل المقالم ال لمستنب صعماهه بتمطفته حبله ﴿ حَبَّ بمحدَّةُ refte vermy eioch do: verfte eyeich: عمد اا عمد الله عمد علم عمد الله عمد ا nipat,: redéza ejach. dair an leafair rich معسم حمالته ب بن دراي هاي دين دين بياري دين ען אבובו הבעוא במנוא הב לא גישול प्रवापन प्रयामित प्रवापन प्रवापन प्राप्त के क्षेत्र معمعه دهمت عاه : برسمه سعمته टकेवरकेन हवर व्यवस्था . रिलंडन नव्यक्ति व्यवस्था للم له و خر دمخه دملهم لم حسندم حجة בבונא השובא: איף גאף כוביא סוגיםא שליו שיר השושה הן ישמיינים נישים היושה הרום : הליש . ילצואה הם הם המשבה מפה בה הם אה אל אל Ly every et es éwas eterope priss ererpo

Local estrin reira esta unich mono ei eum هدة . كالم حصفة وعماله مناه مناه عنداد . عند جر حير دسلوم مسلومهر اخاء مرة عن المحالية المحا בן ובחלם הכשושה לי האבי הכן בבהמם, אוההם Kanaza i z kom mpigna kanjasa : Kanaza علىهم: وله حديث مماهم، حدلتم مماسم. هديم جه مدیم حر حلین حسافههای محلی حسیمهم معدد، من من مدند، بعدد، من من مردند العدد، क्रमेत्रः क्रमान्त्र कक्ष कक्ष स्थानिकः स्थाप्त تضم جعمل لم معدة ، خ دلم حصيم دشه سعارة دومعاه : دعوه لع عنههد بدع مدي سهمساسة سيامع مسام مرسة مهمام ختب خذحك هجم . بمده دمخب بعنده حك مهجر ستمصر ف خر دخرد دهه دلخه لليم حر داديم حميد دعم المعرفية موم دمن المايد دعة سعه مستدلم جهه: لحيم عه متده معمد حجرة ده ٠ خر دلی حفدی دوخه محقلی دسد دنی سنامس מה האשמשה עד פוס משמש איים לציק . היה לציק . היה عساء حديث و بن د المنظ المن و المناجع و المناجع و المناجع و المناطع و المناط Fol 22 r. b. حاء بغ اا خ مصمع مص حديد حديد حديد مصحب الناء الاستعادة العام الماء ا במה המם האפי האכן בהכא למשא שבה. אפ.

منع حدد مربح : هممه شه ددود حله ولمزده תשומב תשתישים בישול השלה משושנים المناع معمد عديم المناع בם ל האלי הפלים הלים. כן שביא נואל: במ دنت محدد له مهوده و خر دمخد ددهم م Lyran Lyans of Long age Lyra 2 حنن حين وحمولها والحديد به وحدر المهدم برهيم المان مايين بي و المانينين المهدير بريمي المانينين مايين بي المانين المانين المانين المانين المانين אלמא הנשב פליא כן בען. מכן המף אעיין כהלא المام لم علام . بدلام من من من ما مامهم لم والمعامن بن بن المامن المعامن المعا انحمه ددمند مدمحنهم حصن محنف هر حلملكم rither moved six must be soulen. or fright مدهدهم حدمل لم معنفسله و فر دلم فسنور سلم بع معلمها. سعع هاء بع معم أملها Fol. 22 v. a أحسه ولتةلوسم حستدى حستك وحشيم سم حسادت صعده مدهن . لممدل شلب *فحیل حلمی مةلوی*م مخبر ممنحبیر حرر حلف بعیر. of I rowers raise in the carrier party Katic mla Kin in souler. on a chan ajour حسيد مركم شليمه . مامرسان مامرهم بست مخبر. دو لم لحمقد مسم موزيد مدر دو الم

معفر عبر مامه مهد مر لمستعمد دبلدر مغبد بهم كنة حددفد معلمه، هبح مصحفها اسطفادها אפ בן בהוב המנא בהב האלינו, מצאי. בלוה מם הנבבה.. הכה שלשה כלם משבנה אם מבבה علم فيفيميم همه. سير معدده عذبته ملاتهما سنعصب هوبى محلك دحمرات دلممحل معسم مخدر: نرحيم ديمه لعم بجدد عة ه فعد مخلسم سعدمي مه دبد محصمه خديد دله عصمه المناس والمدرون وعورة محدرهم والمدرون Fol. 22 v. b. phor rite men Lla . rite alua probabl معدم بع معرع حلخمات مهماميام، محدمهم حلمنهاند علحلم در ددلمندلده وحماند مربه معنده له احدم به ما ما معنون ما عنونه مسبهم سرعدمس بسبسه محدم دمستدس دمسد مخدنام دلقت هد حدمتد مه دنعدمهم داعم درماسه مداح، عدر ش مع . محليه محاءه برهاسة rians remos serios relans arains اندمن مهو هلعه حدهدها مادمه الله: ه تعدیم محدیم مخدیم مخدیم مخدره fucades conty riesa risidos orios, mo sua لحسسه للهمام وحقاله والمام المام الم حملة قدهم، محلند ودالله لم محملة محملة

ا [سلع] عفل لحديم وهوم لم حل عبديم وحديمة حربه بر المراب حملات و المرابع الخصار الخصوب وسعورت حدم ضدم دخدلم صوره لم عد صدهدمها بعد بديم . مصصنع، بتسد الرباه حمية بني لم مدين الابارة Fol. 23 r. a. مع حديد ، خديد مده من وغلم لدينه त्यात पराज्यावा मंत्रवावान प्रवादा राज पर्वादा राज منده دومبد مدلم من المديد مدامون . دحده besty region of the species will be the species . معامل معبونه، معت حوم معند ، معامه، ٨٥ ـ برباعة معتدمة لنوعتك المبايعة الم در عحده دم ر الحعسم دمخه: دخر دهده در مهدم במי: מלא הבפו בי אבפטו במי מפטבה הלא היקבא הנייא נפצח נוסבה מילן הנוסבה נפצח מוא לייא لف. حد فه، حمة معناهم ونجر وبرحم ورسومه لم dbest seepi eserm ourabliquem. ochto edit. יבוד אבים השנשם בעונעי ואינ המן שפי مصمجم حلته . حصه عمر شام قلم مدته محد Kuta . Kuiler aciarahan relium . afur ومامي تخلفت و المام و المام المان و المام و المان و ال معماع . بخهزه منه به المام المناه به المام المناه به المام به المام المام به المام

¹ Not in the ms.

سهماعيس، محسمه المعاد مسلم منية ساعده oestan reurez. olun elong rebledikum, حصاح حملجم حرونه مصاءه . عضهم محص نعنهم سے فخر کے مالہ . حول اقلم تدیمہ میں حول دون نس مسند . موه ستة حسي عد حرهناغن هداهدے त्वा स्था ह्या हिम्स स्थान स्थान स्थान स्थान स्थान حمد معتده معتده محتردته معتده مدللمخب محتب معتب مدحقطه هزيزم . هم र्जाकृष्ण १ विषय १ विषय १ विषय १ विषय १ विषय دةدوم ههه له . شه كنه بمنه دعونه جها حصلم دم مهلما فدم ماند، ويعين معلق لمهمه. مدخه شام مو موسعه و محمد معدم الاه لم دلهد باتم. وله لاحدة للملم وسلف بملهم. حمر कीबान तीन निकलिया. निकलिया निकारी विकारी विकारी कि منعتد مخبه مل مبلد علم دد بجنعه דישונים | הישבי ופדשם לחיבים נישורי ביים ואונים ואיים ואיי حدد من کے نصاح ہے معمد حدید ایکا عجد برخمعل اعلى سام رخم . عدماه بهمسك عصمه مناع عدد . محن مدم مدم مدم مدم مدم سلف مسه دیمه دا: محجد سمل له هممدند. معربه على شور صحيمه المربعة المعتمر المربعة المعتمر المربعة ال لمعداء حج هةهممها . بحلمه محفد مدم

سا ما معدد معنوب مراقع المسام م rika: cita rojicolicolicolico cati, 1 صلحه، مخمم مدم در دعل لم ومحدم حدم لىملغىسى: ممىلة بودد حصمت هغلى بدير لم: وهز كالم يعجمون سابيه معانه بعده المعادية حديد المعادية هبه دسمحمه، محلخد مدم وحمله، سجل ujus. mes sis este exemples asis aus. Kuju . بصعصري مناك منعف باه : مصله ١٨٠٠ منع سرم نامعه ماهمه المام محمد عليه المار كالمام المام ال مسامن : حلفمه ما مهمهمه عه : مسامره اعنه مهزي منعم لم متم منده معدد المعالم منونه سب . هدية الملحديم مهملهم والممخلي . مخصم ابدارة، معدم مرك سهده مانعه معدمام مرك دس ديمشعو دوهونه حصصت : ممروم المدوعة محمده من عدم ماده من ماده محمدهمي صم حصني محرايس مليه لصم حضدند. عمدنل هدم دجهره دونسوع درام بجمده محب مدحه، شلم لمل لملتخبه جمعبح بمحنه . حيلا Kymarzy Kmpy grezyy brygy kmazs

¹ Ms. adds ••.

وسلس مهدون وراهون عنه الم صلخون علمون موتعه وهام، مخده مدم لحم حمال مراق مراق المراه المرافزة ورامه حدوث وها محمد محمد المرافة المرافع المراف

So the ms.

وه است دوله و المرابع المراب

Fol. 17 r. b.

حال حال محدال محداد المحدال ا

Lo es seem sub, los estis. An coluption aci हम् दह स्यर्गे निसं में ति कि कि कि कि حمل المن دين داله الدنام داء مهمين دجم ويعدون عرب المعدي وحدد معطومه عدب مبده. Fol. 17 v. a. . Kenin Kama prince | musa Kaluar Klak KIM KENO. OM KIDINDES KI KMIKT ILS הבו אם משלימיו אית עלה יצידשה מה עדים عنر. صديع عد مي معلقاله . ديميدهم رينة وولانه هوم حزيبه ماه دويه حول ماسك مدخم لمسمحه . دلم حم هدم مامهمهم نخل عل blubabis. suzbėn sieta ets suites efuesbs لدة حر شه وحدية لم هديد للمرسم حلمة شه المناعدة من محمد مهلية . حد هكدام حضمحا rnbezza ziirnd onbile og choldn arzen. L دحن محني سفي معلم المعرب بي من دباده حض دار نمسكم لمداه . دهن حملته حر محم له. הלשה אשה בש האסובה אבש עד המה הלם אב בן כלם לאה. האבי אם לגם אומא. איף לבעה شمنته محلمه . بخسهد مطمعه مسعة دحده هاست محمله علائمه سل لمهم ومسك سهم صحیل حلم، حجر دلی میموم، جمه، محمه حدم دلک منطر موم . شنه در قندم دماهم. دد

هغل شدم حجر بهمام حديك، صوبع لمة سم خديك ا جه دفاعه دلسدهه ، ده لد لد معالميه אשם שו שבול מנסבא הכלאא הבהא אנא. דים בג ים מושה ביוצה באר המסליע מים בי משו هه و تعلی مد له حدوندی مجوز . مل محدلی حبی ليه مجنه حده . هتملمه، كية سلم مهم مجنة ها cy cur foum. Lo Lif citth city la cedoloh वहत् हासंभ टकं. विकाभ एकट भन्न वाकस्भ भनंदाभ. دن، دلم لمدمحه ددند مهند. ملم لدير ديد حمل العديد والمالك المادي المادي والمالك والمادي والما دزيع ونفيد لملهم والمحمد وويع والمحمد תלאה תשמים: האמשנים השב השם הוא הוא הלה soules man exics. ortes wing. to seem سب بهجة دعسهمانه مص مله لسبيه وحزوم KIK. KELES OFLOO ROLLE OLLES OF BOOKER علم بالمام عل جميمهمم، هم بمديم. معلم دونعي. عل هموم حر دلمه دهمه مدمه سرمه لعنب حفدتم. لحتنه مد نسح، حافقت مد دخقف مح دختفا

Ms. adds los.

Fol. 18 r. a. حدم حين حام . مخاص مع لما معينهم الماضا www.libtool.com.cn אבאר איש אנה און מאשע.libtool.com.cn אבאר איש אנה א ממוז אבאר היאל وحمد معرب له بعد دوسه مهم مهدد له حدد به مدامنه ولانده به دم در נששב הולם שם פלדה על האלבוע . המנסבא שי בגן גאלמא פנינטאא. מלם י גמנסבא אעיניא refers. Ly signalow, esign rel us us och المناه محامل من المناه على المصام لحسسه. مدنه عد ك ، تشه دنيه مده مدم در دلسه، مد در مدم « لي يسن همه وينه مهورد ويسادي. معر نصحه محلمه محجده عله . عم مسلم مخم سعدم مل ب کرنده مونه معنی حالم محالمه سعه. عمدلعه سعه مه مه محدد الماسعة . مساحد . مساحد . مساحد . مساحد . مساحد الماسعة الم Lis Fleer want seelwa. Extidule en of سه حر ملم دهمه ساته محمحقه محلله. حلم תיש עות עותי ינים זים עמוע עווש מש היו ola sabilet sames sabet sabilet all تهان عن مان من المناه منهم عدد عدد المناه ا

^{&#}x27; So the ms. Supply ?? 'So the ms. Supply]: 3 So the ms. Supply] 3 So the ms. Supply]

exporte the con on the suppression inaka ' www.ibtool.com.ce ralaha na Lawigh . eur de cis wer sur representation שבה אבא השנא השן באם באם באה העד השלא. העד دنه ماه دهاتم دست محمده سد. معميه عد مدركاذ . بديهم ديم ميه در ومدهد حدد مح صلم بعادة . مح ماتم حتب ماهام عدم معلم دخته محتل مدمد محتا حمل العجديمة من ويماه عني حن والمام المام مليد صوبة. محنة بماملة . لم بماملة بمحم ، محملة علانه . مل ودهلوم محم جهه . مله مهمد زمسه معدد على جزم بعد حد مدنه . مدموم دزم لحمدله مراح مهالم فه دليد هوم هدم حدم. محفقيح بهم حد بهم حنه لمه فرنسمي حقلهه. مجعد ما ماسم من ، مالمها من ماسم لم عجد ما معمدونه ورنم مر لمه مديم له ين دو لم سة، مةمس ويسم ويمناد . وحل وجنه سموس صمح بعد جد ماه . علماد د موم عد موم

¹ So the ms. Supply عصر ? ² So the ms. Read إكمه ?

कार्यक्र संस्था के के प्रसंस्था का व्यवस्था دسة من عبر من عد من عدر من عدر من عدر من عسر Fol. 18 v.a. الحنة صا : مامكامه بعد مختصه : محمد بعد محمد دىسى دهلىدد . مهد دولسى محتوله مدرة له دلتنج لمعمله. حفدس ين لدلمملله دملمن ناده ملصه مامه مدد لجلمه دمن حدد دره بماطية هين في المرابع حداته نبع سلحه . مخل جده نهم حل محلم حدة على المؤادر حمدهم المعامدة المتعدد مرهم عسم في سل من بيا من من سيم من الملانم منام عدم المعام المعامد المعام عخم * علقم ' حیل ۴، ۱۵۰۰ دو بد بد محمدلت מָם. מַלַבּינֹץ כבינה מכמנמבית. כמונא פגין הממץ حفى مهادر علم نهدهم حلا مسه معلم ובסושא בל האשלום. הלם האכא בלל הכי سلم خفمه من مدلم دلم على مسلم محمل ملم reindy of their on thereards. or to enigh عد بصافريل ودهة . ومله فه وحدم . ووسلم في المعدد معدد معدد معدد معدد معدد لمقدم ممعدد دمنع عنامد للم ين مسع

In the ms. وهلات (with 3 dots to indicate that the words must be transposed).

معنه معلمعه حلس حاء . موه عملانه معنه . م حجد حمد معسم حدود المارية المارية المارية المارية المارية عمل المراكب المركب الم دنه مه دنیم. مله دیدهه دل دلمه نوست المعادة مرد مامه . مامة مهم المعامد المهمة المعامدة المعا الم حنة عنون المالية المالية المالية والمحمد المالية ا a riborat ca ciean. alion rrient ca रांध्या. त्या व्यवेद्या प्राप्त हावनेमा यो व्यव्या . यह حم الملمه الله عنه من الله المساهدة المساهدة المساهدة المساهدة المساهدة المساهدة المساهدة المساهدة المساهدة الم دنه حصمحسل محسد محد محسد نمسه . لم ين مساند جه دنه لدن من محتوله بد دالم ماند. دام المانه المانه المانه المانه المانه المانه المانه المانه المانه الم ست وعجل محدد بمامه وسلعم مهروبه كتههر شه کیند دیمهد حوس با دیم مید د میدد دیمون دید سحيحب شهومه ومجه حماهسكاء وبمحدث هايدي منع لله لنه بهمه * محمد منه المالمة . بمصلحاً المالمة منه منه المالية יציבא גיבושא איא בינא מישא איא בינא برفع عنمر بحريم برهاد مردء ماه : مهمهر حنصاه . حض دلم معافن صد حمامه مخدم دستم

rf. p. 167 n. منا احدود

הבעום. אג ביו בלין אישי ביוצא יאלמא בלמשק: سيسة إلهين ويونه مدر ينعه عوبه كراب هجم ال سنت بي المامه من المامه الما ansoris istem whose who who water is an analysis of the company of ست، دست. اصف حزهای چه دسته حت حمد بع سلما هم دخم و بعضاه ما معند תשובן אלמה הא המלה, המלה בופובא تم حدد نصب المرابد المة المراب حدة المحر حمله سنه هد. مله حمله هلع مخیل ستهمر. . whan we start the sale as alone. rbrecibn po Li esba ebi mow: Lo Lii حمامت بعد من مدهمه، شه دهنده حمامت when the expire with a repersion with the records टब्स्टिन . रक्षेत्र हास्कृत स्वक्रिंत . त्यह बीय ज्ञात्रन्ते. دعه . فيحانه مدعم حدمه من محمد مداء سدهم صوف سد ادم دامنده ادم بن خلف لم Lit Kala . maas paimis usuks agadans Kal h copa sreeps eth company year هر محمله. محمد شده خاله مر علمه دحشعه. علد الله لمن تصفح تخيل ماء لمنكسل حبله.

The ms. عبمها (sic).

معر شدم مع حلا دل، خدمه ملمه، حسه. orite experiential circulation exper مح . مصاها عبورة حن المالية على المالية عنه المالية المالية المالية المالية المالية المالية المالية المالية الم دن بعد دهالعه بعدة حلمه ما موسع محدة خميعة. عب ونجعدن والسود. على قه وعداد معبهد . برهاد مدر ها من عمد . بردانه مهد هده سعد علم معلم عمله معدم محمد عدمه الم شه دنمینجه هر حیل فیلم. نمینجه مع معبود، نمس המסגבא. אליני בן ביא גאנמא ביידא הכינימא جمهدینی. در منحمه ددر صده نصله. نامسر مدر منه لمه جمحة . بعد مدها منه الله ما . معليك من الموت بمعصم به منعبه الم سعده عيبة حر فرنه عد منع حاصمه حمتيب معام . سامة لن حدم بعند مريتد لهل بحدث . وبالم بملم الخديم عخملا . وموسم יהבסה, גבו בעם הם. מאלשם של גשמא בוצא. شه کنهٔ درولک سفه حاصمی. حد هم نهسه حاند، محم مود . موه در موه حديد مود المعلقة العداد . همنجهم لعية بريهم خدد. لم حدم لعسه وحلمه هنجس لهسبله سعه . مله علد دوسه لدو حدم خصداند دهبه . المرام من مداهم المل حم

Fol. 19 v a. Khaibhildhold Theritis Kanu, madura . Karis مهم وهديت حلمه ولمه ملحقيهمن وهممه الملخبة على عندم المعتد مملك صعر عدم محناء منوع بالمعتم بجديموي بحسون بالمام عخده . مضه دحمص عخده لم حفدت دحبه سلم. ولقه العندة حدده وحدوله . له محسدم مد الفعل هم محمده المهاد عمل المحنف الماسكة بن دهویم فیزنی. لحنه نه نهسیمه هم هتی. ولسنه وحصة بمانهم وحمام . لم حددت وبالموص حسحت محمف المناهم المن esa ceiji hir. hy sachoo sestuso es معطيم فعفذيم. ولم لعنقصة معلل منه. مه سانسر محميه ملاء . صامعه ممانخ باغمر حلسة معهد سنه . سه معالم فعدمة م مسلمة من ملك تميناه الله من من منفحيض مخة سر منه برد برید مهملنه می برد . شند منه برد . شند ment liver cafoires. olubleco mo reix حديد معتوب دست معتوب مرية لالمامان متعد لدناع بعفور بالمام محددونام

¹ So the ms. ² The ms. إعبها.

تجله تمهوند. خسنو مده تم حج هدی.

مد لهمود همند المحمود هنوه له المحمود هم تنالم لحمود لمحمود المحمود المحمو

www.APPENDIX I

AN ANONYMOUS NOTICE ON PHILOXENUS

Ms. (Vat. Syr. 155, fol. 5 r, a-b).

حخر فالعصيمة معنى وخدم سفيع دمالمه गाम नार्यक्षेत्र. कवं त्रमेवं क्षं, त्रस्थाप्त हत्वंदित حمدت معملاء عنده المالة معملات المالة المالة المالة وقويم مدي مهلمة حداية حلمه وهمةيم . موحل مالعت بدوست مد . سوم محيق حجدهم حعدله لمحتجه حرديه ورسي فدلمه. وملاية عمامحة عبا موحيه موسيه حديد معابد معد דביב . בשל משל היו מש בבל לשני שבונים בבל לשני עום היום ב ملستم مخعم لعدة د دخهم السح والمامة ما حدة حملتمه المصمور عدمهم حسابة حليلة مرسمه مسعمه دراماسه والمستعمد المستعمد مسامه مده محدد ، محامه ، محمد معدد معلم مسيده لمة عدم مصديم كالفطر مديمهم محدة الم experience right on an edeasing ind محقيب حلافعم.

¹ So the ms.

At the bottom of the page, in the margin, we read the following note:

www.libtool.com.cn

APPENDIX II

THEOLOGICAL GLOSSARY.

only in the sense of as (sicut), but also in the sense of in so far as (in quantum). In so far as He is God (in quantum est Deus); In so far as He is man (in quantum est homo).

existence of God, and, as such, opposed to com (to become).

of essence, opposed to the noun com (becoming); v.g. was as it is a class what is made. As He is in His essence, so He remained also in His becoming.

With π , substantial. The Word is called when the substantial Image of the Father.

radr. God. രാറ, രൂട, രൂർച്ച, രൂർ, used in opposition with it.

the word <> Said of Christ, less often however than

the humanity is not considered as a nature in Christ after the union, but it forms with the divinity one nature.

12

Woman. Means sometimes the Blessed Virgin.

Warrior, athlete. A title given by Philozenus to Christ as Redeemer.

Flesh. i..., He was made flesh. Outside of St. John 1.14, this expression is used but seldom to denote the Incarnation.

Adversary; enemy. Used also by Philoxenus in the meaning of "the Devil".

To diminish, to be less. Said of those who, by denying the divinity of the Son of God, reduced the Trinity to two divine persons.

Ratural Son (Filius Naturalis).

≺i⇒. Son of grace (Filius Adoptivus).

Son of the essence, having the same es-

The usual Syriac expression for Consubstantial.

Having the same measure, equal.

outside of; distinct from. In Christ, the Nestorians admitted a man outside of and distinct from the Word, مناه مناه المناه الم

Man. This is the word generally used with come in speaking of the Incarnation.

valent of the word ἐνανθρωπῆσαι in the Greek Fathers.

Humanifying. It is the equivalent of the word ἐνανθρώπησις in the Greek Fathers, and is generally, though loosely, translated by Incarnation.

Manifestation, revelation, transfiguration. Means also the manifestation of God in the flesh, the Incarnation (ἐπιφάνεια).

v. g. viiza the body of truth. In speaking of the body of Christ the word is generally used.

native from part. Alaba par Alaba present, He was embodied in the Virgin and of the Virgin.

κάσων του . Embodiment. It translates the σάρχωσις and ἐνσωμάτωσις of the Greek Fathers.

ADA. To adhere; in the Aphel, to join, to cause to adhere. The Nestorians held that the Word of God caused a man to adhere to His person, and thus they admitted only a moral union between the two natures in Christ.

প্রতার . Likeness. প্রবাহ পুর্প পর্যাবর পর্কারতার , the likeness of God as Creator.

of the Word of God, it has the meaning " to become (man) ", v. g. Andrew La war, He became (man) and He was not changed. The became flesh; The war, He became man; image war, He became flesh;

Birth, generation, existence, becoming. Applied to the second Person of the Trinity, it generally means "becoming (man)", and is thus opposed to "had.", essence.

only the union, but also the unity of the natures in Christ for they admitted only one nature ofter the Incarnation.

doctrine, heresy. Philoxenus seems to apply it to the definition of the Council of Chalcedon regarding the existence of the two natures in Christ.

Change; mixture.

Kaluar. Change.

Though the Jacobites admitted only one nature after the union, they denied that the divinity suffered any change.

त्केवाकीमकेटल त्ये . Immutability.

Suffering; passion; Passion of Christ; alteration, modification v. g. am <>>> \tag{\text{subset}} \text{change} is a modification.

the right creed, orthodoxy, which for the Jacobites is Monophysitism; external confession of faith; particular doctrine or dogma, v. g. https://doctrine.org/doctrine-based, the dogma of the Trinity.

Begotten. Generally used in speaking of the eternal generation of the Word, and as such, contrasted with show (he was born).

καλκ hal. Mother of God, θεοτόχος.

by the Monophysites to designate the definition of the Council of Chalcedon, which definition they considered as an addition to the faith of the Council of Nicea.

hal. Near (apud). Kalk hal, Apud Deum.

From nothing, ex nihilo.

Water. Used once by Philoxenus in the sense of Baptism.

Low, humble things. This word denotes the properties of the human nature in Christ.

expression that Christ is έχ δύο φύσεων, not έν δύο φύσεσιν.

two persons and two natures in Christ. Alexand. He was considered to his own count, independent, sui juris.

Christianity. Applied to Zeno by Philoxenus as a title of honor.

- End of the mere moral union of the natures taught by the Nestorians concerning the Incarnation.
- the Incarnation the Word passed through the Virgin as through a channel without taking His body from her.
 - حدثت حدث . The old (unredeemed) man.
- Corpse; living body. Generally used in speaking of the body of Christ.
- To divide. The Nestorians divided Christ into two persons.
- **Exis.** To separate; to distinguish. Said of the Nestorians who distinguished two persons in Christ, and of the Catholics who admitted two natures.
- . Will. The Monophysites admit only one will in Christ.
- (four). Because they admitted two persons in Christ, the Nestorians were accused of adding a fourth person to the Trinity, thus making it a quaternity.
- مخمنت . The noble, exalted things. Said of the properties of the divine nature of Christ, and stands in opposition to حقت
- sagion, which, for the Monophysites, includes the words " Who wast crucified for us, added by Peter the Fuller.

APPENDIX III

BIBLE QUOTATIONS COMPARED WITH THE PESHITTA AND WHEN POSSIBLE WITH THE CODEX SINAITICUS 1.

Ly coop of when well.

2011. (p. 112).	- 1111.										
له نصمه لم ملصه معنى لدة حد.	P.										
Malach., III, 6, (pp. 133, 166, 167): べる べい べい	Phil.										
shuleh.	٢										
. كاملىكىد ملاء مدنى مدام مدام											
حلل دمر مدنه مونه درم ملامه الم	P.										
Matth., I, 1, (p. 154): בו הסגה מכו לים אומל	Phil.										
בוֹם גגסיג . בוֹם גאבוֹמשל .	Р.										
Same as P.											
Matth., III, 17, (p. 169):	Phil.										
מנס כד, עבובא.	P.										

¹ The following abbreviations are used:

Phil. = Philoxenus.

P. = Peshitta.

Deut., v. 7, (p. 142).

Phil.

S. = Codex Sinaiticus. (A. S. Lewis, Some Pages of the Four Gospels etc. London, 1896).

אנה שם כזי, מעבעבי.

S.

- Matth: X, 27, (p. 128) المناهد معمد مدم تمحم المداهد المداهد

 - א בגע גאבוס בשנטבא אבינסש, אנאס. בנוסטה, אנאס. כנוסטוא. מבגע הנוכט אנאס באגעבט אבינס אבינס בנוסטוא. אנאס באגעבט אבינס
- Matth., X, 28 (p. 128): بالم مملم حمله من المحالد. المحالد عدم من المحالد الم
 - الم المحمد المح
 - دعماء ، مولاء ملم ملم ملام حلائه ، موعه المحمل المحمل .

This quotation is a combination of St. Matthew, X, 32-33, and of St. Luke, XII, 8-9.

- .3 בל אנץ הנסהא כץ. אם אסהא כש סהק אכץ הכצביא. סכק הנבפסו כץ סהק כנן אנצא אם אנא אבפסו כש סהק אכן הכצביא.
- - ארבה הבשה בשהי בשהי בעבה בעבה פנים P. ומצפה בעבה הנהאה בשהי.

Wanting.

معد مدعه منونه دعمه ممعدده معد معد مدعم منونه منونه معدده معدده معدده

ال همل المالحية عليه عقده . محمدية على : حمد محمد مدنه منه مديم . مدنه مدنه مدنه المالعة .

Wanting.

S.

S.

.هام عدما ,هام ,هام هار .

S.

S.

S.

P.

S.

- Luke, 1, 31 (p. 154) : Phil.

 Phil.
 - P. car asser.
 - Wanting.
- Luke, XVII, 33 (p. 159): מבא הנבא הבא למב. Phil.
 - א בל גרבא נושא נפצח נטכגיה. מכן גנטכג נפצח P.
 - Same as P.
- Luke, XXIII, 46 (p. 169): ארא ערייבי איבר איבר Phil.

אבא באגיף שאמ אנא בה ביה הבא

- . שמן אבול איייארם אבר P.
- معمد مديم همو مديم له لأوس
- John, I, 14 (pp. 167, 166): برا مراه من المناس الم
 - . ב תאה המה השנה האלשה
 - Wanting.
- John, III, 16 (p. 137): محلک مسر مسر مسر مسر کام Phil.

- Www.libtool.com.cn . Let a war. when the www.libtool.com.cn . When the war.
- ه معنی کین مسد مالات الحدی محدی المالات المال
- John, V, 17 (p. 156): : エコン ベンスン ,コベ Phil.
 - Same.
 - אבה אבה אבה הבה הבל מנא אפ. אנא אבה אנא.
- John, X, 18 (p. 171): : شبعهد، بعد لحد کیلد Phil.
 - المعدية . معمدة : معمدة عدم جملع الم
- John, X, 33 (p. 149): . حماد معنه المحمد ال
 - . तक्ष्रे प्रदेश केत उटा अर्थ प्रकेस उठा P.
 - . אמשר ... שבה איר זם שור אם S.
- John, XIV, 6 (p. 132): . べいの べっぱん べんべん Phil.
 - . Kina Kita Kniak Kl κ $_{P.}$
 - Same as P.

S.

P.

- Acts, II, 33 (p. 157): . priddic con los of the Phil.
- - .و مماهید دنه بهاهه: حسل محنوس مدهد. ومع هر صده هنده معمد هدنی.
- Romans, v. 10 (p. 137): אמא באן אינארא באן אינארא בארא יישואר Phil.

Same

- Romans, VIII, 32 (pp. 137, 152): حل هف لحد حلم . هناك معلحه ساه على . كل دنه لك معلحه ساه على . كل دنه لك معلحه ساه على .
 - معلعم عل حام سع: مله عله عل معلمه.
- - جاه . حت حاه محمه ماء . نبي حدم معمه ٩. حاه . حات ماه . مناطقه ماه . مقحله مناع محمد ماه محمد ماه محمد ماه محمد .

P.

Ρ.

- Romans, X, 9. (p. 159): בבא בעם אואר באראר Phil.
 - ام می همدی جمعی عمد: مهسسی. حلحب.
- - Same.
- 2. Corinth., V, 19 (p. 152) : حمد المحالات المح
 - الم المام من المام م
- Galatians, I, 1 (p. 171): من مصحم [حم] مصلح Phil.
 - . هم تمسحه مر در و در المستحم من المستحم الم
- Philip. III, 19 (p. 148): ambaarda amais amair Phil.

 ., m rair mls ambarid . ambams
 - Emphana com eigen com P.
- 1 John, I, 1-3 (p. 140): ממל [בת] בשל באוול Phil. ממון באלומה, מה ביונה לאמי השני באלומה מוני באלומה

P.

العصدم مسام حست سام المعم حصدم. فاه المحمد المحمد

معدندر احم المه بهمهمه، همه مر دنسه. فه بعمدم مساسه، حتس، سام مرع حهد، ف فه بهماهم، حاله بسته، مسته هم المهاد، مسام معمدر محدنات الحمد سته بالمام، هدم معمدر محدنات الحمد سته بالمام، هدم بهماهم همه المه هده، مهم المه لم.

GREEK WORDS OCCURRING IN THE THREE LETTERS.

ἀγών PP. 131 l. 6; 145 l. 5; 157 l. 21; 158 l. 6. ἀθλητής PP. 131 l. 6; 155 l. 22; 156 l. 3. αἰρεσιώτης PP. 159 l. 3; 160 l. 22; 173 l. 2. αἰρετικός PP. 171 l. 5; 173 l. 11. ἀναφορά P. 158 l. 20. γάζα P. 147 l. 19. γένος PP. 129 l. 18; 146 l. 2. ἐπίσχοπος P. 158 l. 19. ἰδιώτης P. 146 l. 9.

κατηγορέω P. 173 l. 11.

κοιτών P. 144 l. 3.

οὖσία P. 152 l. 12.

συνήγορος PP. 143 l. 12; 144 l. 6.

σχημα PP. 147 ll. 11, 17; 159 l. 6;

161 ll. 19, 14.

τάξις P. 164 l. 18.

τιμή P. 148 l. 5.

τύπος P. 147 l. 13.

φαντασία P. 133 l. 20.

THE END

ERRATA

CORRIGE

Pag.	150	l.	ult.	œedi	•	•									170	30	
Pag.	153	l.	ult.	فسبه				•	Th	is 1	read	ling	is	do	ubtfu	ıl.	The
								ms	. re	ead	s r	nore	p	rob	ably	9	, ذه
								alt	hou	gh	th	e o	is	80	sma	ll a	s to
								bе	eas	ily	m	ista	ken	fo	r a	٠.	

Digitized by Google

Cran B. C.

